
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2006‑0088 

EB-2006-0089


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	Technical Conference 
September 18, 2006

Gordon Kaiser

Cynthia Chaplin

Paul Sommerville
	Presiding Member and Vice Chair

Member

Member


EB-2006-0088

EB-2006-0089

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a process initiated by the Ontario Energy Board to determine the rate-setting methods and techniques with respect to the cost of capital and the 2nd generation incentive regulation mechanism to be applied by the Board in determining electricity distribution rates effective May 1, 2007.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, West Hearing Room,

Toronto, Ontario, on Monday,

September 18, 2006, commencing at 9:00 a.m.

---------------------
Technical Conference

---------------------

B E F O R E:

GORDON KAISER


PRESIDING MEMBER and VICE CHAIR

CYNTHI CHAPLIN


MEMBER

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR


Board Counsel

RUSSELL HOULDIN


Board Staff

ALLAN FOGWILL


Board Staff

MARIKA HARE



Board Staff

JAY SHEPHERD



School Energy Coalition

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers Council of Canada

MARK RODGER



Coalition of Large 

DON CARMICHAEL


Distributors

PANKAJ SARDANA

ANDREW TAYLOR


Bluewater Power

ALLAN COWAN
Hydro One Networks

KATHLEEN McSHANE

IAN INNES 

RANDY AIKEN
London Property Management Association 

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers’ Union

MICHELLE SMART
Newmarket Hydro 

RON WARRINGTON

GERRY HILHORST
London North Hydro

GURU KALYANRAMAN
Electricity Distributors Association

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

--- Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.




1

Procedural Matters






     1

Preliminary Matters






     4

Opening Remarks by Mr. Fogwill




8

Presentation by Dr. Lazar





8

Presentation by Mr. Houldin



    

20

Questioned by the Board




    
25

Questioned by Mr. Shepherd



    
29

Questioned by Ms. Girvan


   

 
36

Questioned by Mr. Rodger




    
37



‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.




51

--- On resuming at 10:48 a.m.





51


Questioned by Mr. Taylor





51


Questioned by Mr. Cowan and Ms. McShane


58


Questioned by Mr. Aiken





74


Questioned by Mr. Stephenson




76


Questioned by Mr. Smart





79


Questioned by Mr. Hilhorst




83


Questioned by Mr. Kalyanraman




84


Questioned by Mr. Innes





88


Further Questioning by Mr. Taylor



90


Further Questioning by Mr. Shepherd


93

‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.



96
--- On resuming at 1:08 p.m.





96

Presentation by Mr. Carmichael




97

Presentation by Mr. Sardana





104


Questioned by the Board





108


Questioned by Mr. Shepherd




110


Questioned by Mr. Janigan




140

--- Recess taken at 2:46 p.m.





149

--- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.





149

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S (Cont’d)
Description







Page No.
Questioned by Mr. Janigan (Cont’d)



149


Questioned by Mr. Warrington




161


Questioned by Board Staff




166


Further Questioning by the Board



177

Presentation by Dr. Booth





183

--- Whereupon the Technical Conference adjourned 

210 at 4:54 p.m.

E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

NO EXHIBITS WERE ENTERED DURING THIS TECHNICAL CONFERENCE 

R E Q U E S T S

Description







Page No.

SEC REQUEST NO. 1:  TO PROVIDE THE CREDIT SPREAD

127

OVER LONG CANADA BONDS

SEC REQUEST NO. 2:  TO PROVIDE LDCs’ MULTI-YEAR

136 BUSINESS PLAN, FILED IN CONFIDENCE IF NECESSARY

Monday, September 18, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. KAISER:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  I would like to welcome all of you today to this Technical Conference with respect to cost of capital and incentive regulation.  The chairman has appointed three sponsors to this process.  They are myself, Gordon Kaiser, and my colleagues Paul Sommerville and Cynthia Chaplin.  All three of us won't necessarily be here each day.  Hopefully two of us will, however.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Can't hear back here.


MR. KAISER:  Turn up the mike?  Can we do something?


Testing?  Can you hear?  Working?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Better.  Thank you.  That's a little better.


MR. KAISER:  I can't move any closer.  I was going to say I should be losing weight.  I know that will be your next comment.


All right, let's start again.  As I indicated, there are three sponsors, two of which will be assisting in this process each day from time to time.  We'd like to give some background to this process.  As you know, the Board started a process earlier in the summer to determine the cost of capital and incentive regulation methodologies to set distribution rates for the next few years.


The Board Staff commissioned expert studies that outlined possible approaches.  The Staff also produced a discussion paper and engaged the stakeholders in consultations with respect to those presentations.


Out of those consultations came the idea to hold this Technical Conference and allow all participants and their respective experts to elaborate on their written comments and allow parties to explore in depth the rationale and merits of the different approaches that had been advanced with respect to both cost of capital and second generation IRM.


This process is similar to the OPG consultation that proceeded last Friday.  Some of you may have been involved in that.


This is not a formal hearing or an adjudicative process.  The Board members that are here today are not here as a panel with decision‑making responsibilities.  We are here as representatives of the Board seeking more information and clarification of the issues and the concerns of the different stakeholders and interested parties.


What we hear will inform the Board in its policy development process with respect to these issues.


As you know, the Board has initiated a separate procedure to amend the licences of electricity distributors to provide a mechanism to make the cost of capital and incentive regulation mechanisms binding through codes.


This is not the subject of this week's conference.  The focus of this week's Technical Conference is the substance of the codes; that is, the cost of capital to be used in determining annual revenue requirements for 2007 and beyond; and, secondly, the incentive mechanism that would be use adjust electricity distribution rates during the 2007 to 2009 period.


Over the next week, through presentations and interactive exchange with the participants and their respective experts, we hope to gain a clear understanding of the alternative approaches and the significant issues that are of concern to all participants.


Accordingly, the ground rules for this week's activities are as follows:


First, the Board Members will moderate the session, selecting the order of questioning, and they may reserve priority status for their own questions.  All participants can direct questions to the presenters.


Secondly, each presentation and associated question and answer session will be allocated a total of two hours.


Third, this conference will be transcribed and that will be posted on the website.


And, lastly, the Board invites written comments following completion of this conference.  Written comments will be accepted by the Board's secretary up to 4:30 p.m. on October 6.


Now, we have provided an agenda, which I assume most of you have received.  If you haven't, let us know, and additional copies will be distributed.  That's the agenda we propose to follow.  


When you are asking questions or when you are speaking, please identify yourself.  There are a lot of people in this room.  The reporter will have difficulty identifying speakers if you don't do that.


Mr. Millar, how do you wish to proceed?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think we can get right into things, unless I'm missing something, and we can begin with the opening presentation from the experts from Board Staff and perhaps I can introduce them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, Mr. Millar.  Sorry to interrupt you, but I did, Mr. Kaiser, provide the Board with notice that I wanted to raise a preliminary matter at the beginning of this Technical Conference.


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, please go ahead.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SHEPHERD:  We've provided a series of questions ‑‑ I'm sorry, I'm speaking as loud as I can.


We provided a series of questions that include a series of requests for factual information that's relevant to the issues in this matter that are requests from people who are not witnesses this week.  And we've advised the Board that we would request that a written interrogatory process be ordered so that we can get that base of factual information.


It's our view that without a basic set of facts about the utilities about which we're proposing to discuss these issues, it's not possible to reach any conclusions on what the appropriate cost of capital is or what the appropriate incentive regulation process should be.  


And, therefore, we would ask that the Board order that the information we've requested be filed in some process that, if necessary, allows for other people to ask similar questions of a factual nature.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Yes, we did receive Mr. Shepherd's letter, of course.


It occurs to me that there may be parties who would be subject to these requests who may not be present today; in fact, we haven't done appearances.  I know Mr. Shepherd casts his net pretty broadly, and I strongly suspect some of the people who may be subject to the order that he's requesting, or at least the process he's requesting, may not be here today.


So, first, it may be worthwhile to check who is in the room and who may be able to respond, but we may have to provide notice of some type to allow the parties who would be affected by whatever process exactly Mr. Shepherd is suggesting have an opportunity to respond to that or to make comments to the Board on that.


And I'm not convinced they're all here today.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Rodger, please go ahead.


MR. RODGER:  I am Mark Rodger for the Coalition of Large Distributors.  Some of Mr. Shepherd's questions were put to my clients.  Maybe I could just say that, you know, we understood this process, as you described it, was to further the discussion that's been going on for some months, but this is not a hearing process or an adjudicative process.

     I may have sympathy with some of the questions and

requests for information that Mr. Shepherd has put forward.  If we're going to do that, then I think that does dictate a change in course for how we're going to get to the outcome that the Board wants; that perhaps there have to be more hearing-like procedures adopted for this process, and if that's the case, then everybody should be treated on the

same grounds.

      I suspect, for example, when Mr. Shepherd is asking his questions, that some of the information the witnesses may be able to provide, but certainly some of the documents, no one's going to be prepared today to deliver that kind of information.  And if, really, what Mr. Shepherd is saying, which I have some sympathy for, is that this consultation process, while it may have its benefits in terms of an exchange of ideas, it may not take us where we really need, which is more perhaps of a hearing process, but at least to have the opportunities for that kind of information exchange that is typically done in a hearing, if Mr. Shepherd's request is granted, then it should apply across the board for all of us, and then let's get a procedure in place that we can do that kind of testing and detailed exchange that hasn’t been done to this point in time.  I don’t think it delays anything for this week.  I just don't want to raise anybody's expectations that they may be able to just with questions delivered late last week be able to answer them and provide the information that Mr. Shepherd seeks.  


As others have said, not everybody is here today that filed submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  We agree with you, Mr. Rodger.  And with Mr. Millar.  There may be a question of whether everyone's here that would be affected by this.  So my suggestion is as follows:

      We'll proceed with this Technical Conference.  We'll

hear submissions on this issue Wednesday, or at the

conclusion of the cost of capital aspect of it, which we

presume will be Wednesday.  We'll deal with those submissions at that time.

      In the meantime, this will allow us to proceed with

the Technical Conference on the basis that we have outlined.  We'll get a better handle of what information, if any, is outstanding, and what further actions might be required of the Board.

      Mr. Millar, on that basis we'll proceed with the

Technical Conference.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     I am going to hand things over to our panel.  I will

introduce the members of the panel before we begin.

     The gentleman who drafted Board Staff's report are Drs. Lazar and Prisman, who are sitting in the centre of the table.  And beside them, though I don't actually

know to what extent they'll actually be participating in the presentation, Allan Fogwill, immediately to Mr. Prisman's left, and Marika Hare.  And to Dr. Lazar's right, Mr. Russ Houldin and Mr. Keith Ritchie.  And I don't propose to spend any more time listening to myself talk so perhaps I'll pass it over to the panel and allow them to make their presentation.


OPENING REMARKS BY MR. FOGWILL:

     MR. FOGWILL:  Allan Fogwill with Board Staff.  I would like to make a couple of opening comments.  Russ Houldin from Board Staff will be making the presentation on the Staff's discussion paper of July, but before that we will have the consultants Dr. Lazar and Dr. Prisman, they'll make the presentation on their June 14th paper.

     The one point I wanted to emphasize is that Staff is

focussed on trying to provide the Board with as much

information as possible, and the Board will need this

information as they discuss how the cost of capital

should be determined for electricity LDCs.

     Staff have been guided by clear principles and look to provide the Board with information that can lead to a

transparent, predictable and objective cost of capital 

methodology.

     So, with that, I'll hand it over.


PRESENTATION BY DR. LAZAR:

     DR. LAZAR:  Thanks very much.  Good morning.  I assume you can hear back there?  I'll try to keep this within 15 minutes.

     First of all, the general methodology.  I don't think

there's any disagreement that one needs to come up with a

weighted average cost of capital.  The issues really arise

with regards to what are the weights for debt and equity,

and then what are the respective returns on debt and on

equity.  With regards to debt, again, I don't think there's much disagreement that it basically should be the risk-free rate, plus some long-term debt premium to take into account that the risk-free rate is for very short-term debt instrument, plus a risk premium reflecting the appropriate default risks for the issuers of the debt.

      With regards to the return on equity, this is probably a more contentious issue.  But again it boils down to a risk-free rate plus an equity premium, and there have been at least three tests, although one could probably expand this, that have been used; an equity risk premium test – the equity risk premium model is sort of the main component of this -- discounted cash flow, and comparable earnings test.

      Now, as I said, the key issues, obviously, are the

capital structure, what's the appropriate debt/equity proportions, what is the risk-free rate, what's the debt

premium, what's the equity risk premium and the updating methodology.

      So these are the key issues that must be addressed in coming up with an appropriate cost of capital.

      Now, with regards to the capital structure, essentially there is no sort of conclusive position in the academic literature with regards to the optimal debt/equity structure for any type of organization.  It will vary over time.  It will vary with capital market conditions, so from an academic point of view we can't point and say:  Here is the optimal structure.

      As we point out in the report, many authors, many

people in academic literature, suggest the best way to

choose this ratio is to mimic what the industry does.  The

industry will through fine-tuning eventually come across what it views as the optimal structure for that industry at that point in time.

      Now, the capital structure, debt should be consistent

of both long term and short term.  If we look at the debt

rating agencies, they make this quite clear.  You don't just focus on just long-term debt.  


In our report we recommend that there be at least two groupings for the LDCs for the purpose of establishing the debt/equity ratio and the cut-off point was about $300 million.  We arrived at this largely by looking at the reported accounting information for all the utilities, and, while there were some differences between the very small -- the smallest utilities and some of the so-called medium-sized utilities, in certain areas, when you looked at their existing debt/equity ratios and various measures of financial performance, by and large 300 million seemed to be the cut-off point.

      Those below 300 million tended to perform somewhat differently than those in excess of 300 million.

     And our view was for the smaller ones, those below 300 million, a 50/50 split would seem appropriate, based this on their actual debt/equity ratios, and observing debt/equity ratios in regulated utility sectors in Canada and the U.S., where we looked at the stet equity ratios with respect to size.

      For those in excess of 300 million, a 60/40 debt/equity split seemed to be appropriate.

      Of course we also point out if an LDC decides to pick a debt rate greater than either of these levels, then on the weighted average cost of capital that actual debt rate should be included.  You want to preclude the possibility of gaining.

      Now, with regards to LDCs -- with regards to sort of a short-term debt component, we decided that the minimum should be the minimum component of overall debt should be equivalent to the working capital.  Short-term debt is used principally to finance working capital, so we saw that as the minimum.

      If, again, an LDC chose to have short-term debt in excess of the minimum, it's the actual ratio that should be included.

      We gave the rationale for this, to prevent gaining

to try to disincent utilities from taking advantages of the yield curve.  While at the present time there are no games to be played with the yield curve, it tends to be quite flat, while historically the yield curve is upward sloping

so the last thing you want to do is impose a maximum for the short-term debt component and then allow utilities to incur a larger short-term debt to take advantage of an upward sloping yield curve.  You do not want to make utilities speculators in the interest rate market.


With regards to cost of debt, our view here was that if LDCs had outstanding third party debt, both short and long term, then the actual cost of that debt should be factored into their respective cost of capital.


Now, one could argue that while if they took the debt out or if they incurred the debt at some point in the past where interest rates were much higher than the present time, that might be a disadvantage to consumers.  Our argument was that you change the actual debt rate for these types of utilities on an annual basis, because the interest rate should trend towards what the market ‑‑ what the prevailing rate of interest is.


So, you know, we're firm believers in using market values.  Let's not try to create sort of artificial numbers.  Let's try to rely on market values.


So if LDCs have outstanding debt, let's use the rate of interest they're paying on this debt.  That's an indication of what the market perceives to be the underlying risk.


And, again, for LDCs with a mix of third party and associated party debt, we would use only the rate of interest on third party debt in the cost of capital calculations.


Now, for the LDCs, there are many in this category that do not have third party debt, or they might have just associated party debt.  Then it's a matter of coming up with some proxy for what the market rate of interest should be.


And here we concluded that this should be the risk-free rate plus the spread between BBB-, A-rated utilities and government bonds of a certain duration, 15, 20 years, one that's open to discussion what the appropriate term might be.


Short-term debt, here we suggested that we could use a proxy, financings -- third party financings by LDCs as a proxy for the rate of interest on short-term debt by LDCs that do not have third party short-term debt, or, again, we could use an average of interest rates on commercial paper issued by companies with A/BBB credit ratings.


And, again, the risk premium for LDCs on the long‑term debt, we concluded that it would be, again, the spread between the sample of A-, BBB-rated corporate bonds, five, 10, and 20 years from maturity, although as I've said, one could discuss what might be the appropriate term to maturity, and Government of Canada bonds.


When we did this back in June, this spread seemed to be, on average, 100 basis points, but we would strongly argue that when the cost of capital regulations go into place, that the spread at that time be used.


Now, with regards to risk-free rates, there are several alternatives.  One could use Government of Canada treasury bill rate.  One could use the rate of Government of Canada real interest rate bonds, plus an expected average rate of inflation over some future time period.  That's quite easy using market rates to come up with these numbers.


One could use medium- to long-term Government of Canada bond yields, or our preference would be to use the average of 5-, 10- and 15-year forward rates implicit in zero coupon curves.  And, again, this could be updated either annually or on sort of a longer period, every three or five years.


And this risk-free rate, again, we've ‑‑ since our paper was sort of put on the web, we've always gone back and found more typos and more sort of little arithmetic mistakes.  In that paper it was 5.01 percent.  The rate actually was 4.91 percent.


Okay, proposed methodology for return on equity.  Again, although there are three methodologies, we opt for one, for a number of reasons, but it's the one that's most widely accepted in the academic literature, so one that's most widely utilized, and although there is no methodology that is free from error, it is the one that is probably least susceptible to various forms of manipulation.  This is what the market tells you.  


It can be updated quite quickly, quite easily.  Markets change; so do market perceptions of risk and returns.


Just go back to that one, just to see if there's anything there.  No, this was sort of straightforward, capital asset and pricing models, so no need for you to spend time on this.  Okay, go forward.


The calculations, we came up with average beta based on a sample of companies based on 52 weeks of observations, 60 months of observations, and, as well, a market return based on the S&P TSX index based on five and ten years.


Now, again, we have no sort of particular position whether you use a 52‑week, the 60‑month beta, whether we use a five‑year or ten‑year return.  So, consequently, we gave a range of possibilities, using the after‑tax leveraged beta.  And, again, we want to make it clear that when we talk about the return on equity, it's an after‑tax number.  


There seems to be a lot of confusion, at least in the documents we've seen, on the return of equity numbers.  It's never clear to us whether the people are talking about after‑tax or pre‑tax.  So we want to make it clear we're talking about an after‑tax ROE.


Now, combining, then, the two possibilities for the beta, the two market returns, five and ten years, we end up with a range of ROEs between 6.18 percent, again, after‑tax, and 8.52 percent.


And of course the key issues that arise here:  What are the sample of companies for estimating the beta, and what's the time period for estimating the market return?


We're fully aware that these are contentious issues, and in the report what we suggested is that a panel of experts be convened any time the return on equity has to be determined, and this panel then decides what is the appropriate sample, whether it includes just Canadian companies, whether it includes foreign companies, as well, and what the appropriate time period should be.


Again, we do not have a particular preference for the sample.  We came up with a sample that we thought was appropriate, but, of course, it's open to question whether other companies should be included, whether some of the companies that we included should be excluded.  


This is all part of the debate.  There is no, again, hard and fast theoretical rules as to whom you include, whom you exclude; and, similarly, there are no hard and fast rules with regards to the optimal time period, although what we would suggest or probably favour is if there's going to be periodic updating, and by this, five years or less, a shorter time frame seems to be appropriate, because market conditions do change and with more frequent updating, there will be the ability to capture changes in the market on a more regular basis.


Now, why CAPM?  Again, other regulatory bodies have opted for this.  It's not yet the only methodology adopted across Canada, but we suspect in time it will be.


It is based upon an objective market.  It is an objective market‑based approach that relates to actual conditions in financial markets.  We are firm believers that markets give you good information.  People bet a lot of money on the markets.  Why try to second‑guess them?


Now, my personal belief is, if you think you're better than a market, you're wasting your time being here.  You should be out there trading.  It has a strong theoretical foundation in the academic finance literature.  Several of the people involved in developing the model have been awarded Nobel prizes in recognition of their important contributions in this area; again, widely adopted in financial markets.  


So I doubt that you will find any investment bank that does not use CAPM at some stage in doing valuations.  Major stock exchanges provide estimates of the betas, so they are easy to come by, and CAPM is subject to fewer errors relative to other methods and fewer subjective biases.


And, finally, it's relatively simple, requires use of data that are readily available.


With a comparables earnings test, several problems here.  It depends on accounting data.  And I think

that we all know that with accounting data, what profits do

you want to be reported?  It's all within GAAP.  It's all

legitimate.  I'm not even talking about fraudulent use of

accounting data, but within accepted GAAP principles there's a wide range of latitude in producing your numbers.

     What we have found in going through the accounting data for the LDCs, there were a number for which we couldn't make head or tail of what accounting principles they were using, and the numbers did not make obvious sense to us. 

     As I said, GAAP is not a science.  There are many accountants who claim it's more of an art.  I’m not getting into that discussion, but there are serious reservations about what accounting data really tell us.

     And then, of course, you know, what are the sample companies.  What is the time period?  So you're opening up the door for even more questions about who's in, who's out, what's the time period.  Furthermore, if you're going to go to multiple tests you're then getting into a subjective discussion of what are the weights associated with each of these tests.

     We've gone on and sort of reviewed past hearings, and the weights that were determined were basically arbitrary.  There is no theory behind what the weights should be.  And sort of looking at the arguments, again, the arguments again were largely arbitrary.  So why go add another dimension, another level of subjectivity to trying to come up with an estimate of a cost of capital by including multiple tests?

     And then the discounted cash flow test.  Well, what's

wonderful about this is if you look at analysts, their growth projections bear no relationship to economic reality.  And with discounted cash flow, again, it's the

dividend rate plus the expected growth in earnings.  Many times, if you look at the expected growth in earnings, you do simple arithmetic, expected growth in earnings cannot exceed over a longer period the growth rate in nominal GDP, whether we do it on a Canadian basis, North American basis, or global basis, because if it does over a longer period of time that simply tells us the profit share of GDP will continue to rise.  


And if you follow this to its logical conclusion, at some point in the future all the GDP, all of the income, is in the form of profits.

     Can't happen.  Simple arithmetic tells you that's not going to happen.  Yet the people who make these growth estimates are never constrained by reality.  I look back in sort of the “dot com” boom, and still remember when everyone's projecting that Microsoft's earnings were going to continue growing 30 to 50 percent per year.  Well, if you did the arithmetic, it would only be a matter of a couple of decades before Microsoft became the global economy.  

Highly unlikely we would ever reach that stage but if it ever did, guess what?  Earnings would then equal the nominal growth in the global economy, which would tend to run about 4, 4.5, 5 percent, depending on what the rate of inflation is.

     So, if you apply it to utilities, dividend rate is also influenced by tax policies.  And recent tax measures trying to level the playing field between dividend paying companies and income trusts gave an advantage for increasing dividend yields, but the growth of earnings in utilities are highly unlikely to match the nominal growth in GDP.  The growth in output would probably be less than GDP growth, and the growth in prices probably less than the rate of inflation.  Which suggests if you come up with some reasonable measure of the growth rate, plus the dividend yield, you're still looking at a DCF return on equity of somewhere in a range of 7, 7.5 percent.

     So, again, there are a lot of issues with regards to estimating the growth rate of the sample, and once more we're into the problem of determining what weight do you apply to this test.  Is it 5 percent, 10 percent, 20 percent, 30 percent?  The weights are arbitrary. 


So our firm belief is go with one model which has fewer errors, it's less subject to subjectivity, subjective analysis, and it uses hard market data.

     Now, for the annual updating, essentially there are, we say, two options but there are multiple options.  One, you can just update the risk-free rate, or one, you can update both the risk-free rate and the risk premium.

     We believe it's quite straightforward to do both.  The data are there.  The methodology is straightforward.  It doesn't require rocket science.  Initially, you set up the formulas.  There may be some sophisticated mathematics, but once it’s in place it's a very simple algorithm with well-known or sort of easily measurable data to plug in.

     I believe that was the end of the presentation.  Thank you very much.


PRESENTATION BY MR. HOULDIN:

     MR. HOULDIN:  Can everyone hear me?  This is Russell Houldin of the Ontario Energy Board.  


Let me try again.  Can you hear me now, Robert? 


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  A little better.


MR. HOULDIN:  I'll lean forward further.  How about that?

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes, okay.

     MR. HOULDIN:  In the spirit of, I think, the intent of the session that we want to have a lot of discussion, it's going to be important both to Board Staff in assisting the Board, and of course the Board itself, in eventually making its determination on the proposal that will be made on the codes, that we have a sharing of information.  We take advantage of having a roomful of experts.

      So I propose not to take very much time.  The presentation is on the website.  We have additional hard copies available for those that don't have them.  And we can easily make them available.

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Point of order.  We can't hear you at the back of the room.

     MR. HOULDIN:  Not at all?

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Not at all.

     MR. HOULDIN:  The green light's on.  I'm out of tricks here. 

     MR. KAISER:  I think we have a speaker problem at the back that we'll try and fix.

     MR. HOULDIN:  Is that better?

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thank you.

     MR. HOULDIN:  Yes?  Okay.  I want to make it clear right now that for purposes of questioning later I am not

Fred Lazar.  Not that anyone would think that in any event.

     What I just said was, I propose to move very quickly through the Board Staff presentation.  I think what we want to do is get on to the questions.

     The presentation is on the website, and we have hard copies available.  So what I will do in the next five minutes, say, is just quickly outline what is in the discussion paper that Staff released on July 25th.  I will give an indication of the -- how Staff respond to the questions that we asked everyone else in preparation for this conference.  And then, as I say, we can move very quickly into the question-and-answer period.

     I won't read the guiding objectives.  They're in the discussion paper, and again in the presentation, so I'll just move on to very quickly summarize the scenario that -- I sort of hesitate to call it a proposal.  I don't believe it is a proposal.  I think it's a straw man that Staff put out there because I think to have a better discussion people need a target, but I simply wouldn't -- I don't think Staff regard it in the nature of a proposal in the sense that some people, I think, have been receiving it.

     In terms of the basic structure, we're proposing just a very simple 60 percent debt, 40 percent equity for all LDCs.  Within the debt we're suggesting that there should be a limit, or actually a precise amount of 8 percent for the short-term debt.  The remainder of 52 percent of debt would be long term.  And in terms of equity, the 40 percent equity base could include a maximum of 4 percent shares.

     Move on to the -- thank you.

     In terms of the ROE calculations, really, this just sets up the framework that really goes over, I think, the points in summary that Fred Lazar just made, that we're proposing a riskless rate that actually adopts the methodology proposed by Drs. Prisman and Lazar.  


We use the CAPM approach for the equity risk premium.  And, again, the big issues are:  What are the sample firms that we should choose to estimate the market return?  What's the relevant sample to estimate the beta, and then what's the relevant time period for each set of estimations?


And then, finally, in terms of the inputting, we support an annual input updating to, again, be as close to actual market conditions as possible.


The next slide just summarizes really a sensitivity analysis.  I think that's the best way to characterize it.  The underlying data was taken from our experts' report, so, for example, the riskless rate period is the one year, if you go back to the report, and then the average, the five, ten, and 15 years, is used there.


Again, I won't dwell in any detail on this slide.  Obviously, it could come up in questions.


I want to just very quickly go over how our discussion paper differs from what you'll find in the consultant paper.  We've differed on the question of debt/equity fitness and the stratification of risk.  As you've heard, Dr. Prisman and Dr. Lazar favour a two‑strata structure.  We favour a simple one structure for all.  And, again, they propose 50/50 for the smaller LDCs and 60/40, which is what we recommend for everybody for the larger ones.


As you've heard, on the issue of short‑term debt, they recommend that it should be matched to working capital.  We'd prefer to take the -- essentially, the only available lead‑lag study that has been presented before the Board, and that was by Hydro One in its 2006 rate case, and use that as a target amount, and that's where the 8 percent comes from.  So 8 percent of short‑term debt would be the allowable amount.


And again, obviously, as we -- I'm sure as the Board gets more evidence over time with further lead‑lag studies that could be revisited.


I believe our experts did not offer an opinion on preferred shares.  We, as you've heard, recommend that up to 4 percent of the equity could be in the form of preferred shares.


On the ROE calculation itself, we used a slightly different proxy group, and those four scenarios that I had on the previous slide that were slightly different proxy groups from those that you'll find in the consultant report.  We recommend that there be a flotation and transaction cost premium, because this respects previous Board decisions.  I believe, at best, our experts are silent on that issue.


And we've also floated the idea of an investment premium for new infrastructure.  And then, again, as I mentioned, on the updating methodology we don't particularly buy into the expert panel approach, but we do -- I think it makes sense to update annually.


Now, these next sets of slides I propose to go through extremely quickly, if that's okay, because these are the questions that I think it's far more interesting to us what the responses are of all of you, rather than the Board Staff.


So if that's acceptable, I'm just going propose that people just read these, rather than me taking up time reading each slide.


Okay, I think with that, we would very much welcome your questions.


QUESTIONED BY THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  Dr. Lazar, if I can start off, you heard Mr. Houldin a moment ago say he floated the idea of a premium for new infrastructure.  Did you and your 

associate ‑‑


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Point of order.  We're unable to hear the questions.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  We can't hear anything.


MR. KAISER:  Can you hear me now?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Barely.


MR. KAISER:  Dr. Lazar, you heard Mr. Houldin a moment ago say that Board Staff had floated the idea of a premium for new infrastructure.  Did you and your associate consider that at all?


DR. LAZAR:  No, we didn't.  That was not part of our mandate.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any view on it?


DR. LAZAR:  I'll speak for myself.  I won't incriminate my colleague here.


My view on this is that, given the fact that these LDCs should have boards and the directors' responsibilities should be to ensure that the right investments are made, that the right decisions are made with the future viability of the organization, I see no reason why one has to bribe the Board to make the right decisions.


If, you know, they see there is a need to expand, if you have the right cost of capital, then they'll be able to attract whatever funds are necessary to finance whatever investments are required and deemed to be appropriate by the Board in fulfilling their responsibilities.


MR. KAISER:  When you did your study, did you do any examination of the Ontario LDCs to determine whether their level of spending on capital equipment might be below optimum levels?


DR. PRISMAN:  No, we didn't look at that.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Houldin, I have one question for you.


You rejected the idea of your consultants that there would be a different debt/equity split for those utilities below 300 million in rate base.  What was the reason for that?


MR. HOULDIN:  The reason for that was given in the Staff paper, that we laid out a number of overarching objectives that ‑‑ by the way, can you hear back there?  No?  Can you hear now?  Yes?  Okay.


The question was:  What was the reason that Staff did not accept the idea of stratifying the LDCs into two risk groups?   And the simple answer is provided in the objectives of our discussion paper, in that we did not want to put in place anything that we would see as an inhibitor to the consolidation in the sector, and that having more than one group we think does that.


MR. KAISER:  How does it do that?


MR. HOULDIN:  Well, it gives the opportunity for investors to ‑‑ sorry, let me start over.


MR. FOGWILL:  I'm Allan Fogwill.  I'm with the Board.  There are two elements to this.  One is we didn't see any information that would lead us to believe that multiple structures were needed.  And in terms of one structure, we thought it's less complicated.  It reduces regulatory burden.  It lessens the ability of parties to -- or lessens the likelihood that parties are going to make uneconomic decisions when they're looking at mergers or acquisitions.  


And the bottom line is we didn't see a reason why they had to be differentiated, and the question we've got, really, for the stakeholders is:  Can you provide us some information on why there should be a differentiated structure between utilities, small versus large?


Some of the issues we've looked at in the past relate to risk.  A major risk that utilities face is weather.  And that's not size‑differentiated.  So these are some of the points that we were struggling with.

     MR. KAISER:  Dr. Lazar, why did you recommend it?

     DR. LAZAR:  Primarily because as we looked at the data of all the LDCs there seemed to be -- and again, this is based on historical information -- some differences in the financial performance between those LDCs in a smaller size category, those with assets below 300 million, and a small number of very large LDCs.

      So it is simply a reflection of looking at different measures of financial performance.  There seems to be some differences, although we did not do any statistical tests to see if they were significant, some differences of financial performance between those below the threshold and those above.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, were you going to go now or at the end?


MR. MILLAR:  I'll ask a question at this point.

     Dr. Lazar, with respect to the paper ...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can you hear me back there?  My name is Sommerville.  I'm a member of the Energy Board. 


Dr. Lazar, with respect to the proposal that you and your colleague have made, are there any assumptions built into that proposal with respect to the health or buoyancy of the LDC industry in Ontario?  Are there any assumptions that you've made in that regard?


DR. PRISMAN:  I'd like to respond.  No, we actually just looked at market condition and looked at -- our whole approach is basically not to try to outguess the market but to look at what the market tells you.

     So we looked at the different ratios, and based on that we have not made any assumption about that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If there was a notorious fact of some kind that there was a particular strength in the market -- or particular strength in the industry, would that change your proposal?  


DR. PRISMAN:  Our view again is that that would be reflected in the market.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the same thing would be true, I take it, if there was a notorious fact that the industry was particularly weak?  


DR. PRISMAN:  Exactly.  We would have seen some evidence to that in market reactions and buying and selling.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I have nothing for this panel. 

I don't think we had agreed upon an order, although some of my friends amongst the intervenors may have discussed that.

     MR. KAISER:  I wonder if it's convenient, gentlemen, if we can just proceed from my left around, and we'll start with Mr. Shepherd.


QUESTIONED BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions of these witnesses, and I'm sorry I wasn't able to provide you with questions in advance as I was with some of the other experts.

     MR. KAISER:  Speak up, please.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry.  The first is your basic assumption about the debt rate is that you construct it from a riskless rate plus a long-term premium plus a risk premium, right?  But you've said in all of your other material that the most important thing to you is what the market says.

     So, if the market gives you direct information on debt rates for utility bonds; isn't that better than constructing a rate?

     DR. LAZAR:  I think I made it clear that for those LDCs that have outstanding debt, that we would recommend you use those actual rates.  So the question then arises, what about those LDCs that don't have outstanding third party debt?

     Well, we addressed it with short-term debt.  We've said, well, use a proxy for those utilities that have short-term debt, use those market rates.  And for the long-term debt, one could use, again, the average interest rates of the long-term debt issued by other LDCs in the province, which is what you're suggesting, which should be a market rate.  Or one could construct from market data what would likely to be the rate of interest paid by these LDCs if they were to issue third-party debt.

     And we suspect that the rates would be somewhat similar, perhaps a little higher for those LDCs that don't have existing third-party debt, because on average they would tend to be smaller, less well-known to the market, and probably would not have as an attractive debt rating as those LDCs that currently do have outstanding debt.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You agree that if you look at the trading prices of, for example, Toronto Hydro bonds, and let's say it's 4.8 percent.  I think that's what it was on

Friday, the yield at the ask price.  That's relevant information for the Board to look at what the appropriate debt rate should be for utilities generally.

     DR. LAZAR:  That would be a factor that should be considered.

     MR. SARDANA:  It's Pankaj Sardana from Toronto Hydro.  Just to keep in mind, that is for a seven-year bond, not for a 30-year bond or a 10-year bond.  It's a very specific debt issue.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  The second question relates to debt/equity ratio.  And I guess you talked about how you used the past history to get your conclusions, right, on that point.  Could the past history be affected by the fact that regulators have traditionally assumed that there should be stratification of debt/equity ratios so weighted average costs of capital for utilities in the past would have been split?  Would it be affected by that?

     DR. LAZAR:  Of course.  The regulatory environment is going to influence the performance.  But if that were exactly the case, then we would have expected to see at least four levels, you know, four cut-off points, because that's what had been proposed and implemented in the past.

     And that did not appear to be the case.  So, yes, the regulatory environment probably did have an impact.  And whatever regulatory environment is established going forward will definitely have an impact.  But there appear to be other factors at work to essentially lead us to the conclusion that there seem to be only two distinct categories.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to ask this question of some other experts but on the same point -- I guess this is more a public policy question -- I wonder if you could express your view.

     Do you think it's appropriate that a city like 

Chatham, for example, should have a higher return on its local utility than Toronto?  From a public policy view, do you think that makes sense?

     DR. LAZAR:  You're saying a higher return in the sense that because they may have a higher equity component.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

     DR. LAZAR:  Not because of the costs.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking about ROE. I'm asking about weighted average cost of capital.

     DR. LAZAR:  Again, I will speak for myself personally.  I will not incriminate my colleague.  I do not speak, obviously, for the Board Staff on this.

     From a public policy point of view, what I see here, there are sort of two things.  One, the Board basically sets the maximum rates.  It's then up to the local utilities to take full advantage of these rates if they choose to do so.  Given the structure of LDCs in this province, there's a lot of municipal involvement.

     So, whether the municipal owners directly or indirectly will fully take advantage of this or will be willing to accept lower returns on equity, that will be a political decision that they will make, and it will be for them to make, not, I believe, for anybody else.

     The other issue -- and again, from a public policy point of view, and I'll speak solely for myself, but partly based on my involvement with water utilities, but set that aside.  If you look at the structure of the industry, as an economist it seems to be an entirely irrational structure having so many utilities across this province.  But again, I speak solely for myself as a policy matter; I do not speak for anyone else on this matter.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  In your review of the market data, did you form any opinion or impression on whether there is the -- the market believes there is an implicit government guarantee on LDC debt?  You know this has been discussed many times by governments.


DR. PRISMAN:  If we have any of those beliefs, they have not been incorporated in our report.  The report was solely based on market data.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, and in looking at the market data, did you get any information ‑‑ 


DR. PRISMAN:  The information we have is more hard evidence from credit agencies, that it seems to indicate that the regulatory environment increases or decreases the risk of default, or they give some more points to regulatory bodies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And just to follow up on that, you had no empirical data on equity returns in Ontario for Ontario LDCs, right, because there wasn't any available to you? 


DR. PRISMAN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


DR. LAZAR:  Well, let me add, we had the ‑‑ yes, the report of financial statements of the LDCs, and from those you can extract returns on equity.  And I believe in one of the tables we do summarize what those data showed.


But I would caution that when we looked at sort of the accounting information, you know, personally we had some questions about the validity of the numbers and were totally not unfamiliar with what GAAP rules were being applied, and I suspect you did not have consistency across utilities.


You know, I don't have any hard facts to support that.  It's just that there seemed to be a lot of differences that you could not explain.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, my question was probably unclear.


I was actually driving at market data as opposed to financial data.


DR. LAZAR:  Yes.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no market data.


DR. PRISMAN:  There are no publicly-traded; therefore, we had no market data.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you look at the transactions between utilities over the last couple of years where there have been mergers and acquisitions, for example, because that would be valid market data, right?


DR. LAZAR:  No, we did not look at those, but you're right, they would give you some indication of what the market ‑‑ you know, the market's perception on the actual returns being generated within the industry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Last question, then.  One of the differences between your paper and the Staff paper is that you haven't proposed a flotation premium, right?  Can you talk about that?  Why haven't you, and what's the reason why there's that difference?  


DR. PRISMAN:  First of all, we didn't look at that, and, secondly, we thought that what we see from the ability of the utility to attract that, they had not much difficulties in doing that.  So that was our reason not to attract too much attention to that and to look if this is necessary, because --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Dr. Prisman, there are still some costs associated with raising debt, even if the market really loves you, right?  You're just saying it's not 50 basis points?


DR. PRISMAN:  No, I'm not saying anything about that, about the size of the costs.  I agree that there is some cost in raising ...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does 50 basis points sound right to you? 


DR. PRISMAN:  I would rather not comment on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, those are all my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  I have no questions for this panel.


QUESTIONED BY MS. GIRVAN:

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.  Just one quick question.  I think this is for Russ.  On page 17 of your report, you've talked about the premium in the range of 50 to 150 basis points for an incentive for new infrastructure investment.  


Have you seen that done in any other jurisdiction, and, if so, could you point us to that?


MR. HOULDIN:  Can you hear me?  The usual question.


I'm actually going to ask Allan if the ‑‑ my answer is I believe there are, but I have not personally looked at that.


MR. FOGWILL:  Hi, it's Allan Fogwill again.  FERC has put something in place for new investments.  The range that we've explored there, the 50 to 150 basis points, was mostly for discussion purposes to get people to respond to it.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, can you provide us with what, specifically, with respect to FERC?  What exactly are you talking about?


MR. FOGWILL:  We'll have to dig up the reference for that.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that's fine.  


MR. FOGWILL:  It's transmission investments we're talking about.


MS. GIRVAN:  You haven't seen that in Canada at all?


MR. FOGWILL:  Correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you. 


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, did you still want a reference or not?


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.


QUESTIONED BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger for the CLD.  Just a few questions for the panel.


Dr. Lazar, starting with you, just to go back to the ROE methodologies.  And in your presentation, in your paper, you talk about your selection of the CAPM approach and some of the other methods.  I think you've acknowledged and other parties have acknowledged in their papers that there is no one perfect model; that there's going to be flaws with all of them.  


And you also acknowledged that you believe there are certain weaknesses with the CAPM methodology; is that correct?


DR. LAZAR:  I think the literature has made it quite clear, and they tried to address various shortcomings, but the conclusions have been that it's still by far the best methodology to use and, probably at the end of the day, the most objective.


MR. RODGER:  And, in your view, sir, what are the most important shortcomings of the CAPM methodology that you would like the Ontario Energy Board to be aware of?


DR. PRISMAN:  You mean shortcomings in terms of applying it or shortcoming in terms of the development of the theoretical model?


MR. RODGER:  Just the weaknesses that this regulator should be aware of when it considers the CAPM methodology.


DR. PRISMAN:  There is a usual set of objections or weaknesses, if you say so, to the CAPM from the theoretical development of the CAPM.  For example, the assumption that ‑‑ which is usually made in developing financial models of kind of ideal markets, where information is available to every participants in the market, full information.  


There's some assumption about the risk attitude of the agency in the economy.


Obviously, the simple form of the CAPM assumes lending and borrowing rate is the same.


So there is a big list of those things, but, in general, the CAPM is still accepted and used in most major investment banking for that purposes.


MR. RODGER:  So like other models, whether it's discounted cash flow or comparative earnings, CAPM also really relies upon, as you say, a long list of assumptions; is that correct?


DR. PRISMAN:  Our preference to the CAPM is for it being the most objective.  The other type of models that you refer to cause a lot of input from the analyst, some that ‑‑ and we have seen before that they varied quite a bit.


MR. RODGER:  The kind of jumping‑off point for this discussion, and you've referenced it in your presentation again this morning, is the Cannon paper that is some years old now.


Are you aware of the ROE methodologies that Dr. Cannon used in that paper?


DR. LAZAR:  Yes, but there have being updated papers he's also produced and presented, as well.


MR. RODGER:  And what methodologies did Dr. Cannon use for his paper; do you recall?


DR. LAZAR:  Oh, in the original one, he essentially used a mix of all three, and I believe somewhere we can come up with the weights.  But in a more recent one, I believe in 2003, he essentially argued that the equity risk premium is much lower at that point than it was in his original paper, significantly lower, about 150 basis points.


MR. RODGER:  In that original paper he did use CAPM, discounted cash flow and comparative earnings; is that correct?


DR. LAZAR:  Yes, but, again, he just used -- applied arbitrary weights to each of them where the weights were not really founded on any empirical or theoretical analysis.


MR. RODGER:  Now, in working with the Board Staff to putting forward what Board Staff has referred to as a "straw man," how did you take into account the weaknesses of the CAPM model in the straw man that is now being put forward?
     DR. LAZAR:  You know, again, by focusing on the weaknesses of CAPM, it's assuming that the weaknesses of

CAPM are equivalent to the weaknesses of comparable earnings and discounted cash flow.  And the reality is, if we thought that were the case, we would have essentially concluded, like Cannon, that, yes, given the weaknesses, let's try to come up with some weighted average of the three.

     Our view is that despite, you know, the theoretical weaknesses in CAPM, that the other two have much more fundamental problems with them, and they are not really market-based.  So as a result it would open up any discussion in any estimation of cost of capital to a wider range of subjective opinion, and it would not lead to an easy methodology that is market-based, that is transparent, that is obvious to everyone and easily updatable.

     MR. RODGER:  My question, Dr. Lazar, was not necessarily on the models you didn't use by the method you did use.

     You chose CAPM.  How did you -- or did you -- how did you specifically manage the weaknesses of CAPM in putting forward this straw man?

     DR. LAZAR:  Again, there are two parts to it.  One, we conclude it’s superior to the other two in many respects.  And two, at the end of the day we said, Look, the problems that remain are really the empirical questions of what is the appropriate sample group, what is the time period.

     MR. RODGER:  I take it, then, that you didn't do any specific analysis to deal with the weaknesses of the CAPM models that in the straw man that we now see being presented by Board Staff?

     DR. PRISMAN:  We have used the CAPM in the way every participant in the market uses it; that is, the guidelines as presented here, assuming that the risk premium is based on the spread between the risk-free rate and the market portfolio and the beta is what calls for risk premium for a specific risk profile.

     Those are really the guidelines of the CAPM.  They have derived theoretically, assuming certain set of assumptions.  And that's the way they are used in the  market, even though participants know that their revision of that suffer from some deficiency, and we adhere to that policy of using the guidelines knowing that there are some weaknesses or deficiency in the way that they being applied.

     MR. RODGER:  So another way to perhaps characterize that answer is that you've both relied on the same assumptions that everybody does that uses the CAPM model?

     DR. PRISMAN:  Yes, the same assumption.  Those are the theoretical assumptions that give rise to the conclusion of the CAPM.

     MR. RODGER:  And you've seen no reason to modify that analysis or change the CAPM approach to deal specifically with the Ontario electric distribution system.

     DR. PRISMAN:  No, that's not acceptable in the industry; it's not done in that way.  We know that there are some approximations in the relationship the CAPM provides, and we'll live with that knowing that the trade-off is to use a model which will be weaker.

     MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned in one of your answers the issue of the proxy groups, the other companies that you're looking at to come up with the recommendation or at least a straw man on these cost of capital issues.  And I believe, Dr. Lazar, in your presentation you at least hinted at the importance of the group of companies that you do look at.  That's a pretty important variable.  Would you agree with that?  

     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And depending on who's in that group of companies, that group of comparables, it could have quite a significant impact on the outcome?

     DR. LAZAR:  I'm not sure it would have a significant impact, because we also looked, again, at a sample of U.S. companies from another study, a sample of U.K. companies from another study.  And quite interestingly, the resulting betas, and they covered different companies, different countries, different years, but the resulting betas were basically in the same order of magnitude as the betas that we derived from our sample.

     MR. RODGER:  And in your work, did you look specifically at what I would call regulatory and/or political rinks that are faced by Ontario distributors? 

Did that kind of analysis go into your review of this matter? 

     DR. LAZAR:  The only way that might have entered into the analysis was in sort of if we're looking at the rating agencies and their commentary on coming up with their rating of debt of some assigning issues by LDCs in the province, and then the sample of companies, the ones we used are the ones we referred to for the U.S. and the

U.K.  A number of them as well are subject to regulatory and political risk.

     But we did not do any more than that.

     MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Maybe I could just explore that with you briefly.

     You may know that when the former municipal electric utilities were required to transform themselves into Ontario Business Corporations Act companies, when this market was being restructured, initially these LDCs were to receive an ROE of 9.88 percent.  But that never happened.  The regulator made the decision and also government had involvement that this return would be spread out over a period of years.  Are you aware of that?

     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And in your list of companies that you compared, did you find any utilities that had a similar situation, where they were to receive a certain return on equity but that was spread out over a number of years? 

     DR. LAZAR:  I don't know.

     MR. RODGER:  You don't know?

     And then are you aware that in the early stays of this market there was actually a rate freeze imposed on Ontario distribution companies?  Are you aware of that?

     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And are any of the other companies that were in your proxy groups subject to rate freezes?

     DR. LAZAR:  I don't know.

     MR. RODGER:  You don't know.  And there was some legislation that was proposed a few years back called Bill 100, the first Bill 100.  And that bill basically said to the shareholders of Ontario distribution companies:  Either you pass a resolution confirming that your LDC will be a commercial for-profit company by a certain date, and if you don't do that you will essentially be deemed to be a  not-for-profit entity.

     Are you aware of that?

     DR. LAZAR:  Again, I remember coming across Bill 100, that particular part of it.

     MR. RODGER:  And in any of the companies that you have in your proxy group, can you recall a similar circumstance where the government of the day imposed that kind of requirement on a shareholder?  That if they didn't take certain action it would be deemed to be a not-for-profit entity.

     DR. LAZAR:  Again, we didn't look at the history of the companies in our sample to see what happened to those that were regulated in a regulatory environment.

     MR. RODGER:  But doesn’t it go to the fundamental issue, sir, of do the businesses in your proxy group really have the same risks as Ontario distribution companies?

     DR. LAZAR:  With regards to what, regulatory and political risks?  Well, they're all going to face different regulatory and political risks because the regulatory environment can change, the political environment can change, and I suspect one could find either with that sample or other samples whether there are other changes and regulations which differed from those in Ontario that exposed them to some risk.  And the market participants are aware of the fact that when you have a regulated entity, the regulations, the rules of the game, can change, and periodically do change.

     I think a better sort of test would be, given those changes in the regulation, when there had been acquisitions of LDCs in this province at different points in the past number of years, has there been any premium paid over and above the book value?  If that's the case, again, that's a clear market test indicating that the return on equity, whatever it is, whether it's that that's been granted and actually been implemented by the Board, or the return on equity actually received on the book value, is viewed as more than attractive by the acquirer.

     So we haven't looked at those acquisition prices, but

I think that would be a useful piece of information to look at in order to respond to the types of questions you've been posing.

     MR. RODGER:  But isn't it the case, sir, that because you haven't looked at what specific risks some of those other companies in your proxy groups may face compared to some of the real-life examples that I've given you that have occurred in Ontario, that the fact is that the companies in your proxy group may have a very, very different risk profile than Ontario distribution companies?

     DR. LAZAR:  In terms of regulatory and political risk, perhaps.  How important is that empirically?  I suspect, not that significant, but that's again why we suggested –- why we did this analysis, to give some indication of where the values might be.

     You can change the sample as much as you want.  I suspect that at the end of the day the resulting values are going to be somewhere in that range.

     But we suggested, pick a panel of experts that everyone can agree with, more or less, that are objective, that haven't dealt with one side or another.  They don't have to be Ontario based or Canadian based, and let them select the sample at the beginning of the period, maybe repeat this every three to five years, and then you live with the consequences.


MR. RODGER:  And isn't one of the issues here that in Ontario, with the exception of perhaps two electric distribution companies, the rest are either owned by municipal governments or the province, and doesn't that situation lean itself to more political influence, more political risk?


DR. LAZAR:  But ‑‑ I agree, but how does that validate the use of other tests?  You've got the same problems in addition to the other ones that exist with the other tests.  You know, if you look at comparable earnings, for example, well, where's the comparable set of companies?  So whatever criticisms you're levying against CAPM are equally applicable to the other tests, in addition to the various weaknesses that we've pointed out.


MR. RODGER:  I think my point, Dr. Lazar, is, let's assume this was a different type of consultation and we were working on cost of capital for Enbridge.  Do you think ‑‑ how likely do you think it is that the government of the day would issue the same kind of declaration or direction to the shareholders of Enbridge?  You either do a certain 

-- pass a certain resolution or else we deem you to be not‑for‑profit.  How likely do you think that situation is, under private ownership, as to what this sector has faced in terms of government interference?


DR. LAZAR:  I can't comment for the OEB on that.


MR. RODGER:  Also, I wanted to get a clarification - I'm not sure if it was Dr. Lazar or your colleague - about certain risks already being indicated in the market.  And I'm just wondering if you can explain that, because I think, as has been acknowledged, there really isn't a market for LDCs.  These equities aren't traded like with other utilities.  


So where is the market that you speak of that kind of remedies these risks that you talked about?   


DR. PRISMAN:  This is a non‑procedure of trying to value a certain company that is not publicly traded, and the remedy is to try and find traded companies that are more or less in the same line of business and infer from there the beta for the company to be evaluated.


MR. RODGER:  But, as we've just been discussing, if the companies, the Ontario LDCs that are not traded, if they really do face very different risks, for example, political risks, then that lessens the value of that comparison, doesn't it?


DR. PRISMAN:  Can you repeat again?  I didn't hear.


MR. RODGER:  If you don't ‑‑ if the traded entities that you're looking at for the market-based information, if they really, at the end of the day, face very, very different political risks, in particular, than, for example, Ontario LDCs, then that weakens the usefulness of the comparison, because you're comparing apples and oranges?


DR. PRISMAN:  If you choose a panel of companies that for somebody's opinion are not in the same line of business and face a different risk, obviously you're going to get a different beta.


But if you choose the company and you take the weighted average of the companies in the panel, then those kind of mistake are going to be washed out to some extent.


MR. RODGER:  Just a couple of questions for Mr. Houldin.  In your presentation, you had talked about debt levels.  I wanted to ask you, if you have an Ontario LDC that may have long‑term debt far in excess of 52 percent, and that LDC is facing very significant refurbishment and capital expenditures in their distribution system over the next few years, how would you propose that the LDC get down to the 52 percent level?


MR. HOULDIN:  Again, can you hear me?  I'm not even sure if my green light is on.  I'm seeing -- no?  Sorry.  Can you hear me now?  No?


Okay.  Well, I'll bellow, then.


This particular question I'm going to ask to be addressed by my colleague Duncan Skinner.  He may have a better microphone.


[Laughter] 


MR. SKINNER:  No, I don't think ‑‑ does this one works?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  The light's not on.  


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Mr. Rodger, repeat your question, please.


MR. RODGER:  This goes to the proposed debt levels, and I'm wondering about the circumstance, if you have an LDC that currently has a significantly higher debt rate than, let's say, 52 percent and the LDC also has some pretty major capital expenditure requirements, refurbishment requirements, over the next few years, how would you suggest that that LDC gets down to the 52 percent debt level in that circumstance? 


MR. SKINNER:  Well, I think it depends on the individual LDC, whether they actually are borrowing from banks or whether the municipal owner is putting the money in.  I would agree there are a number of small utilities where the municipality has problems itself and has trouble moving money from the municipality into the utility.  We know that is a problem.  


I can't speak to the entire community of 90 or so LDCs, but I'm assuming that most of them can attract enough capital either through their banks or their parent.  But I don't have any empirical evidence to support that.


MR. RODGER:  So, in other words, for a municipality to put money into the business, if you call it that, you would see the municipality subscribing for more shares, an equity injection? 


MR. SKINNER:  Or an inter-company loan.  It doesn't necessarily need to be equity.


I mean, one of the conundrums, if you've got a 60/40 mix and they're at 50/50, they're going to have to borrow 10 percent from somewhere.  That's the underlying assumption of the 60/40 suggestion.


What they do -- if they raise 10 percent, do they buy back shares?  I understand your question.  If they do that, then where do they get the additional funds to get the cap ex, and I don't have any empirical evidence to give you the answer.


MR. SARDANA:  It's Pankaj Sardana from Toronto Hydro.  Mr. Skinner, I think the premise of the question was to try and get down to 52 percent debt level.  If they obviously borrow more money, that takes them higher, not lower.  So we're still at a loss to see how we get down to 52 percent.


MR. SKINNER:  Well, the 52 is long term, but there's an underlying assumption there that there's an 8 percent short term.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, but, sorry, Mr. Skinner, but I think the question asked specifically, if they face significant plant refurbishment, which is a long‑term-type expenditure which attracts long-term financing, that would be long‑term debt.


MR. SKINNER:  Mm‑hm.


MR. SARDANA:  So the long‑term debt level would go up, not down.


MR. SKINNER:  I'm sorry; I don't have an answer for you.


MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  We'll take the morning break at this point. 

‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 10:48 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  If we could have your

attention, please.  Who is the next speaker?

     MR. TAYLOR:  That would be me, Andrew Taylor, with Ogilvy Renault.  

QUESTIONED BY MR. TAYLOR:

MR. TAYLOR:  Can you hear me?  I'm here on before of Bluewater Power.  I have just a few questions regarding the debt/equity structure.

     One of the things that I've heard this morning from

Board Staff is that one of the reasons why Board Staff chose to go with a debt/equity structure that differs from the debt/equity structure recommended by its experts was to avoid discouraging amalgamation.

     I don't understand why differing debt/equity structures would discourage amalgamation.  And maybe you could help me out by just explaining that and perhaps giving me an example.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Well, an example –- sorry, Allan Fogwill.  An example could be where you have a larger LDC acquiring a smaller LDC.  And if the smaller LDC had a higher equity thickness because of its size, there would not be much of an incentive for the acquiring LDC to actually merge the operations on a financial basis.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

     MR. FOGWILL:  You would have the existing utilities working together but not merged financially.

     MR. TAYLOR:  And is that based on any indication that you've received from large LDCs who are considering acquiring smaller LDCs or else smaller LDCs who would like to be acquired by larger LDCs?

     MR. FOGWILL:  No, it's not.

     MR. TAYLOR:  And then, how would that effect things if there were, say, two medium-size LDCs that were thinking about merging?

     MR. FOGWILL:  Well, if they were the same debt/equity structure, then it would be seamless.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Can I take it that Board Staff --it's Board Staff's objective to encourage amalgamations in the LDC world?  

     MR. FOGWILL:  The objective that we've clearly identified in our paper is to not create any barriers to amalgamation.

     MR. TAYLOR:  In the past, then, there has been a barrier to amalgamation given the fact that we've had a four-tiered stratified debt/equity structure?

     MR. FOGWILL:  That is the assumption that we're trying to get some feedback on.

     MR. TAYLOR:  I see.

     The other reason that I understand why Board Staff went with a different debt/equity structure was for simplicity.  And I just want to understand that concept a little bit more.

     Simplicity from whose perspective, from the LDC's perspective or from the Board's perspective?

     MR. FOGWILL:  Well, we're always looking at this from a public interest perspective.  And part of the public interest is to try and minimize the hassle that the LDCs have with respect to their regulatory filings.

     It's the Board Staff's view that a common structure will mean it will be easier for all parties concerned to understand what that structure is and not have to question whether it's a small LDC, and if it goes over a certain hurdle, it has to change its capital structure.  So it's a very straightforward view that we've got, that we think one structure is easier to understand than multiple structures.

     MR. TAYLOR:  I take it from your answer, then, it's easier from the perspective of the LDC?

     MR. FOGWILL:  It's easier from the perspective of the regulatory process that we're thinking is going to carry on.

     MR. TAYLOR:  And have any smaller LDCs who are currently at a 50/50 debt/equity structure, who have to change that structure, have any of them indicated to you that, in fact, you would be easing the burden for them?

     MR. FOGWILL:  No.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  In fact, in my opinion, it would actually be quite invent for an LDC to have to readjust its debt/equity structure.

     MR. FOGWILL:  I mean, you have to look at it from the point of view of why they have a different structure to begin with.  Just because we start with a four structure doesn't necessarily mean that's is it proper mode.  And we debated this numerous times with both our consultants and amongst ourselves, and we don't have a good reason why there are different structures.

     If you've got a good one, let us know.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Well, your consultants seem to have a good one.  I think there was some empirical data that suggested that there were differences above and beyond, or above and below a $300 million rate base.

     MR. FOGWILL:  I'll let them speak to it in a minute, but my understanding was that they were looking at that more from a transitional point of view than anything else.  But if I can get Fred or Elliott to respond.

     DR. LAZAR:  Fred Lazar, York University.  I don't believe we have much to add to our previous comments.  As we said, we came to that conclusion based on the actual reported data, the historical data.  In a response to one of the questions, yes, the regulatory environment probably did have some impact, although not entirely, because there are still differences in the debt/equity ratios and what were required.

     So, you know, again, I don't really have anything further to add to that.

     MR. TAYLOR:  So then we've a one-size-fit-all position that's been put forward by Board Staff.  So we're going to have the same debt/equity structures, we'll have the same risk premium in terms of determining return on equity.

     Is it the Board Staff's view that LDCs, regardless of size, are essentially incurring the same risk profiles or they had the same risk profiles?

     MR. FOGWILL:  Generally, yes.  I mean, there's definitely going to be some variability amongst that group.  For example, if you have a very small LDC that has a major industry in town and it consumes a large amount of the electricity, then you will have a difference of profile.

     But if you look overall, on average, there seems to be a lot -- as we've said in our report, there seems to be a lot more things in common, or similar between LDCs than differentiate them, and so as a result, if we're looking at this from a principled or an objective point of view, we can't -- we wouldn't be able to convince someone why they should be different.

     And that's the question we've got.  If you can convince someone or provide a good argument for why they should be different, then I think it's important for the Board to consider that.  But we couldn't find that.  The major elements associated with risk, you know, weather, economic conditions, things like that, those are all similar for all the utilities.

     So we'd very much appreciate if you could provide some details that would say why that's not true.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Dr. Lazar, do you feel that there's no evidence or any reason to suggest that there should be a difference, or that there's no good reason to distinguish between the larger and smaller LDCs?

     DR. LAZAR:  No, I think there are some differences, obviously, in the business environment; just management capabilities between the smaller and larger utilities.  And, you know, if we didn't think that it was warranted that different debt/equity structures be in place for the two groups, we wouldn't have recommended it.

     So, obviously, we think there are differences, at least the historical financial performance data suggest that there are, and maybe over time things will change.  But we don't have any particular evidence.  We didn't do an exhaustive analysis to suggest that there will be sort of a convergence among the various utilities regardless of size, and therefore one debt/equity structure would be appropriate for all.

     MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  To me, when I think about a smaller LDC who has to re-jig its debt/equity structure, that could arguably be considered a significant corporate reorganization, arguably.  And I just wonder if Board Staff ever considered Section 70(13) of the OEB Act, which provides that:

“A licence under Part shall not require a person to dispose of assets or to undertake a significant corporate reorganization."

Was that considered in preparing the proposal?

     MR. FOGWILL:  No, it wasn't.

     MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  The other question I have for you is:  I take it from some comments that were made this morning that one of the ways that an LDC could increase its debt level would be to get a debt injection from its municipality.  And I just want to know if the Board Staff considered the regulation under the Municipal Act called The Eligible Investments and Related Financial Agreements

Regulation.

And the reason why I ask is because that regulation specifically says that municipalities can't increase their debt levels, in Section 142, LDCs.  Was that considered by Board Staff?


MR. FOGWILL:  There was some discussion about that, but I'm not sure if Duncan or Keith has something to add to that.  Did you want to mention anything here, Michael?


MR. MILLAR:  I haven't had charge of this file for too long, but, as far as I know, that wasn't specifically considered.


MR. FOGWILL:  We did talk about it.  Sorry, it's Allan Fogwill speaking.  We did talk about it, but we didn't explicitly address it in any of our analysis. 


MR. TAYLOR:  Well, let's assume that this regulation exists and that municipalities cannot increase their current debt levels.  Would that affect your analysis, either Board Staff's, or, Dr. Lazar, would it affect your analysis in any way?


DR. LAZAR:  Well, I can't comment on that.


MR. FOGWILL:  Keep in mind that there's third party debt that's available to these LDCs, as well.  So just because a municipality can't add to the debt, there's nothing stopping them from going out and getting third party debt, is there?


MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I'm not saying that that's not an option available, but it's one option of a number of options.


MR. FOGWILL:  Right.


MR. TAYLOR:  And I'm just wondering if it would affect your analysis knowing that one of the options might not really be an option.


MR. FOGWILL:  Not really.  And the underlying assumption here is that we're not looking at who the shareholder was.  So because there's a unique aspect to the municipalities being shareholders, we didn't ‑‑ we tried not to have our discussions coloured by that situation.  


I'm trying to make this as generic as possible.


MR. TAYLOR:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Who's next?


QUESTIONED BY MR. COWAN AND MS. McSHANE:

MR. COWAN:  It's Allan Cowan for Hydro One.  Ms. McShane and myself will have a few questions of clarification for Board Staff and their experts.


The first question is for Mr. Houldin.  And Hydro One was wondering why Board Staff felt it was necessary to alter the sample companies used for their report, and what was their selection criteria used vis-à-vis that of your experts?


MR. HOULDIN:  Well, we had a lot of discussion about this central question of:  What's the right comparator group?  And our starting point was the report prepared by our experts.  But we were looking to develop, like, a different sensitivity analysis around that.


Beyond that, all I can say, we looked at what they put forward.  We looked at what was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, and we put forward the analysis that you saw.


Beyond that, in terms of the criteria, obviously we've got this question of what's comparable and what's not, and that's always a difficult question.  Anyone who's dealt with real estate agents will know that comparable properties are in the eye of the beholder, and that's similar to comparable companies.


And I think one of the -- certainly one of the major elements I'm looking for in this Technical Conference is to get feedback from people who know a lot more than I do about that question.


MS. HARE:  It's Marika Hare.  If I could just add to that, when we looked at the list of companies, and after our first round of consultation, we heard back that income trusts shouldn't be included, because they're not comparable, so we took those out.


Then, as Mark Rodger was asking our consultants the question about the proxy group, that is the difficulty, is knowing who to include.


So we then included all rate‑regulated companies that were on the stock exchange in Canada, and that's how we came up with that group.


And as Mr. Houldin said, you know, we could debate whether or not we've included some that maybe shouldn't be included or not, but we tried to be inclusive in terms of who was on the list.


MR. HOULDIN:  And just one last point I would add is that the beta that was developed as a result of the different lists didn't change by much.  So the proxy group, although it's important, doesn't seem to have a great sensitivity when it comes to determining what the beta is.


MR. COWAN:  Dr. Lazar, do you agree that income trusts should now be eliminated?  You did include them in your report.


DR. PRISMAN:  This is Elliott Prisman.  I think that income trusts, although they have a different tax structure, but they're more or less facing -- if they're in the same line of business, they're facing the same type of risks.  So there is validity in including them.  


The question also is if you ‑‑ if the Board aims is to set a rate of return which is a fair rate of return, i.e., a rate of return that a market participant would expect, if you include only regulated firm, don't you really contaminate your sample, because then you're taking into account already the effect of regulation.  And obviously there is a trade‑off here.  


You are constrained with the number of companies that are really in this line of business, and, therefore, I think the answer is to include some from here, some from there, and to take the average, which will reduce the error.


MR. COWAN:  Thank you.


Turning to another area now, and this is the area of the short-term debt component of the capital structure.  And, again, Mr. Houldin, this is for you.


Why do you feel there's a need to cap short‑term in the capital structure?  I think you've mentioned it's 8 percent based on Hydro One's lead‑lag study.  Given that the basic nature of the working capital is of a permanent nature -- you always have accounts receivable, you always have accounts payable, the fact that, you know, the actual accounts that make it up may change from time to time.  Overall, you're always going to have that as part of your capital structure.


So I don't understand why the need to differentiate and apply a short‑term rate discussion to it.


And, further, it seems to conflict with what Board Staff has recommended in their minimum filing requirements paper, where they say that short‑term debt should be the balancing between your long‑term debt and your equity, if applicable, to your rate base, which is the case in the gas industry.  


And I'm just wondering why you feel there's a need to change the methodology for the electrical side vis-à-vis what's been used for gas for many, many years.


MR. FOGWILL:  Hi, it's Allan Fogwill again.


In terms of the minimum filing requirements, you have to keep in mind that we have two processes under way right now, and we don't want to presuppose what the answer is to this process that we have in front of us.


So we were using what had been identified in the gas model, and if this process comes up with something different, then, of course, this process would require that the minimum filing requirements would be revised and we will proceed on that basis.


The reason why the gas model is a little bit more flexible is because there are only two of them.  And the reason why we've chosen an 8 percent is to -- just for simplicity purposes, as opposed to trying to delve into a lead‑lag study for each individual utility to determine what their short‑term debt component should be.


MR. COWAN:  There is an out-of-balance issue if -- the rate base, when you do that calculation, would it not therefore require the LDCs, when they're forecasting on a future test year basis, then, is, if their short term is going to be capped at this 8 percent, they're going to have to somehow balance their capital structure to rate base, which will mean they'll either have ‑‑ the only thing left is to forecast higher long‑term debt, in that case, with that, and long‑term debt has a higher cost.


So we're wondering, did you consider that when you came to that conclusion that you're basically going to require the ratepayers to pay more under this proposal? 
     MR. FOGWILL:  So you're suggesting that if their short-term debt component is higher than the 8 percent, then they would have to finance that with long-term debt, and therefore a higher rate?  Is that your --

     MR. COWAN:  If it's capped.

     MR. FOGWILL:  If it's capped.  True.  However, it's also the idea that if everyone just uses 8 percent as a fixed amount, then those on the low end will, of course, have a lower rate impact.  If their short-term requirements were 5 percent, for example, and they had an 8 percent in their structure.

     So, correct me if I am wrong, gentlemen, but it's not a capped amount, it's a fixed amount.  A fixed amount.

     So that's independent of what people would actually use.  But again we come back to the point that it's

simplicity that we're trying to get here, with 90 utilities that we're trying to manage.

     MR. COWAN:  But isn't the existing methodology quite simplistic, too?  Why change?

     MR. FOGWILL:  In terms of the --

     MR. COWAN:  Using short-term debt as a balancing between your deemed equity, your preferred, and your actual long-term debt outstanding, or deemed, in the case of some of the LDCs?

     MR. FOGWILL:  Yes, that's a reasonable alternative.

     MR. COWAN:  Ms. McShane has some questions now.

     MS. McSHANE:  Good morning.  This is the first time

I've ever gotten to do this.  Usually I'm being asked the questions.

     Most of my questions are really of a clarification nature, and they're in three areas: the forward rates, the betas and the market return.

     I'll start with this forward rate methodology that you're proposing.  My first question is, you gave us a number today for the forward rate of 4.91 percent as compared to the 5.01 percent that you had previously provided.  And did I understand you correctly that that was a correction rather than an update?

     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  So the forward rates that you developed originally were developed from May 19th data?  Is that right?

     DR. PRISMAN:  This is Elliott Prisman.  No, the forward rate was developed from a set of zero coupon rates at the time that we wrote the report.  We had the data of the zero coupon bonds that was smoothed toward a regression, and from this the forward rate was inferred.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.  But the raw data that you used to develop the smooth curve were data from a single day?

     DR. PRISMAN:  Of all outstanding bonds in the market, their prices at the end of the trading day that day.

     MS. McSHANE:  Excuse me?  I didn't understand your answer.

     DR. PRISMAN:  The data were developed based on the prices of all outstanding government bonds on the market at that time, the end-of-the-day prices of those bonds.

     MS. McSHANE:  On May 19th?

     DR. PRISMAN:  May 19th, I believe it was. 

     MS. McSHANE:  And if I understood your report correctly, you said that these data that you used are available from the Bank of Canada website?

     DR. PRISMAN:  The comparable data, although they have some lag.  We actually got data from a third party that were corrected for that day, but the data that are on the Bank of Canada website, they have a lag of three months or so, if I believe.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.  So that was my question, my first question.  You cannot actually get recent data until, really, three months later than the current date?

     DR. PRISMAN:  Well, I don't know their frequency of updating of the Bank of Canada, but those data are fairly readily available from any financial institution.  And if the Board would aim to develop that extraction of data on its own, it's not so complicated.  It just uses the current price at the end of the day of the government bond, and that could be done at any day.

     MS. McSHANE:  Well, I guess one of the things that bothered me was that when the raw data eventually did become available on the Bank of Canada website for the date May 19th, there seemed to be a significant difference between the raw data that you had originally provided and the raw data that were on the Bank of Canada website for the same zero coupon issue term.

     And the data that you used, or the date of data that you used, seemed to be different from the yields that were on the Bank of Canada website by about 50 basis points. 

Your numbers were about 50 basis points higher than theirs.

     And I'm wondering if there's any explanation for that.

     DR. PRISMAN:  I have to look exactly at the dates that you're referring to, but the procedure or the methodology of developing those data is fairly simple.  And if you use the same day there might be some small differences due to, say, number of coefficient of the regression, but not significant.

     MS. McSHANE:  Would you do that?  Would you check to make sure that the data are similar to -- that were published on the Bank of Canada website were similar to the data that you used?  Can you do that?

     DR. PRISMAN:  Okay.

     MS. McSHANE:  My next question is, you developed a number of regression analyses to create this forward curve.  And you chose the one, I presume, that explained the variability in the rates the best.

     And at the time you developed the curve, the yield curve is relatively flat; it is flat now; it was relatively flat when you did it.

     Would I be right in saying that?

     DR. PRISMAN:  I'm not sure if you're right or not about that, but the way I chose -- what I presented there is really a matter of sensitivity analysis.  There is fairly documented literature in the academic literature that if you're going to estimate the term structure with the polynom, then about five to seven coefficients will do a pretty good job.

     MS. McSHANE:  Right.  My question was really do you need to redo this regression every time you want to set the risk-free rate because, over time, the yield curve does change?

     DR. PRISMAN:  For sure.  Every time you want to infer a forward rate, you have to redo the regression.

     MS. McSHANE:  So this -- can I call it a six-degree polynomial curve?  You would have to re-estimate that, say, at the end of this year, before you set the ROE for 2007?

     DR. PRISMAN:  The risk-free rate, before deciding on the risk-free rate to be applied to that time of period, yes.

     MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  And my last question on this topic is, have you done any analysis to figure out whether the current methodology of using the consensus forecast gives you a worse estimate of the future yield than the methodology that you're proposing?

     DR. PRISMAN:  No, we did not check that but our reasons for choosing the forward rate were stipulated in the report that we wrote.  This is really the rate that the market based on supply and demand anticipate for the future period to be.  This is the rate at which market participant can go to the bank and lock in a loan, or maybe even do it at home, kind of do a home type of loan, by taking the borrowing and lending at this rate.

     So this is really the market -- that's the rate that the market is telling you will be in the future.

     MS. McSHANE:  Sorry.  I did have one more question on the risk-free rate.

     You used an average of 1, 10, and 15 years.  Is that right?

     DR. PRISMAN:  Five, 10 and 15.

     MS. McSHANE:  Five, 10 and 15.  Sorry.  Could you have developed a forward rate that was closer in term to the 30‑year rate that has typically been used to set the risk free rate for the ROE in Ontario?


DR. PRISMAN:  That depends on the maturity of the loan ‑‑ the longest maturity of the currently available Government of Canada bond, and if it doesn't, you could do that by extrapolation.


MS. McSHANE:  So if the longest term were 30 years, you could get pretty close, if you were setting ‑‑


DR. PRISMAN:  You could give a number for the 30 years forward rate using extrapolation, even if it's beyond the 30.


Up to 30, every forward that you get actually is based on interpolation between the data points of a coupon‑paying bonds.


MS. McSHANE:  Right.  So you weren't constrained to the five, 10, and 15 by the availability of data.  That was a choice you made ‑‑ 


DR. PRISMAN:  No.


MS. McSHANE:  What ‑‑


DR. PRISMAN:  Sorry.


MS. McSHANE:  Sorry.


DR. PRISMAN:  We are not constrained by that.  You could do a different type of ‑‑ everything that you do, you want between the -- up to the longest maturity without using extrapolation.  Our reason, again, to choose that five, 10, and 15, as opposed to, as one possibility that we suggest there, which is like a forward rate that will match the time period between two updating mechanism is simply in order to introduce a little bit of stability to the forward ‑‑ to the rate that is being used, based on the currently held view that the process of term structure is what is called reverting, or, in other words, that it reverts or converts to a certain term or certain rate that is more or less stable in the economy.  And what happen above and below is because different circumstances in the economy.


So in order not to cause too much variation between updating times, we suggest to take that averaging.


MS. McSHANE:  Thank you.


My next question is on the market return.  I understand from your discussion this morning that you believe we could use either the five- or ten‑year market return, and you didn't have a particular preference.  Did I hear that correctly?


DR. LAZAR:  I also said that one could ‑‑ you know, again, I would defer to an expert panel to pick the term.  We chose five and ten years, again, to follow up on what Elliott said, because we assumed that there would be updating at least ‑‑ or, again, at most, every five years.  


And by using a five- or ten-year time frame, this would enable you to capture changes in the market between the initial period where you set the rate, and the next rate where you update, where you revise the rates.


DR. PRISMAN:  Can I add something to that, please?  This is Elliott Prisman.  We are aware of the tendency of business valuator to use a much longer period to estimate the market premium and market rate of return, but we appreciate that this is a little bit different environment here, where you called to evaluate a certain business.  You look at the cash flow from that business to perpetuity.  


So it would make sense to use a longer time period, since the assumption is that that is your one‑shot evaluation, and over the longer period, indeed, the expected or the average rate of return will be as the long term.


But here the idea is that we would like to be closer to the market, and we have the opportunity of revising it every so often.  So what we suggest is to take a period that somehow matches to the time period between updating.


Obviously, again, there is the trade‑off if you take it too short and you are too susceptible to market fluctuation, but that was the basic idea, to keep it as close as possible to the market rate of return.


MS. McSHANE:  I have two questions in response to that.


One is:  Is this situation any different, in principle, than the application of a rate of return on equity in any other jurisdiction in Canada?


So that in this jurisdiction you have a situation where you would want to use a shorter‑term market return, and then all other jurisdictions, they would use a long‑term average to develop the market‑risk premium?


DR. PRISMAN:  I guess that's a policy issue to the Board.  As an expert, what I think is the aim of the Board is to get a fair rate of return that will be matching the time period until the next updating.  Then what we suggest will be the appropriate way to go about it.


MS. McSHANE:  And did you do any analysis to determine how much variability there could possibly be in this market return if you were to use, let's say, a rolling five‑year average?


DR. PRISMAN:  No, we have not done that.


MS. McSHANE:  So let me give you an example, because I looked at this a little bit, and this is sort of what bothered me.


You could take a five‑year period where you could get a market return of, say, 18 percent, and then you could take another five‑year period not too far later, where you could actually get a negative market return.  


But to me, I mean, that's just a function of sort of the randomness in market returns, and it could have a significant impact on the volatility of the return on equity for a utility, and have nothing to do with their actual cost of equity.


DR. PRISMAN:  Well, first of all, the suggestion is to take, if you decide to take a five years, that will be the last five years --


MS. McSHANE:  Right.


DR. PRISMAN:  -- prior to the date.  Secondly, the other extreme is, let's say you take 30 or 40 years to get that and don't make any updating.  You don't need to update anymore, because you get the average overall.  So if you like to stay close to the market, indeed, that is the trade‑off.  Five years, ten years, if you stay close to the market, obviously the longer the period, the smaller the variation.  That's just a statistical fact.


MS. McSHANE:  But would you agree that if I happen to have earned or the market happened ‑‑ excuse me, to have had a return of 18 percent over five years, that that really doesn't tell you that the market expects 18 percent in the next five years?


DR. PRISMAN:  By that token, you could rule out all statistical procedure of predicting from the past to the future.


That's the best we have.  That's the estimation of the rate of return, forward looking, based on the past.


MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  My last group of questions is on the beta, and this is really just for clarification.  Can I just ask you to look at the page 12 of the presentation that you gave this morning?


In the first line of the presentation, you refer to an average 52-week beta of .3572.  And I just want to verify that this beta is what I would call an asset beta or a business risk beta.  It is a beta that would apply to a utility that was 100 percent equity financed.


DR. PRISMAN:  That's okay.  If I'm not mistaken, this is the beta that was ‑‑ the procedure really was to take the beta, which infer a utility that didn't have 100 percent equity, to unlever them, and then to take the average of the unlevered.


So the answer is, yes, that was a beta for a company that is 100 percent equity.


MS. McSHANE:  So in the original paper that you wrote, from my recollection, there was never any re-levering of the beta in that paper.  You recommended a beta of, I believe, .3572 --


DR. PRISMAN:  That applies to a company that it is fully equity.


MS. McSHANE:  Right.  So I'm right on that.


So then you presented, or made a presentation in June of 2006, in which you re-levered the betas based on a 60 percent debt, 40 percent common equity capital structure.  And your presentation provided a 52-week levered beta of .892, and then a 60-month levered beta of .508.
    Then, today, when you made the presentation, I've got a 52-week levered beta of .701 and a 60-month levered beta of .398.  But they apparently are based on the same database, the same period.  So I don't understand where the differences come from.
     DR. LAZAR:  Arithmetic mistakes in the June presentation.
     MS. McSHANE:  Pardon me?
     DR. LAZAR:  Arithmetic errors in the June presentation.  These values are correct.
     MS. McSHANE:  These values are correct?
     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.
     MS. McSHANE:  These values are just wrong or --
     DR. LAZAR:  The ones in June, we made an arithmetic mistake.  I believe the way we included the tax rate.  I would have to go back to check the calculations.  We made an arithmetic error in the ones presented in June.
     MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  So these may have been pre-tax betas that were presented in June, and these are after-tax betas that you gave us today?
     DR. LAZAR:  I would have to go back to see what the source of the error was.
     MS. McSHANE:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Aiken.

QUESTIONED BY MR. AIKEN:

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, Randy Aiken, on behalf of the London Property Management Association.
     Just one quick question.  It's a follow-up to a question Ms. Girvan had, and that had to do with the 50 to 150 basis point premium on incremental capital.  I think, Mr. Fogwill, you indicated that was based on something from FERC that was related to transmission, capital expenditures.  
     Do you have any knowledge of anything that's related to distribution expenditures, where the approach has a premium attached to additional capital expenditure in a distribution setting?
     MS. HARE:  No.  It's Marika Hare answering.  Just to make it clear, Ms. Girvan asked are we aware of any other jurisdiction that has given a premium for infrastructure investment, and we answered yes.  And I do have that reference with me.  So maybe I'll just read that in now.
It is the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 18 C.F.R., part 35, docket number RM06-4-000, order number 679, and it is “Promoting Transmission Investment Through
Pricing Reform.”  So that's the reference.  

Now, having said that, you would have noticed in our paper that Staff has expressed a concern about ensuring that there's adequate investment in infrastructure.  And we `listed that specifically as one of the objectives, and we discussed it again in several places in the report.
     And so we were being somewhat creative in coming up with this idea of a higher ROE.  It wasn't based on the FERC report.  About the same time that we came up with this idea, the concept of a higher ROE, we came across the FERC report, which is actually issued July 20th, 2006.
     So it was about the same time that we were finalizing our report.  And we did not search to see whether or not any other distribution companies have been given a higher ROE.
     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


QUESTIONED BY MR. STEPHENSON:
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  And this is for Dr. Lazar, following up on part of the conversation from this morning.  And it touches again on the issue of using ROE in some fashion as an incentive for additional infrastructure investment.
     As I understood what you said this morning, that was something that you hadn't specifically been asked to consider in the process of preparing your report, but I think, in answer to Mr. Kaiser, you indicated that your sense was that it wasn't necessary because you anticipated that would be something that a board of directors would be looking at in any event, and that you didn't need to – I think the word you used was - "bribe" the board of directors to be doing something they should be doing anyway.
     Did I catch that right; is that fair?
     DR. LAZAR:  With the proviso that I was speaking solely for myself.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And fair enough; I accept that entirely.
     And what I took from your answer was that you're cooperating on the assumption that the infrastructure investment was likely to yield additional income for the 
LDC and that the additional income should be incentive enough for the LDC to make a prudent investment.  Is that what stands behind your comment?
     DR. LAZAR:  Yes.  In part, the investment would be to replace existing infrastructure so there are depreciation allowances that are built into the revenue formula.
     And then, of course, if there's going to be an expansion in the capital asset base, that would be reflected in the rate base, and hence revenues going forward.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Leaving aside the depreciation issue for a moment, if we are talking about infrastructure investment in the nature of system refurbishment or system reinforcement, as opposed to expansion of the service area or expansion of the customer base, would you agree with me that that kind of investment is not necessarily going to generate any incremental income, at least in the short to medium term?  I mean, what it's doing is avoiding, perhaps, a future decrease in income, but it doesn't actually add any incremental income?
     DR. LAZAR:  Having not done a thorough analysis, you know, I can't conclude that you're right there.  But let's take sort of the extreme case.  There's always a trade-off between maintenance and operational cost.  So you can always defer maintenance at the expense of higher operating cost.
     So, why invest in maintaining the facilities?  Because of that trade-off.  It's cheaper to maintain the facilities rather than incur increasing operational cost.  And again, those would be decisions a Board would make, a board of directors for a utility, and obviously, I suspect, those are considerations that the OEB would make in looking at the various LDCs.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  But if we're talking about, to use crude terms, capital investments made to ensure that the system doesn't fall apart, that investment is not going to yield, intuitively yield, incremental new income over what the LDC is receiving today.
     DR. LAZAR:  Yes, but there's an opportunity cost.  Nothing is free.  So if you don't make the investment, you've already said it, at some point in time you may reduce your revenues because you don't have the capacity to serve your customers.
     Or, as I've suggested, if you don't make the investment in an appropriate time, then you're going to incur higher operating costs.  And the management of these utilities will take these considerations into account in deciding what's the optimal rate of refurbishment of investment in maintaining the facilities.
     MR. STEPHENSON:  So do I understand your view is that once you set whatever the rate of return on -- the relevant returns, return on debt, return on equity, in accordance with the mechanisms that you propose, that the board of directors will receive perfectly appropriate signals in order for them to make a rational decision vis-à-vis long-term capital investments in the nature of refurbishing the system?
     DR. LAZAR:  No.  That just becomes one input to the decision-making process.  The management of the utility must always be looking at sort of maintenance/refurbishment and making the assessment at what point should they make an investment in refurbishing their existing facilities.  And that's going to be influenced by the trade-offs.  The operating costs are going to increase the longer you delay maintenance.  You increase the risks of some further reduction in revenues, because you're unable to meet the demands of your customers.

So those decisions will be influenced by the cost of capital, but they're not going to be driven entirely or primarily by the cost of capital.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.


QUESTIONED BY MR. SMART:


MS. SMART:  Good morning.  I'm Michelle Smart from Energy and Environmental Economics on behalf of Newmarket Hydro.  We have a question for Dr. Lazar, and then for Dr. Prisman.  


For Dr. Lazar, per the weighted average cost of capital formula, the return on equity is a result of adding debt to your capital structure.  You calculated returns on equity of 6.18 to 8.52 percent in your presentation this morning.


We wanted to understand what cost of debt was used to arrive at those returns on equity, whether that cost of debt included a short‑term debt assumption, and what after‑tax weighted average cost of capital or asset return results from applying a 60/40 capital structure and those debt rates with the ROEs you calculated.


DR. LAZAR:  Okay.  What we presented today in our paper, but today a little more comprehensively, was a range of ROEs.  Those ROEs were independent of the cost of debt.  The two were calculated independently, although the overlap is with the risk‑free rate.  The risk‑free rate is incorporated into both.  So that's the ROE calculation.


And the range of values on the cost of debt, what we suggested there for long‑term debt, not the short‑term debt - I made some other observations there - was that for long‑term debt, where a utility does not have any outstanding third party debt, that it would be the risk‑free rate plus the difference -- sort of the differential between A-/BBB-rated bonds and Government of Canada bonds of similar term to maturity.  


And that worked out to roughly 5.19 percent for long-term debt.  Short-term debt, again, we've suggested that you use the actual rates.  So we did not produce an overall weighted average cost of capital, although one could be produced from the numbers we presented at a 60/40 weighting.


MS. SMART:  Are you saying that the returns on equity that you generated would be the same regardless of what debt assumption you used?


DR. LAZAR:  No, they were based on a 60/40 debt/equity split.


MS. SMART:  Well, correct, but either your weighted average cost of capital will change, depending upon the debt assumptions in your cost of capital, or your cost of capital assumption stays the same and your equity return changes.


DR. LAZAR:  We derive ‑‑ again, the cost of debt, we assume that it would be somewhere in sort of the 50/50 to 60/40 range.  That seemed to be the relevant split between debt and equity in the views of the credit rating agencies for A-/BBB-rated bonds.


And in calculating the ROEs, they were based on a 60/40 debt/equity split.


DR. PRISMAN:  Maybe I can add, the numbers that you see there are not the weighted average cost of capital.  Those are only the rate of return on the equity part, assuming a 40/60.  We did not produce a final number of weighted average cost of capital.  We provided the number that you would use if you are about to calculate a weighted average cost of capital, taking the cost of that from what we suggested and do the weighted average.


MS. SMART:  I agree with you.  The asset beta is used to generate that cost of capital, and you can have one debt rate and one equity rate associated with that asset return, assuming that you fix the cost of capital.


DR. PRISMAN:  The beta that we use in order to calculate the equity part is the unlevered beta.  It's the beta of full equity.


MS. SMART:  You used an unlevered beta to calculate a levered equity return?


DR. PRISMAN:  No, to calculate the rate of return on the equity part of the levered firm.


MR. WARRINGTON:  This is Ron Warrington, also with Energy and Environmental Economics on behalf of Newmarket.  So your weighted average cost of capital for ‑‑


DR. PRISMAN:  Sorry, just for which we did not give a number.


MR. WARRINGTON:  Okay, but you calculated an asset return.


MS. SMART:  No.


MR. WARRINGTON:  You didn't?


DR. PRISMAN:  We did not.


MR. WARRINGTON:  You didn't provide an asset return?


DR. PRISMAN:  No.  We provided the rate of return on the equity part of the firm, which was calculated based on an unlevered equity beta, then multiplied that by the appropriate ratio, and by that you would get the portion of the equity rate of return of a levered firm.  In order to get the weighted average cost of capital, you have to add to it to the cost of capital of that.


MR. WARRINGTON:  You take respective weights, which in this case would be 60/40; 60 for the debt, 40 for the equity. 


MS. SMART:  Thank you.  Dr. Prisman, could you comment on the pros and cons of using a 52‑week period to estimate beta versus, say, a 60‑month period?


DR. PRISMAN:  This is the usual trade‑off between long‑term, which will not be so substantial to trades in the market versus the shorter time period that will be more accurate or more up to date, and for that reason we have submitted both.  But it's the trade‑off between the more accurate information, more up to date, versus less variable information because it uses a longer time period.


MR. WARRINGTON:  I think that's ‑‑


MS. SMART:  That concludes our questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Who's next?  Any other questions at the back?  Would you like to come up, sir, to the seat next to Mr. Millar. 


QUESTIONED BY MR. HILHORST:

MR. HILHORST:  My name is Gerry Hilhorst with London North Hydro, and I have a couple of questions and observations about the presentation this morning.


It was noted that the desire to move to a common equity structure was to avoid barriers to amalgamation.  And we would assert that the 33 percent transfer tax is a much higher impediment to consolidation efforts, and the current moratorium by Hydro One on the disposition or acquisition of any of the assets are a larger barrier.


In the marketplace, you need to have a willing buyer and a seller, and I'm wondering if that's been taken into account in any of the discussions on moving to a common equity structure.


MR. FOGWILL:  It's Allan Fogwill.  No, that was not taken into account.


MR. HILHORST:  Okay, thank you.  I heard it again this morning, and I'm just curious.  It was referred to again that there were two gas companies, and it's my understanding that there was a presentation or a submission made by one of the intervenors on the first Staff paper, that there was a second ‑‑ or, sorry, a third gas utility.  I'm just wondering if that was an oversight.


MS. HARE:  Yes.  There are three gas utilities that are regulated by the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. HILHORST:  Could you tell me what the debt/equity structure is for the third utility?


MS. HARE:  I think it's 35, equity.  NRG is 35 percent equity, as is Enbridge Gas Distribution, and Union Gas is at 36.


MR. HILHORST:  So is the submission made by the ‑‑ on behalf of LPMA incorrect in stating that they have a current equity ratio of 50 percent?


MR. FOGWILL:  No, that's correct.  NRG is in the process of a rate hearing, and part of that hearing includes an adjustment to their capital structure of 35/65.


MR. HILHORST:  Thank you for clearing that up.


I believe that's all the questions that I have at this time.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


QUESTIONED BY MR. KALYANRAMAN:

MR. KALYANRAMAN:  I'm Guru Kalyanraman.  I'm from the Electricity Distributors Association.  My first question is to Drs. Lazar and Prisman.  


Could you please tell me whether there's any academic evidence to support a size-rated premium.  And I'll specify my question.  Given the same industry and given the same sector, is there evidence in the financial markets that smaller size companies attract a premium for the cost of capital?

     DR. LAZAR:  Not that I am aware of, unless there are distinct economies of scale.  I don't see a reason why there would be.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  And the second question is I just want to be clear that in the morning, I think one of the questions that was asked was that the fact that municipalities have restrictions in place to invest in the LDCs has not been factored in, both in the consultant paper as well as the Staff paper.  Am I clear in understanding that, please?

     MR. FOGWILL:  That's correct, in terms of the Board Staff's discussion paper, and -- I guess it's the same for the consultants' paper as well.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  So one of the points that you made in the consultants' paper, Doctors, is that when you come to the fact of stranded assets and smaller utilities, you mention that municipalities might provide cash or equity to bail out some of these LDCs who may be having an impact of a large customer default.  Am I correct in understanding that, please?

     MR. FOGWILL:  What presentation?

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  It's in your paper on page 38.

     In delivering an argument towards, to a common size for all LDCs you suggest that there is, certainly, an impact of a large customer defaulting for smaller LDCs.

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Can you speak up, please?   We're having a very hard time hearing the question.

     MR. FOGWILL:  What page?  We're having difficulty ...

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  I'm referring to page 30 of the consultants' paper.  And specifically I'm speaking to a sentence that suggests that for the smaller utilities, and I'll read the sentence:

"The risks of stranded assets arising as a result of customer/plant relocation, of bankruptcy, that are negligible for smaller and isolated LDCs, does exist."

And further, in building of the argument, you suggested that municipalities, municipal owners could provide more equity cash to the LDCs.  Assuming that the provincial regulations actually prevent municipalities from investing further in LDCs, would your conclusions still hold valid?

     DR. LAZAR:  Perhaps I'll try to find ...

     MR. HOULDIN:  Sometimes the printing comes out under 

-- what's the section?

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  It's page 30, and it's the section on cost of debt.  3.2.  I could give you my copy, please.      


MR. HOULDIN:  Okay.  No, I've got it.  There.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  I'm talking to the paragraph that begins with the letter -- with the word "however."

     MR. FOGWILL:  Can you just repeat the question, just for clarity, for everyone's purposes?

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  Yes, the question is that from the

Doctors' paper that it's evident that, I mean, you consider that there are smaller LDCs would have an impact because of strand assets that could arise because of bankruptcy or plant relocation, and in following up on that you suggest in the paper that municipal owners could actually provide equity or cash.

     My question is assuming that there are provincial regulations that prevent municipalities from investing in

LDCs, would that change your conclusion?

     DR. LAZAR:  Not necessarily.  It would depend upon how much room they have.  You know, just because you have the regulation in place doesn't mean that the municipalities are working to sort of the upper limit, and they have no flexibility.  


I suspect most municipalities are rather conservatively managed financially, and that, despite the various regulations to which they're subject, they do have room for manoeuvre and they do have a certain degree of flexibility.

      So, you know, without going through municipality by municipality to see if there is that room, I can't come up with any definitive answer to your question.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  I'm specifically assuming that a municipality and an LDC is up to the deemed structure, and because -- I'm assuming because of the municipal regulation it cannot take on any more debt in your LDC, would that change this conclusion, assuming that is the case?

     DR. LAZAR:  That has came up in an earlier discussion. They can always go to third parties, if that were necessary.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  Thank you.  And this is the next question to Board Staff, please.  One of the recommendations or proposals that have come forward in the July 25th paper is in regard to the working capital allowance.  I think there was a suggestion that the deemed amount be 8 percent of rate base.

     My first question is, the working capital allowance, as is the current practice in 2006 ADR, has been calculated as a function of cost of power.  Is this a departure from the practice?  

     MR. FOGWILL:  The number we got was from the Hydro One lead-lag study in their distribution rates.  And I'm not familiar with this study and all the details of it, so I would ask the Hydro One representatives, if they're here, if that includes cost of power.


QUESTIONED BY MR. INNES:

MR. INNES:  It’s Ian Innes from Hydro One.  The 50 percent rate is in the Distribution Rates Handbook, and that's the sum of OM&A and cost of power.  That's what's currently in the Handbook.  And the 8 percent rate, I believe, was just derived -- we worked out the working capital that would include cost of power and other needs, working capital, such as materials and supplies, inventories, payables and receivables, as well, and the resulting number was less than the 15 percent that's currently the standard allowed in the Handbook.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Sorry, in the Hydro One lead-lag study it was an 8 percent number.  It wasn't 15 percent.

     MR. INNES:  We calculated an absolute dollar amount for the working capital, and that number is less than the 15 percent.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Less than 15 percent.

     MR. INNES:  Correct.

     MR. FOGWILL:  But the determination through the

proceeding in that study is that it was 8 percent.

     MR. INNES:  Our study, as I recall, was in the order of 12 percent.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Twelve percent.  Let's check on that.  We'll check on that one and just confirm what the appropriate number is because, if I recall correctly, in the proceeding there was a debate over what the percentage was on which base.  But I think it's 8 percent on rate base.  But we'll check on that and get back to you tomorrow.  We'll get it into the record afterwards.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  Just an added question.  I know you'll perhaps provide this answer later, but just an added question.  One of the key components of the rate base is the capital working allowance, which is currently determined to be 15 percent of cost of power and distribution expense.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Right.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  Now, if we determine that the working capital allowance is going to be a percentage of the rate base, there is a circularity in this argument.  One is used to determine the other.  A is used to determine B, and now B is being used to determine A.  And that's what the difficulty we have in understanding, the impact of the cost of capital proposal on LDCs.

     MR. KAISER:  And I think your question was whether

Board Staff is changing the position that was taken in the ADR 2006 proceeding.

     MR. KALYANRAMAN:  That's right.

     MR. KAISER:  So maybe you could answer that after the break?

     MR. FOGWILL:  Yes.  We'll get back to you on that.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any further questions?


FURTHER QUESTIONING BY MR. TAYLOR:

     MR. TAYLOR:  If I could follow up.  Sorry, it's Andrew Taylor for Bluewater Power, if I could perhaps ask one or two questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.

     MR. TAYLOR:  And this is directed at Board Staff.  You know, rates were originally set based on the Rate Handbook, and in that Handbook risk was acknowledged based on the fact that we had differed ROE structures based on the size of the LDC; is that right?  Do you agree with that, Mr. Fogwill? 


MR. FOGWILL:  That's my understanding, but I wasn't here at the time, so you would have to speak to someone who was here at the time.


MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  And now we're in the process of creating a code, and I'm not really sure I understand whether or not it's the Board's intention to create a code that's going to have a one‑size‑fits‑all approach that will be engraved in stone, or whether or not LDCs ‑‑ or whether or not that will be the default, and then LDCs will have an opportunity to provide evidence as to whether or not, in fact, their risk levels are different from the risk levels that have been assumed by the Board for the purpose of creating the code.


Where's the Board going or Board Staff going on this?


MR. FOGWILL:  The current process, as it stands right now, is that this procedure will come up with a code after the Board has deliberated on all the comments they receive today and the other milestones in this process.


Separate from this is a licence amendment process that will be dealing with how that code would be applied into rates, and that's got a panel, and they're going to be reviewing the process and hearing submissions on the appropriateness of setting rates through that code.


If that comes to pass, if both the code gets developed through this process and the licence amendment gets done through a more formalized hearing process, applicants ‑‑ or utilities will still have the ability to come forward to the Board and say, That shouldn't apply to me, and make an argument or a case that things shouldn't apply.


You would have to do it through another amendment to a licence and say, Don't apply this code.


But there is still an avenue for utilities to make a case for why this cost of capital code shouldn't apply to them.


MS. HARE:  But just to be very ‑‑ it's Marika.  Just to be very clear, that would require a letter being sent to the Board asking for the licence to be amended yet again.  Otherwise, the rates are set according to the formula.  There will not be room to deviate from the code.


So either the code doesn't apply at all or it's exactly as has been developed in the code.


MR. TAYLOR:  One of the concerns I have is it seems like you're codifying rate‑making, and I'm just wondering how that can be reconciled with the Board's obligation to set just and reasonable rates.


MS. HARE:  So that discussion would be held in the context of its 2006‑0086 --


MR. FOGWILL:  I'm not sure.  It's the licence amendment process.  If there's a concern related to using a codified methodology to apply to rates in the absence of a traditional rate hearing, that argument should be brought up to that panel.  0086, I believe, is the right proceeding number.


MR. TAYLOR:  So in a licence proceeding, I guess an LDC would seek to gain ‑‑ to get an exemption from the code that's going to be developed, and the exemption could be such that the code's debt/equity structure shouldn't apply to it or that its risk premium not be applied to that LDC, and then that LDC would have to provide evidence to justify that deviation from the code?


MS. HARE:  Right.


MR. FOGWILL:  Yes.


MR. TAYLOR:  So aren't you ‑‑ you know, one of the things we talked about was simplicity, but aren't you really inviting LDCs to put forward evidence -- and this is great for lawyers and economists, but aren't you really inviting them to put forward evidence as to why their business is riskier than everyone else's?


MR. FOGWILL:  Well, first of all, they would have to get through the ‑‑ yes.  The simple answer is if they feel that they are not similar to what is being decided in the code, and, therefore, applied into ratings, they do have the ability to ask for it not to apply.


Then they would have to prove why it couldn't or shouldn't.


MR. TAYLOR:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  

Mr. Shepherd.


FURTHER QUESTIONING BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry to jump in again, but this raises a question that I'd like to ask the experts.


In establishing what you consider a fair weighted average cost of capital, is it a factor in your analysis whether that's set in stone as the rule for everybody, or whether it's a default and there are numerous exceptions?


Is that a reasonable factor in your analysis?


DR. LAZAR:  I think simplicity is also a factor that has to be considered.  Yes, simplicity also has to be another factor.  I mean, it is possible, not at this time but over time, as more data are collected from the LDCs, as we point out in our report, that you could come up with LDC‑specific ROEs using the CAPM methodology.  And if one wants, one could even fine‑tune it and come up with LDC‑specific debt/equity structures.  


It's probably easier with the former, once you have about three, four years of data, to do it.  You know, the methodology is straightforward.  The calculations are straightforward.


But the questions one has to ask is:  Is it worth -- are the complexities worth it, and then, secondly, we all have sort of different views of how this industry will evolve.  Do you want to create barriers, various impediments, disincentives, to how it may evolve, or would you rather opt for simplicity and see what the market does, and perhaps in three or five years' time, when there's more of a level playing field for all of the participants, taking into account earlier comments about the transfer tax, see what has happened, what is the market telling you about how the industry should evolve, and then reconsider these various issues?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry -- 


DR. PRISMAN:  If I can add a qualification -- sorry, this is Elliott Prisman.  The methodology would stay the same, applied the same to every utility, but the result might be different, because, for example, if we move from one factor model, which the CAPM is part of it, to a multi‑factor model whereby you assume that the market risk is captured better by, say, three factors, and you develop a beta for each factor, but the way you develop the beta is based, say, on EBIT of the utilities over some period of time, the methodology would still stay the same, but the result would be that the rate of return for each LDC might be different even though they're using the same methodology, simply because if it is corrected, they will be facing different risk profile.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually ‑‑ I appreciate that, but I was actually driving at a slightly different methodological question, and that is the implied asymmetry of a default‑plus‑exceptions regime, because the exceptions presumably are for higher rates.  And I'm asking, I guess ‑‑ and maybe I'll ask you to comment whether this is correct.  Your data assumes an average risk premium, and if there are exceptions, then you average risk premium will be necessarily too high; is that right? 


DR. LAZAR:  If there are exceptions, generally the only groups that are going to come forward for exceptions are those demanding higher rates.  So it's a classic sort of reversible, the lemons problem, where, hence, the average premium rises over time.  And even those that at one time thought it was fair, given that the sort of the average in the systems increase, they will then come back in and demand an exception.


Should you go for fixed in stone, once and for all, with no exceptions or with exceptions?  I'll leave that to the Board to decide.  That's not for us to say.  We were just asked to come up with a methodology.  You can apply it across the board.  Whether you allow exceptions or not, that's a Board decision.


Whether you want LDC‑specific, the methodology, as Elliott has pointed out, can be worked out once you've got several years of data.  It will be the same methodology applied to all the LDCs, but likely to produce different results for each LDC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. Lazar.  Thank you, Dr. Prisman.  We'll come back in an hour and hear from Mr. Carmichael.  Apparently there's lunch outside.  Help yourself.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:08 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think we're ready to

proceed, if I can have your attention.  Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  The Coalition of Large Distributors has two presenters this afternoon, starting with Mr. Don

Carmichael, to my right, and next to Mr. Carmichael is 

Mr. Pankaj Sardana, who has a brief presentation that will follow.  So, Mr. Carmichael?  

     MR. FOGWILL:  Excuse me.  Can I just interrupt for a second?  There are a few chairs on this side down at the end that are vacant, so if anybody from the back would like to take advantage of those spaces.  Once Toronto Hydro is finished with their presentation, they're staying here.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Carmichael?


PRESENTATION BY MR. CARMICHAEL:

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  

My name is Donald Carmichael.  I have been retained initially by Toronto Hydro and then by the Coalition of Large Distributors to follow the process that's been undertaken by the Board, and in particular review the July 25th submission by Board Staff.

     And particularly, I was asked to consider the potential reaction of the capital markets to the proposals that had been brought forward on July 25th and to attempt to determine the impact, if any, on the LDCs' ability to attract capital on reasonable terms and conditions, and whether that ability would be at all impacted by the proposals.

     I come to this with a 30-year history in investment banking.  Since the early 1980s, I have focussed on raising debt and equity for utilities, as well as arranging M&A transactions.  So I have had extensive interaction with virtually all participants in the capital markets and others who are involved in the capital market process, including credit-rating agencies.

     Going to the first page of my presentation, I'll just touch on a number of these points as we go down.  I'm not going to touch on, necessarily, all of them in that they've been put up on the Web.

     I guess my principal conclusion is that I am not particularly optimistic that the capital markets will react well to the proposals that have been put forth.  It's not that they disagree with the capital asset pricing model per se, but it's the fact that across the country a more broadly based approach to the determination of ROE seems to be the norm.  And my concern is that the capital markets will ask:  Why are we excluding from consideration potentially one-half or two-thirds of the information that might be used by other boards to make similar decisions?

I also feel that the proposed range of ROEs that was advanced in the August -- or, sorry, in the July 25th proposal, and that range was between 7 and a half percent and 8.37 percent, is inadequate to attract capital on reasonable terms and conditions.

     I feel that, based on my previous experience with rating agencies, that if these proposals are accepted, downward pressure would be exerted on the existing ratings of the LDCs, and this would have an impact on their ability to attract long-term debt capital.

     I also believe that the capital markets are willing to support a process of year-to-year adjustments of an ROE.  I just believe that the appropriate way to initiate the process is by having a generic hearing that would essentially look at various methods to determine an appropriate base for the ROE.

     Next slide. 

     And the reason that I'm saying that is that it's my belief that capital markets basically expect this type of approach.  I think in the last three to four years we've had generic hearings in Alberta, in British Columbia, and the National Energy Board carries on the pipeline hearings, which are, in essence, a generic hearing.

I'm also somewhat concerned that the process that we appear to be going to is somewhat more of a "black box" than what participants in the capital markets have been used to and what they've seen in the past.  There are a series of issues that were raised in discussion this morning and exist in the Board's proposals, Board Staff proposals of July 25th with regard to the selection of comparable companies.  How are those companies selected, and the selection of those companies has a significant impact in terms of the beta that's assumed, and obviously has a significant impact on the resulting return on equity.

     And there are other factors that go into it which over the course of this presentation I'll touch on.

     Next slide.

     The first one of those issues is the use of a 15-year risk-free rate as proposed in the July 25th piece.

     Again, while on the one hand there is a recognition that utility assets are long term in nature, and I think it was discussed this morning that a 30-year rate could have been derived from the Lazar-Prisman model, a choice was made to use a 15-year rate.  And I think that that is inconsistent with the asset life of utility assets.

     Again, I go back to the comparable companies.  I'm quite concerned that the selection of comparable companies can drastically impact the resulting beta with an impact on the ROE.

     Next slide, please.

     A point that was touched on briefly is the resulting volatility of ROEs that might come out of this new process.  We don't really have a sense as to whether the ROEs are going to be relatively stable or, as was postulated in the discussion this morning, could be significantly more volatile.

     One issue that wasn't touched on this morning was using the TSE as a so-called diversified market portfolio. 

One of the issues that's in the marketplace right now is how diversified is the TSE, with the combination of foreign takeovers and domestic consolidations?  The TSE is becoming dominated by oil and gas and large financials, be they life insurance or banks.  It's not clear now that the TSE represents a diversified market portfolio, and it's difficult to see how greater diversity is going to come to it in the time going forward.

Essentially, the last point is there are a large number of assumptions that have been made to get to the proposal that people are looking at, and I guess the capital markets would require that some of these assumptions be more rigorously tested than they have been.  And, without that, the whole process lacks a certain amount of credibility from the capital markets perspective.


Going to the range proposed, as I noted, I'm concerned that it is inadequate to invest or to attract long‑term investment capital on reasonable terms and conditions, and I think this view has also been advanced by Karen Taylor, who is the lead equity analyst from BMO capital markets.  


A report has been filed by a number of participants that was published in early July, I believe.  And on the front page, she characterizes the proposed range as being "confiscatory". 


So I think that's fairly gratuitous advice from an analyst that, first of all, is very well regarded in the industry, and, secondly, because of the way the equity business works, there's really not much for her to gain by stating such a view.  


I think she's trying to pass along an education to the Board that this process is somewhat flawed.


From the point of view of capital structure, I believe that the capital markets and rating agencies would support the increase to a 40 percent total equity base with up to 4 percent in the form of preferred share capital.  My experience over the last few years, in terms of raising debt capital for distribution utilities, has been pressure from both buyers and credit‑rating agencies to see the equity ratio increased.


Having increased the equity ratio, that does not relieve the utility of maintaining what I would describe as robust interest, interest coverage and cash flow coverage.  So what I'm suggesting here is that the coverage of ongoing obligations must be enhanced, as well.


In terms of debt financing going forward, I think it first of all clear to identify that long‑term fixed‑rate financing is the most appropriate form of financing for LDCs.  It obviously fits the term of their assets.  It provides them stable rates.


Now, there was a suggestion or a question about the commercial banks providing funding.  Now, commercial banks can provide funding, but the issue with banks is that they are very unlikely to lend beyond ten years.  


So we're talking about a relatively short borrowing period for the banks, and it can expose the utility to greater financial risk if it is faced with a situation where its primary source of borrowed funds is limited to a ten‑year maturity.


The providers of long‑term capital are essentially life insurance companies, and these institutions obviously rely first on credit ratings, but some of the major lenders do a substantial amount of their own credit work.


The rating agencies and lenders really consider the greatest risk for a regulated utility to be policy and regulatory changes, and both of these groups have reacted to various changes in the regulatory environment in Canada, and in Ontario specifically.


The larger LDCs, basically, have credit ratings right now from BBB high to single A.  The ratings have been under pressure, principally reflecting such things as the rate freeze and what have you.


At this point, enough time has passed, I would say, that the rating agencies are getting somewhat more comfortable, but there is still that lingering issue of the changes in policy that took place in 2002.


As a general matter, rating agencies in Canada believe that ROEs are too low, given the risk profile of the utilities, and a number of them have specifically stated that in their ratings reports.


In the August 14th piece that I submitted, I talked about competition for funds in the future, and specifically within the Ontario electricity sector, and my conclusions about that are that going forward for the next, you know, ten to 20 years, we're going to be looking at a major rebuild of the generation sector. 


The numbers are all in the public domain in terms of the size that the OPA has estimated.  There's probably some major expenditures, as well, coming on the transmission side.  And I think the reality is that the LDCs are also in a position where their capital budgets are going to be ramping up as the system ages.


So there is going to be a competition for funds within the Ontario electricity sector, and I am concerned that if this proposal goes ahead -- that proposal dated July 25th goes ahead that, in fact, the LDCs could be viewed as the weakest segment of the electricity sector in Ontario.


I guess my last couple of comments are, really, I've yet to see a tremendously compelling argument as to why change should be effective at this point.  


The current approach that was authored by Dr. Cannon I think is well known by both investors and lenders, and it's similar to methods that are used across the country.


I'm just somewhat at a loss to understand why change at this point is actually required, particularly with the difficulties that I've seen with the proposed changes.


Just wrapping up, the concept of an incentive for new investment was raised, and I believe that if ROE is estimated appropriately, that incentives for new investment should not be required.


There was another question raised regarding arbitrary restrictions on the Board with regard to dividends and other management decisions.  My view is that if the Board were to attempt to do such things, that it would ultimately raise the cost of capital and raise the level of ROEs.  And essentially the capital market's view is that the Board should set rates and not attempt to manage the utility.


And those are my comments.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Sardana.


PRESENTATION BY MR. SARDANA:


MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Mr. Carmichael and Mr. Rodger.  I'm going to focus on some business considerations for The Coalition of Large Distributors, and for the sake of brevity, Mr. Carmichael has made many points.  I'm not going to be following mine to the “T”.  You may also take heart in noting that I don’t have the polynomials of sixth order in this presentation, but ...

     With respect to the current process, it is CLD's view that the cost of capital constitutes a significant portion of LDCs' revenue requirement.  And so determining the ROE without a full testing, a full testing of the evidence via a hearing process, we feel, is inappropriate.

     Accordingly, CLD would urge Board Staff and the Board to reconsider the current process and deal with this matter in a generic hearing.  Following from that, obviously, until a full hearing is concluded, it would be appropriate to properly, and I stress properly apply the Cannon methodology for 2007 cost of capital because we don't believe that it has appropriately been applied to date.

     Mr. Carmichael has also brought out the point, perhaps, in his written evidence, and certainly Karen Taylor from the Bank of Montreal has pointed this out, that capital markets know that Ontario competes in a North American and even global market for capital, and it would be imperative for participants in this forum to heed that advice.

     Turning to some of the current business environments, the current business conditions facing LDCs, many LDCs, and this point has been brought up in the morning session as well, face significant refurbishment of their distribution plan over the next ten years, and it's important to note, as Mr. Carmichael just mentioned, that this investment is not limited to just the distribution sector.  And as has been noted, recent media attention has focussed primarily on the enormity of the generation investment required.  
But, and I know that there are representatives from the City of Toronto that can attest to this, then, you know, our roads, sewers, water mains, and then, you know, Hydro One can speak to this as well, transmission lines, and generation and distribution plant, are all estimated to increase by the billions over the next 10 to 20 years.

     We also think that most of this capital will likely be sourced from debt capital markets, and so we believe that it is incumbent on the OEB to get this right since the ROE metric constitutes a key decision criterion for institutional investors and, of course, forms a key part of the metric that rating agencies use when comparing us to other credits.

     Turning to the CAPM, and some of the shortcomings of CAPM from a business perspective.  I think, as has been pointed out in expert submissions, a properly determined cost of capital reflects business, financial, regulatory, and political risk.  CLD submits that these risks are as high or higher than they were in 2000, and so we believe that the proxy betas that are being used by Board Staff in implementing the CAPM do not properly capture these risks, since the sample of companies likely face different risks than those faced by LDCs.  And I believe Mr. Rodger brought this point out in our morning questioning.

     And we also know that Ontario LDCs have experienced a disproportionately high share of political and regulatory risk over the past six years, and these risk categories seem to be enduring.

     So it is precisely this regulatory uncertainty and lack of confidence that has led capital market participants to repeatedly note that the return component for LDCs' shareholders is too low in comparison to similar companies in other jurisdictions.  And again, we believe that Board Staff's current proposal has added to this concern.

     So, turning to return on equity and capital structure, CLD does support Board Staff's proposal to deem a capital structure for all LDCs at the 60 percent debt/40 percent equity level, and to allow sufficient flexibility within the equity layer to accommodate the issuance of preferred shares.

     For LDCs, however, that may experience some sort of financial difficulty in moving to this ratio, we do recommend a phased approach.  This, however, underscores the need for an adequate ROE.

     Also, Board Staff's proposal to allow an extra return on equity for new infrastructure, we believe, is arbitrary and ad hoc, and it would be cumbersome to implement, and lastly, would not be in the best interests of ratepayers.

     From investors' perspective, the premium return will likely create a new class of equity that would be costly and impractical.  And equally importantly, and this is kind of a subtle point, new bondholders would also benefit from the higher-equity returns, since coverage ratios for that class of equity would be higher for new debt issued to financing new infrastructure.

     And that could lead to some covenant challenges on existing debt versus new debt because debt is typically intended to be issued on what we call a pari passu basis, or on an equal basis.  


And lastly, I think I made the point already, that we really do want the Cannon methodology to be applied properly, and that proper number disseminated for all participants to see.  And those are my comments.  Thank you. 


QUESTIONED BY THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Sardana, you recently went to the capital market; am I correct?

     MR. SARDANA:  We went to the markets in May of 2003.

     MR. KAISER:  I thought you had grandchildren and replaced the City of Toronto...

     MR. SARDANA:  The City of Toronto debt with Toronto Hydro is not a public debt, it's a bilateral arrangement between Toronto Hydro and the City, and the City has now amended that note, which would allow us to access the markets to replace part of that debt starting in 2007, but we have not accessed the capital market for that...

     MR. KAISER:  Any idea the rate that you'll have to pay?

     MR. SARDANA:  Not at this point.  It will happen at the time.

     MR. KAISER:  You made the statement which you've just repeated now, and it's in your written material, that a number of these LDCs - let me get the exact terminology - "will face significant refurbishment."  In the case of your company, can you put a number on that?  What's the capital that you're going to have to raise over, say, the next five years for Toronto Hydro?

     MR. SARDANA:  I think we filed in our evidence in the

2006 ADR that we are looking at about a billion dollars over the next ten years.  So if it's a linear calculation over the next five years it would be roughly half that.  So another $500 million. 

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sorry, we can't hear at all at the back.

     MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, just to repeat.  We have filed in evidence that it's a billion dollars over the next ten years.  So if it's a linear calculation, then it's roughly half that over five years.

     MR. KAISER:  And what's led to this under-investment, if I can call it that?

     MR. SARDANA:  Well, we don't think it's an under-investment.  It's just that capital investment in the LDC sector and infrastructure in general tends to be lumpy, and so that means it comes in big chunks, and it just turns out that, you know, when we take at look at our amalgamated system, a lot of those investments were made at a same point in time, about 20, 25 years ago, and they're now coming home again to be refurbished or replaced.  So I don't believe it's an under-investment, it's now just coming on again in the next cycle.

     MR. KAISER:  I just want to understand your concern with the Board Staff proposal.  I forget their terminology. 

I think they said they floated it as an idea.  This is this extra premium on investment and new infrastructure.  And do

I understand you to say this afternoon that that, in fact, may create legal challenges from existing bond-holders?

     MR. SARDANA:  It could I guess is what we're saying, in that current debt is issued on what we call a pari passu basis with other debt, or is intended to be issued on an equal basis.

     If we then take on a new class of equity that attracts a higher return, setting the covenants for that new class of debt because of the higher equity return could be a bit of a challenge, and we would have to work through that.

     They're not insurmountable, but again it would be a challenge.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Shepherd.

QUESTIONED BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Sardana, let me just follow up on that.

     You have the opportunity to have a higher equity rate.  Doesn't that mean that your existing debt has higher coverage?

     MR. SARDANA:  The --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would they compare --

     MR. SARDANA:  The way I've been given to understand the higher equity premium is it's only intended to apply on new infrastructure investment.  So the existing debt would not be affected.

     Again, you know, I guess what we're saying is the rules aren't clarified around that.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me how that affects debt.  It's 

ROE, right?  It affects your equity rate?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, but is it ROE on -- is it on all equity or is it on a new class of equity that's created, for new infrastructure investment?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that make a difference?

     MR. SARDANA:  Because the higher ROE on a new class of investment would have a higher coverage ratio associated with it because there's higher bottom-line numbers coming out of it.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you assume that that would be tied to a new class of debt?  Why can't the debt still be pari passu?


MR. SARDANA:  Well, I think all I'm saying is that it could create challenges for us, in terms of when we sit down with our lending syndicate and start to cobble together covenants, the lenders might say, Well, we've lent you this money for this, now we're going to lend you some more money for new investment.  How do we make it equal, because most debt is intended to be equal?  And I can even ask Mr. Carmichael to comment on that a bit further.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, please.  I'm trying to understand how this could possibly happen.  It's not intuitive to me. 


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, essentially, the entire organization is bearing the risk of expansion, and this proposal suggests that one class of equity gets paid a premium.  Another class of equity continues to receive the lower non‑incented rate of return.


So you've got the entire risk, the risk of the expansion, as well as the existing operation, being borne by both categories of equity and one earning notionally a premium, whereas the other is not.


That's a fundamental inequity of the proposal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  No, but that wasn't my question.


Mr. Sardana talked about the fact that he might be off side on some covenants.  He might have challenges on existing covenants, and I guess my understanding ‑‑ and you're the expert.  My understanding is that the whole point of equity, in terms of the rate on which you ‑‑ the cost of your debt, is that the amount of equity and the amount ‑‑ and the rate of return on your equity is behind the debt in priority.  And that's why the debt has a lower risk.


And the new equity, whatever its rate, is still going to be behind all the debt, isn't it?  That's what I don't understand.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. SARDANA:  But I think there's a point that's being missed here.


To the extent that you have a higher return on equity on a certain class of your equity, you have a higher revenue requirement for that class.  With a higher revenue requirement, you're going to get a higher necessary income, which is more supportive of the debt that's issued to finance that.  Would you agree with that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, because all your equity is still behind all your debt, isn't it?  Well, either it is or it isn't.  You know this better than me.


MR. SARDANA:  I'll take your point.


MR. FOGWILL:  In the interest of trying to get a discussion going on, can I just ask a question to follow up on that?  It's Allan Fogwill from Board Staff.  There's an assumption there that there would be a different class of the asset.  From an implementation point of view, what would be the problem with having a blended ROE like Dr. Camfield has identified in his presentation, which is, you know, you identify how much additional investment is required, and then you just make a calculation from a rate‑making point of view, so it's a blended amount, as opposed to differentiating what the assets are.


MR. SARDANA:  Well, I mean, I think you could do that.  I think there's many ways of getting at this.


There are two things here.  One, if you test all of this in a generic hearing, I think some of these things might come out and be actually workable.


But I think, two, you know, the more you start to tinker with blended ROEs and regular ROEs, the more complicated you make the whole case here.  So I think that's the other point here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry we got off on that tangent.  Are you okay?


MR. FOGWILL:  No, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My fault.


Another thing you talked about with Mr. Kaiser, and I just want to understand this, you said the industry is not under invested.  It is just that investment is lumpy, right?


MR. SARDANA:  I'm speaking for Toronto Hydro.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's ‑‑


MR. SARDANA:  In that case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's try to extrapolate that to the industry.  Toronto Hydro is not under-invested.  It's just lumpy, right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's our belief, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that true of the industry as a whole?


MR. SARDANA:  It's entirely possible, but, you know, I can't speak for the generation sector.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm talking about the LDCs.


MR. SARDANA:  Pardon?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just the LDCs.


MR. SARDANA:  I think, yes, a lot of our investment is lumpy, and they are coming in at the same time now, because some of those assets have reached the end of their useful lives or are about to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So normally if there's cycles in an investment, it's because there's some common cause creating the cycles.  If a number of different firms have more cap-ex at the same time, it's because there's a common cause.  What's the common cause here that makes them all lumpy at once?  Why aren't some up and some down?


MR. SARDANA:  I mean, I think there's a demographic argument.  A lot of these systems were expanded and built around the same time, and, you know, they are coming to the end of their useful lives at the same time.  I mean, it's not a hard argument to follow.


The same applies to roads and sewers and water mains and, for that matter, transmission lines, and even generation investment.  A lot of these Candus were built in the early '70s and they've reached the end of their useful lives.  They're all coming in at the same time.  


And if you look at the sector, generation investment follows load.  You have -- load came on and they built more generation, so of course it's all going to come in at the same time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me turn to you, Dr. Carmichael.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm not a doctor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It's okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you haven't done any academic work, right?  Your work is all practical.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Mine is completely practical.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about the capital market reaction to -- and the reluctance to invest that would result from the Board having the sort of ROE proposals that have been made, right?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not talking about reluctance to invest in equity, right, because there is no equity in the market?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm talking about the reluctance to advance long‑term capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because, if the ROE is lower, then the interest coverage ratios are lower, right?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It also -- it also -- it's not only 

-- it's not just the ROE is lower.  It is an accumulation of facts that suggest the policy framework and the regulatory environment is not stable.  That's what people look to as the major risk.  


And people buy utilities.  They buy either the equity or the debt of utilities.  They allow the utilities to lever themselves up quite substantially compared to industrials, or what have you, but they do that on the presumption that the policy and regulatory environment is going to remain relatively stable.  


It will evolve slowly over time, but it's generally a stable environment where the results of the utility are largely predictable from year to year.  And if those issues become less certain, then you will find people saying, Well, I'm really not interested in being in Ontario when I can go to Alberta, I can go to B.C., I can now go to Indiana.  


I think, you know, as Mr. Sardana noted, this is not just a Canadian issue.  This is a global capital, and investors in Canada have recently become able to invest substantially offshore.


So it's the stability of the environment that's important here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  A professor of mine a long time ago said, Investors are nervous Nellies, so don't do anything to make them nervous.  


That's what you're talking about, right?  If you do anything to make them nervous, then they'll go put their money somewhere else?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, not necessarily they'll put it somewhere else.  They'll just make it more costly for you to get it here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The concern, Mr. Carmichael, is that that would suggest that the regulator can't do anything.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  No.  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So my question is, if the OEB in this process is trying to establish a more applicable and more long-term and more stable regulatory framework, wouldn't that drive the risk down rather than up?  I don't understand why you think the opposite is true.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I would fully agree with the objective of establishing a more predictable, more stable approach.  I think that those are objectives that are very worthwhile.  All I'm saying is that based on the process that's been followed, I believe that the capital markets don't think you've reached that point as yet.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But let me come back to my question, which is, if it's true that risk is being driven down in the regulatory process by the actions of the OEB, then isn't the result that the cost of capital should go down?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, we're talking about -- and I've tried to characterize both the policy framework and the regulatory environment, and I think -- I mean, I'm not here to suggest that all of the issues that the LDCs have had to face has been strictly on a regulatory basis.  I quite recognize that there have been some significant changes in policy.

     However, let me go back to your point.

     To the extent that confidence can be built in terms of the policy framework and the regulatory environment, over time risk, a perception of risk by investors and lenders would decline.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're familiar with how CAPM works?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yeah.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree that if your dataset is over a period where risk was higher than it currently is now, regulatory risk, that you should then make it -- do an adjustment to the risk premium downwards? 

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, unfortunately I think there are so many assumptions that you just made in there that I can't agree with your premise, okay?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In principal the statement's right; it's just that you disagree with the hypothetical?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Let's go through your statement again.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  You want me to do it?

     MR. CARMICHAL:  That means I have to remember it.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, that's right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Somebody told you about my memory, right?

     If the period of time over which you are taking  your dataset includes a higher period of regulatory risk than the period of time over which you want to apply it, then shouldn't you adjust your risk premium downward because you're in a lower risk period in the future.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  First of all, if we go back to the capital asset pricing model, you know, the theory is that the measure of risk, which is the so-called beta, only reflects market risk; that is, the performance or the returns of a particular stock relative to the returns of the market.

     That's what beta measures.  All other risk is supposedly diversifiable risk.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Okay?  So if you look to the capital asset pricing model, the basic pricing proposal that you're making doesn't materialize.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Which is a huge problem here in

Ontario, I think, and which from the point of view of providers of capital is an issue, because the providers of capital recognize there have been policy and regulatory issues that in their view have raised the risks associated with LDCs.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree that in 2002, 2003 and 2004 in Ontario, political regulatory risk for Ontario LDCs was considerably higher than today?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm not sure I would.  I'm not sure I

I would.  It depends on -- you know, could depend on the outcome of this hearing, in terms of what are adjudged to be appropriate ROEs and what is the way that they're going to be accomplished on a longer-term basis.  Even at the point in time that rates were frozen, rates were frozen with an end date in mind.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You referred to the report of Karen

Taylor.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is -- I have it attached to the

Chatham filing, I think.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But a number of people have referred to it, as you said, right?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yeah.

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Jay, could you please speak up?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I'm trying to project.  I just -- I could face you.  It would be easier. 

     It's correct, isn't it, that this report in this proceeding is only evidence of the rating it gives, right, because we don't have the expert here?  


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I mean, it depends on how you characterize this particular proceeding.  Submissions have been made.  Board Staff has seen those submissions; others have seen those submissions.  I notice that some people who made submissions are not appearing at this technical conference.  I mean, you know, it's up to Board Staff and the Board members to weigh the information that they have, I guess.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Your characterization of this report is not based on any knowledge you have other than reading the report, right?  You haven't characterized it by talking to

Ms. Taylor and trying to get an idea from her of what she meant by it?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I think it's very clear what she meant.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked you, though, a specific question.  Did you talk to her?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, I didn't.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The rating on this is market-performed.  That's not sell, right?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's -- no.  I think you are misinterpreting the report.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?  How?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  How can she put a market perform rating on the LDC industry in Ontario when nothing trades?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  You have to look at it, as I've tried to comment on the way through -- this is just a commentary about a regulatory development in Ontario that she's reporting on and expressing her views as an equity analyst, and what the implications of the proposals are.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  And this is not, you know... I mean, it's nonsensical for her to say Ontario LDCs are going to market-perform.  "Market perform" means you're going to perform with the market.  No better, no worse.  That's what market perform means.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if we could go,

Mr. Sardana -- I guess you're responsible for the CLD's cost of capital submission?    

MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

    
MR. SHEPHERD:  Which of course I can't find readily, but I think I know what it says.

     That submission says, on page 3, something like: 

There are ratings of utilities that have been materially impacted by, quote, "interference in LDCs' businesses."


Do you recall that?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me, can you give me some examples of that?  


MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  If you recall, when Bill 210 first came out, I think the reaction from the rating agencies was swift and it was decisive.  They took us down by one notch; in fact, they took the whole industry down by at least one to two notches.  And that was directly in response to Bill 210.

     And that was -- it's been well documented that was a Standard & Poor's rating consideration at that time.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's the only example you have?

     MR. SARDANA:  That's the prime example for our sector, because, you know, this is a relatively new industry sector behaving as Ontario business Corporations Act companies. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's just -- now, the members of the CLD, do you know which members of the CLD are rated?


MR. SARDANA:  Toronto Hydro is.  Enersource is; Hydro Ottawa.  I believe PowerStream has a credit rating.  I'm not sure.  I'm looking to ...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is Horizon?


MR. SARDANA:  Horizon is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Veridian I think is.


MR. SARDANA:  I'm not sure about Veridian.  Yes, they are. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if we can get your assistance in getting those utilities to provide the Board with the last rating of each of them and any updates, the last full rating and any updates.


MR. SARDANA:  I'm just going to turn to Mark Rodger for a second.


MR. RODGER:  I'm wondering, Mr. Shepherd, if this is part of the discussion where Mr. Kaiser had asked to have on Wednesday morning.


MR. KAISER:  Are you on?


MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger.  I'm wondering if the issue really goes to what we're going to be giving submissions about on Wednesday ‑ the light's not going on, but I'll try and speak loudly - whether this matter was one of the issues to be dealt with on Wednesday morning, and that is:  Is it appropriate that this consultation may be taking a new direction for things like interrogatories, or undertakings, or further evidence, or proper cross‑examination?  Is that the direction we should be heading? 


So I really think before the witness gives any undertakings or similarly, that we have to get that direction, I think, from the Board first to see how this process is going to evolve.


MR. KAISER:  I think what we had in mind was Wednesday we were going to have submissions on -- on Wednesday we were going to receive submissions on whether the process was inadequate or not inadequate.  I thought what we said was, in the meantime, we'll proceed as a Technical Conference, and to the extent inquiries are voluntarily producing information, that's fine.  We'll have it in the usual fashion.


So I think it's a question of whether you're objecting to producing information Mr. Shepherd wants or not.  If there's no objection, then I don't think it can cause us any difficulty and we can proceed with the discussion.


If there is an objection, I guess we'll have to reserve it until Wednesday.


I mean, this is public information, isn't it, Mr. Sardana, or not?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes and no.  It's certainly information that the credits that are rated receive.  Whether it's then disseminated broadly, I'm not sure.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  I mean, basically there are subscribers to all of the bond ratings services, and they pay an annual ‑‑ or Toronto Hydro, to be rated, pays an annual fee.  And the institutions and other investment dealers, and whomever, pay a fee to receive the ratings reports and the special studies that the bond‑rating agencies do.


MR. KAISER:  We've had this information in evidence before.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, but I can't speak for the other CLD members.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I understand.


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps what I could do on the break is I'll canvass with the six of them and see whether there's an issue. 


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful, if you wouldn't mind.


MS. BRICKENDEN:  Sorry, I don't mean to interrupt, but  there's a slight delay when you turn your microphone on, so once you hit it, if you could wait a couple of seconds, and then it comes on.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other thing is that Toronto Hydro has had bonds issued in the public market since 2003?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've had publicly traded bonds since 2003?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And presumably you keep track of the yield as it changes in the marketplace?  


MR. SARDANA:  We keep track of the yield as it changes in the marketplace for information only.  We don't keep track of it and store it, necessarily.  And, you know, these are dealer quotes that we get sent regularly, but it is not an indication of actual trades that our bonds are going through, or actual transactions on our bonds, per se.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also have that, right?


MR. SARDANA:  We have indications of that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I wonder if you could ‑‑ I'm going to ask two things about this.


First of all, the sort of raw data is:  What have your yields been from 2003 to date?  Can you give us that chart?


MR. SARDANA:  We can.  It will take some time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


And then the second thing is:  Can you track that to long Canadas, so that we can see what your risk premium is?


MR. SARDANA:  Just a point of clarification.  That does not give you our risk premium.  That gives you our credit spread over Canadas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.


MR. SARDANA:  The risk premium is an entirely different matter altogether.  So we can certainly provide you the credit spread over long Canadas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you do that, then?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, but it will take some time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, should we be recording these as transcript undertakings or something, or should we just leave it to the transcript?


MR. KAISER:  We probably should record them so there's some kind of record.  What's your thought, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  I think, Mr. Chair, we'd been avoiding calling them undertakings, but perhaps we can call them written responses or something of that nature?


MR. KAISER:  Let's call them requests.


MR. MILLAR:  Requests, okay.  And I don't know -- would you like us to give them numbers?


MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Shepherd's right, just to keep track of them.


MR. MILLAR:  I do note that I think there may have been a couple of others that we have not had numbers, but they'll all show up on the transcript, so if there's a problem, I'm sure people will be able to find them.  Do you want to give that a number, Mr. Shepherd?  Schools Request No. 1 it is.

SEC REQUEST NO. 1:  TO PROVIDE THE CREDIT SPREAD OVER LONG CANADA BONDS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Carmichael, let me turn back to you for a second.


Sorry, I have lots of questions, because your -- you just got into lots of things that confused me.


You commented on page 4 of your report that you have a number of analysts who have reacted negatively to this process.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  And I suppose one of them is the BMO Capital Markets, right?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there others?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us who they are?


MR. SARDANA:  I'll go so far as to say that I've talked with a representative of a bond‑rating agency who, when I asked them about the process, they were not particularly supportive of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I got the impression from your report that you were saying that analysts had written reports saying ‑‑


MR. SARDANA:  No, actually, I didn't say that in my report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I guess you didn't.  


So who was it that said that they didn't --


MR. SARDANA:  I'm not sure that that really makes any real difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  One of the things that some people in the utility investment sector have said from time to time - I'm sure you've heard this from some people - is the notion that there may be an implicit government guarantee on some forms of utility debt or equity.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Tell me -- just before you go on, tell me what an implicit guarantee is.  I need to know that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, I represent schools.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the schools go out to the marketplace, and they borrow at, like, 5.05 percent.  And they do that because, although there's no government guarantee, the market assumes that the government will not let them default.  So the market treats it as an implicit guarantee.  In fact, pension funds will tell the schools that, We assume this is, in practice, government guaranteed.


And I'm asking the question:  Is that true of LDCs, as well, I mean, to a greater or lesser extent?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I believe it would have to be considered kind of way down the list in terms of assessing the credit of an LDC.


The impact is going to be, if the municipality, the owner has a strong economic service area and kind of a vibrant municipal economy, that would be much more significant than the trust -- I guess my experience is, investors don't trust any guarantee that's not written down.

     If there isn't a specific guarantee, they're not going to give you a break.  In the case of a municipality that  is -- or municipalities that are restricted in the sense of further investment in the LDC, that takes it further down the value curve, if you will, that investors would be willing to ascribe to.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's just -- that actually leads to my next question.  Good.  You said on page 8 of your report that LDCs have a greater financial risk because, quote, “They have limited financing flexibility."

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And correct me if I am wrong.  I took your statement to mean that because they're owned by municipalities their ability to sort of access the markets like any other firm is more restricted.  Have I got that right?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, specifically, their ability to access the equity markets is significantly more limited, I would say.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  And obviously, if they're limited in terms of accessing equity, that can, and likely will, result in limitations on their ability to raise longer-term debt.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you talked about limited financing flexibility, I thought to myself, well, doesn't that cut both ways, that, yes, because of who your shareholder is, you can't go to the equity markets, but also because of whom your equity shareholder is, they need less rate of return, don't they, because by their nature they're not investing in the equity markets.  Isn't that true?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I would say, no, they don't. 

But I think Dr. Lazar this morning mentioned opportunity cost.  And I mean, obviously, as a shareholder, a municipality has claims on its own resources; that is, the infrastructure construction that Mr. Sardana was talking about, keeping taxes low, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.  I think that as a shareholder, a municipality wants a reasonable rate of return, one that is comparable to and compensates them for the risks that they're bearing.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand your report on page 9 to be assuming that municipalities will require higher dividends from their LDCs in the future?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, just carrying on on that, I mean, it obviously depends on where the infrastructure work has to be done.  If the LDC, for example, has a lumpy, significant capital expenditure, capital expenditure requirement, then, in fact, the municipality's dividends might go down to provide the reinvested equity to support the construction program.

If on the other hand the municipality has substantial infrastructure spending on its own course and is looking for additional funds, and if the LDC is in a position where its capital expenditure spending is maybe at the low end of the cycle, then there may be an opportunity to move dividends from the LDC to the municipality.

     But I think it's going to be very much situationally based on who has what amounts of infrastructure spending to do.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I extrapolate out of that one other thing?  And that is that the municipal shareholder will have a number of things that they, including their utility, have to invest in capital, and they'll make choices that may not be focussed on the utility; they may be focussed on roads or on whatever?  They'll have to make those -- the priorities they set may not be the utility?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  It may not be the utility, but, if you will, I'm separating what the utility and its board of directors determines is appropriate spending versus what a municipality might determine is an appropriate capital expenditure program.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I understand that, and I take your point.  The thing I'm trying to understand is you're talking about the flow of capital back and forth between the two.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Right.  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And implicitly, it sounds like you're saying the municipality might say, look, I don't care how much you want to spend on capital.  We need the dividends, thanks very much, because we have some other stuff we want to spend the money on.  Isn't that right?      


MR. CARMICHAEL:  The municipality could, obviously, take that argument to the Board of the utility.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You commented in your paper that there were utilities that had their ratings reduced by two notches.  No, that, sorry, that:

"The credit ratings agencies could reduce LDC

 credit ratings by as much as two notches, 

 reflecting the loss of credibility of the

 rate-making process for the LDCs and their

 lower coverages."

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Part of that is you're saying to this Board:  If you do this by way of code instead of by way of a hearing, the credit-rating agencies are going to give you a rough time.  Is that right?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm saying there's a possibility of that, yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the other part of that is that the lower ROE that's proposed would mean lower interest coverage, right?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And --

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  And if I might just expand a little bit on that.  In terms of the first part, in terms of the process that's used to determine an appropriate ROE, if it is judged to be inappropriate or -- if it's judged to be inappropriate, what the rating agencies tend to do is raise the regulatory environment risk factor associated with the utility.

     So what they might do is say, okay, prior to this change, the utility was in a “2” business risk category.  But with this change, that moves me to a "3" business risk category, because it suggests that regulatory risk is maybe greater than they had assumed previously.

     And what you find when you go to the "3" business risk category, to maintain the same ratting that you had as a "2," your interest coverage or cash flow coverage actually goes up.

     So if you're a "2" business risk, you might get an A with a two and a half times coverage.  If you're a "3" business risk, you might need a 3 and a half times coverage to achieve an A.


So the factor, the coverage factor, rises as a result of the perceived increase in business risk.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do rating agencies have credit watch?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, they do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As far as you know, are any Ontario LDCs on credit watch?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Not at the current point in time, I don't believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Credit watch is often used where there is uncertainty about the future for an entity being rated, and the rating agency wants to do more review or wants to await an event that they know is going to happen that will affect the credit; isn't that right?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I would have thought that given the significant risk of a two‑notch reduction, potentially, because of this process and these proposals, that somebody would be on credit watch.  I don't understand why nobody is. 


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I guess that goes back to my discussion with the fellow at the credit rating agency.  He didn't think that the Board would actually proceed with these proposals.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also were concerned about the process.  The Board's already told everybody what the process would be.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, that's true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not going to pursue that.


Let me just ask -- and these are questions that I've provided you in advance, and so I'm just going to ask for these as data requests.


Mr. Sardana, I wonder if you can provide, and you can see if the other CLD members will provide, your most current multi‑year business plan.  I understand you may wish to provide it in confidence.


MR. SARDANA:  That is proprietary information.  We're not going to provide that, not outside a hearing process, no.  And I can't speak for the other CLD members, but I would suspect that they would follow with that sentiment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if Mr. Rodger would agree at the break to see if any of the other CLD business members will provide their business plan.


MR. RODGER:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I had trouble hearing the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, in the same way as you were going to ask the other CLD members about some previous information, could you ask them whether they will provide their multi‑year business plan?


MR. RODGER:  This would be LDCs' multi‑year business plan?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And, again, I understand that it may have to be filed in confidence.

SEC REQUEST NO. 2:  TO PROVIDE LDCs’ MULTI-YEAR BUSINESS PLAN, FILED IN CONFIDENCE IF NECESSARY

MR. SHEPHERD:  The second thing is, now, Mr. Sardana, your LDC has not done a merger or acquisition since 2001, right?  You did the amalgamation, the ‑‑ but that was a different sort of thing?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't done an external one?


MR. SARDANA:  We have not done an external amalgamation or --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you considered any?


MR. SARDANA:  You know, as our business life unfolds, we keep an eye on things.  We've considered some.  We've passed on others.  We haven't done anything.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So would you have an investment analysis for any of those ones you considered?


MR. SARDANA:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You considered them, but you didn't write down any numbers?


MR. SARDANA:  Oh, we've written numbers down, but they've probably gone by the wayside.  They're old and we're not going to release them.  Again, that's highly proprietary information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So same request with respect to that, Mr. Rodger.  I know that some of the members of the CLD have, in fact, done mergers and acquisitions, and so we're requesting that you find out whether they'll file their investment analysis.  All we want to see is whether there's some rate of return information in those analyses that shows what they're looking for.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, could you restate the question just so we have it clearly?  You're asking them to file what, exactly?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking them to file ‑‑ and I had actually provided this in advance and I can read it: 

"If your LDC has carried out a merger or an acquisition of an LDC since 2001, or has prepared an investment analysis of a proposed merger or acquisition of another LDC, or has prepared an analysis of a potential sale of your LDC to another LDC, please provide that investment analysis, business case, or similar document showing the financial parameters of the deal or proposed deal, including, in particular, any calculations of expected overall return or return on equity, and advise of the eventual result of the proposed transaction."


MR. RODGER:  I think, regardless of whether the individual utilities would be prepared to consider that or not, which I don't know at this point, I think the request does go to the issues we're talking about on Wednesday, and that is, again, as this process has been established, it's a consultation.  It's a chance to exchange information, not an adjudicative process, not a hearing process.


It seems to me that if that undertaking were entertained, it does change the flavour of the process we're now involved in.  What Mr. Shepherd is talking about is basically a traditional hearing with the safeguards, such as releasing information in confidence, et cetera, and I'm not sure the Board is there yet.


So I think that part of the issue will be what happens and what course the Board wants to take us on Wednesday.


So I will find out about this, but I think it just flags a number of issues that go well beyond what this particular discussion is intended to achieve.


MR. KAISER:  That's right, but there may be things within the confines of a Technical Conference that parties are prepared to produce voluntarily.  That may not be this category, and you can let us know whether it is or not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just apropos that, Mr. Carmichael, would you agree with Dr. Lazar that if somebody is willing to pay a premium to buy an LDC, that you can infer from that information with respect to ROE?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  People buy utilities for a lot of different reasons.  The ROE is obviously a factor.  It generates future cash flows.  But, you know, what's important are the strategic objectives that are being undertaken in the course of a purchase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you might ‑‑ like, Hamilton, for example, might buy St. Catharines and pay too much for it, because there's a strategic fit or because they have some future plan that will ‑‑ that that acquisition will help them with?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's right, or they -- I mean, it can be they make a mistake.  They make a mistake.  They pay too much.  The biggest risk in any M&A transaction is paying too much.  


So, you know, there are different reasons that a premium is generated.  I've been involved in a number of different M&A transactions where the specific objective of the transaction was to diversify one's regulatory risk.  


So I was advising a company that was acting -- or had assets being regulated in front of three regulators.  They bought two separate utilities out west, so they now had five companies under regulation in Canada, five different jurisdictions.  They had two companies outside of the country under separate jurisdiction.  They had very effectively diversified their regulatory risk.  That was an objective.


So, I mean, obviously the rate of return has an impact on the price that's paid, but the process and the strategic benefits that a buyer achieves are also quite significant in terms of determining the value that someone is willing to pay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just have two other questions.


The first is we were talking about implicit guarantees before.  There are circumstances in which investors get not a guarantee, but some sort of comfort letter or something like that, which isn't a legal obligation, but makes them feel better ask allows them to invest at a lower rate; isn't that right?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  That happened maybe 50 years ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not common today?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It's not common today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the last question that I think is for you, Mr. Sardana.  A number of parties, and I don't think Toronto Hydro is one of them, but I think a number of other parties have said that the proposed changes in ROE and capital structure may cause some LDCs to be offside on their debt covenants.  That's not something you said; is that right?

     MR. SARDANA:  I don't believe it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that wouldn't apply to Toronto 

Hydro?  You wouldn't be offside in your debt covenants if the Board Staff proposal wasn't committed?

     MR. SARDANA:  I don’t have the full list of covenants that we have in our existing long-term debt in my head, but, subject to check, I don't believe we would be.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my questions.  I'm sorry to take so long.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Mr. Janigan.

QUESTIONED BY MR. JANIGAN:

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.

     Thank you.  I'm Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  Mr. Carmichael, I want to review your evidence and ask you some questions.  But first I want to just cover off an area that you explored with Mr. Shepherd, and that is the opinions or predictions of financial analysts such as Ms. Taylor from BMO.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, is it your experience that these analysts will ever come out with an opinion saying that the

Board awarded the company an excessive rate of return, that, in fact, the company has been too richly rewarded by the Board formulation in a regulatory setting?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, I don't think I've ever read a report like that.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So if this is has occurred or occurring, we'd have to look into other market signals to determine whether or not this had occurred or not.  Would you agree with that?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Sorry, give that ...

     MR. JANIGAN:  If a Board has been too generous, we'd have to look at other kinds of market signals in order to determine it; we wouldn't look to the opinions of financial analysts generally?  

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I suppose that's true.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I note in your evidence on page 3 - and I believe it's elsewhere - that you led the Fortis acquisition of the Aquila assets.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Which I believe is a deal that closed in

2005?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Which deal?

     MR. JANIGAN:  The Fortis acquisition of the Aquila assets.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.

     MR. JANIGAN:  That closed in 2005?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm just thinking about that.

     The bid was basically signed off in September of 2004. 

There was regulatory clearance that, I think, resulted in the final transaction being closed, I believe it was the 1st of June, 2005.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And I wonder if you could tell us what the book value of the equity was in this transaction, and the market price that was paid for that equity.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Actually, I can't tell you what the book value of the equity was.  It was -- this would be based on recollection.  Obviously you can find it.  I mean, the deal's papered all over the place.  But I would say the book value was kind of in the order of 8 to 900 million.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the market value that was paid?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  1.475 billion.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And why would a utility's rate base assets sell for significantly above book value?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, we just discussed that.

     MR. JANIGAN:  This was the transaction you discussed?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yeah.  There are a number of different reasons that that would be the case.  And if you back and look at the reasons that I explained and you fit that to a Fortis profile, in terms of what they were doing.  You should also fit into it as well the fact that at the time we closed the transaction -- this was -- actually, it was -- I misspoke myself.

     At the time the transaction was announced, Fortis did a $350 million common equity deal based on subscription receipts that were priced at 55.50 per subscription receipt.  When the deal actually closed, you exchanged the subscription receipt for a common share of Fortis.  So it was a transitional financing mechanism that covered a set of circumstances where if regulatory approval wasn't gained Fortis could redeem the subscription receipts, and so on.

     So, in any event, at the time they acquired -- they announced that they had acquired the assets, stock was trading at 55 bucks.  It's now trading at the equivalent of a hundred.

     So there was obviously value in the transaction for everyone involved.


MR. JANIGAN:  So that they obviously got more than the initial book value might have indicated on the assets?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  No.  No.  They've put in place a very aggressive capital expenditure program because of the rundown of the assets.  In B.C. their rate base is growing rapidly.  In Alberta, just because of the general economic growth in Alberta, there was obviously tremendous potential growth in the West.  And they were taking a stock that was viewed as a regional stock, principally operating in

Newfoundland, Prince Edward Island, Eastern Canada, and now they're a national stock.

     The other factor is that their market cap, that is, the value of stock trading in the marketplace, has gone from $800 million to about $2.5 billion.  And that's important to them from an institutional trading point of view.  At 800 million you're a small-cap stock, and you are expected to generate small-cap types of returns.  At 2.5 billion you're viewed as a more regular, if you will, utility-type stock.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Presumably, however, this was an arm’s-length transaction, the Fortis acquisition?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  It was very arms'-length.  It was a competitive bidding process, which is another aspect of what drives the price in a situation like that.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And Fortis would not have acquired it for more than they thought the market would have borne in the circumstance?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's exactly right.  


MR. JANIGAN:  So there are other people out there in the market that valued the Aquila assets at considerably more than book value?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, that's true.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And now, why would a utility's rate base

be valued considerably above book?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Because -- well, in the specific – I mean, that's a general question.  I'm going to answer it specifically because I can't do it on a general basis.

     With regard to these assets in the West, one was located in Alberta.  Do I really have to say much more than that?  I mean, the growth potential in Alberta is significant.

     The other was located in B.C.  The situation in B.C., they had major approved capital expenditure programs.  As soon as they took over, they had to replace a major transmission line at a cost of, I believe, around $500 million.  So there was tremendous potential growth in the rate base.

     And as well, I mean, the assets that Fortis was bidding on were well known to it.  They wanted to be in that business.  That was their core business.  And they thought that they could run the assets better than Aquila had been doing, and, you know, Aquila had all of its ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  But it was a competitive bidding process.  Other people obviously had a similar kind of view of the value of these assets, because Fortis bid up the price so substantially in order to overcome those bids or what those anticipated bids were.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, you can't say they bid up the price.  There were a number of people -- a number of corporate entities that were bidding on the assets.  It was all carried out in strict secrecy, and you can't suggest that, you know, people were bidding because -- 


MR. JANIGAN:  But in your capacity as the leader of the Fortis acquisition, you had some ‑‑ you anticipated, to some extent, that, in fact, your competitors would be bidding above the book value of these assets?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  I would say that's a fair ...


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, these assets were regulated by the AUB, were they not?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And the BCUC.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the BCUC.  With the AUB, they had a formula return and a capital structure?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, they did.  They also had a "no harm" principle.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  A "no harm" principle in Alberta means that the ratepayer is protected from any costs associated with the acquisition.


MR. JANIGAN:  And do you recall what the formula return was or is for those assets in the AUB at present.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I can't tell you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Was it 8.8?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I couldn't confirm that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Could you undertake to advise me whether or not that's a incorrect estimate and what the correct estimate is?  I don't know if "undertake" is the appropriate word.  Can I request that you check on that estimate and get back to me?


Do you recall what the corporate structure is -- the capital structure, I should say?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  The capital structure of the operating companies was essentially 60 percent debt, 40 percent equity, and with that, Fortis Alberta, I think, was rated A/BBB high and ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  Is -- sorry.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And Fortis B.C. was rated BBB low.


MR. JANIGAN:  I assume these assets had no problems being financed?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Pardon me?


MR. JANIGAN:  These assets had no problems being financed, I assume?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, it all depends on what you mean by "problems".


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, with respect to both their selling price and their rating, I guess.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, let me give you an example.  The Fortis B.C., with the BBB low rating -- and this is, you know, reasonably germane to this discussion, because we're talking about a relatively well‑known utility.  This used to be the old West Kootenay Power and it had been in operation for a substantial period of time.  It was rated BBB low.  


The company wanted to finance its assets, its long‑term assets, on a long‑term basis, so they would have generally preferred to have financed using 30‑year debt obligations.


In fact, with the BBB low rating, the financing that took out the bridge financing was limited to a ten‑year financing, and obviously there was a spread premium that they paid, as well, for the BBB low rating.  But when we're talking about financing on reasonable terms and conditions, financing long‑term assets with ten‑year finance is not an ideal set of circumstances and reflects the types of difficulties that utilities can get into.


MR. JANIGAN:  And these are the Fortis Alberta and B.C. debenture issues that total 560 million that you mentioned in your evidence?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  Actually, I want to be specific about it.  As I said, the Alberta rating was A/BBB high, and it was done on a 30‑year basis.


The Fortis B.C. issue, with the BBB low rating, was done on a ten‑year basis.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could provide the spreads for those debenture issues, in particular, over the equivalent Canada term bonds.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I should be able to do that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


Now, would these two companies be regarded as large or small companies?  Can you recall what the book value of their equity was at the time of those issues?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, we've already had that ‑‑ this discussion, but the -- I'm trying to help you out but I -- I believe it was on the order of 800 million in the aggregate, but as to the split between the two, I can't tell you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Would you regard these as large or small companies?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, they were obviously large enough to get into the public capital markets.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, Mr. Carmichael, you discuss in your evidence, as well, the limited sources of funds that are available to municipal electric distribution companies.  Is it your view that distribution companies had problems financing their rate base when they were directly owned and controlled by the municipalities, for example, ten years ago?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Actually, I have never really studied that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Are you prepared to offer an opinion?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan, would this be a convenient time to take the afternoon break?


MR. JANIGAN:  It would.


MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:46 p.m. 

     --- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Carmichael, I'd like to discuss with you the effect, if any, that ownership of the utility by municipalities should have on the way in which they are regulated.  And I believe you had some of this discussion with Mr. Shepherd before me.  I was wondering if you were aware that the Alberta EUB apparently ignored the municipal ownership of ENMAX and APCOR in setting the allowed financial parameters on the basis that they regulated the company and its ownership was immaterial. 


Were you aware of that? 

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I was.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Do you think that's the appropriate course of action to take?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I do think it is.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the fact that, you know, for example, a utility is owned by a strong parent rather than a weak parent shouldn't enter into the consideration of whether or not the ROE should be generous or not generous accordingly?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think that the rate should be appropriate for the circumstances of the utility.

     MR. JANIGAN:  But the fact that, for example, back when Union was owned by Unicor, for example, and the weak parent forces it to pay out more cash and dividends or turn down investments, a Board shouldn't award this utility with more generous financial parameters as a higher ROE or more equity on that basis? 

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  As a general proposition, I think that's right, so long as the Board is essentially watchful as to inter-company transactions that may have an adverse impact on the utility.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I'd like to explore briefly your support of the Board Staff's recommendation with respect to preferred share financing.  And I note that on page 8, I believe, of your testimony, at the bottom, you state that:

"Preferred share financing, while theoretically possible, is highly unlikely."

I guess I'm trying to square those two positions:  Your support for the preferred share position of the Board staff and at the same time the idea that you think that this is something that is unlikely.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think you're misinterpreting the statement.  What I'm supporting is a 40 percent total equity base.  The Board also permitted a utility to, or an LDC to issue up to 4 percent of that 40 in the form of preferred shares.  And I think that is a worthwhile addition, given fact that it accommodates Hydro One.

     I don't really see the LDCs issuing preferred shares for a number of reasons.  I think that in many ways, preferred shares basically are considered to be kind of after-tax debt obligations, and if you gross them up and go through the mathematics, it just adds to the utility's fixed requirements.

     And, depending on the circumstances, the cost of the preferred shares could exceed that of debt obligation.  So there's some question as to the economic efficiency of actually issuing preferred shares.

     But what I am supporting there is the notion of a 40 percent total equity base.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the 4 percent preferred is a one-off sort of thing for Hydro One, is that --

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, as I say, it's theoretically possible that they may wish to offer them, but I suspect that that probably won't occur.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And for the reasons you've suggested, I understand that there are Canadian utilities that have refinanced their preferred shares with debt over the last five years, including Canadian utilities and TransCanada PipeLines; am I correct on that?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, they have cut down on the amount of preferred share financing in their capital structure, I think in part because of the decline in terms of spreads and interest rates in the bond market versus rates in the preferred market, but secondly, I mean, I think they've been encouraged to do that by their regulators.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Effectively because of the cost implications for the ratepayers?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, it can have, if the issue is not structured appropriately.  But capital markets change.  I mean, if you can do a perpetual preferred share issue as opposed to a retractable preferred share issue or retraction after five or seven years versus a perpetual issue, it's an entirely different type of conversation you're having in terms of the permanentness of the capital.

     MR. JANIGAN:  So straight traditional preferreds would be all right in preference to retractable preferreds, is that what you're saying?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, because the more... the more a preferred share is a retractable preferred share, that means at a particular date five or seven years from now you have to essentially repay those preferred shares.  It becomes like a debt obligation.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And those straight traditional shares would be cheaper than subordinated debt?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Which?

     MR. JANIGAN:  The straight traditional kind of preferred shares that you've indicated, the perpetual share shares?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Perpetual shares, probably not.

     MR. JANIGAN:  It would be more expensive than subordinated debt?  


MR. CARMICHAEL: Yes, I would say so because they are of perpetual term.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, Mr. Carmichael, in your judgment, is a rapidly growing utility with a significant cap-ex riskier than a slow-growth utility?  


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Before I answer that, you've got to be a lot more -- I mean, you can't make that determination based on those specific set of facts.  We've got to know, you know, what the environment or the characteristics of the utility are.

     MR. JANIGAN:  So the fact of requirement for significant cap-ex does not in and of itself make the utility riskier or less risky.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  It adds pressure in terms of, obviously, managing a construction program and raising finance and being exposed to the markets, and achieving kind of economic rates of return on the new assets.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, something that was explored with you by Mr. Shepherd, and I just wanted to ask a follow-up question, is that one once the regulatory framework here stabilizes, do you think that the distribution companies, electric distribution companies, should continue to get more generous financial parameters than the gas LDCs?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think the market would basically work that out over a period of time.  I don't think it's up to people to think that.  I mean, it's something that the market will determine, how they perceive the stability in the marketplace.  And as I said earlier, the rating agencies in particular were starting to get more comfortable with the regulatory environment here in Ontario, given the events of 2002, in the last couple of years.  I mean, I think they've been looking for a return to regulatory normalcy, if you will. 


And so people kind of rebuild their confidence over time, and with that, over time, their cost of capital should decline.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, we're not going to ‑‑ as we've established, either it's unlikely that the analysts and the market are going to tell us that the regulatory parameters are too generous.  What are other things are we going to have to look to in the market?  


You've indicated the credit ratings.  When do we know that the credit rates are too generous?  The market-to-book ratio is something else we should look to.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, are we talking about LDCs?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  LDCs don't trade.  LDCs don't trade.


MR. JANIGAN:  No, I realize that, but in the event it was an acquisition, such as the one you've indicated.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, again, as I tried to explain to Mr. Shepherd, an acquisition can take place for a number of different reasons, and a price is paid for a number of different reasons.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mm‑hm.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And attributing all of whatever premium is paid to the fact that ‑‑ or to the supposition, because that's all it is, that the rate of return is too generous, I think is just inappropriate and misses probably the point of the entire transaction.


MR. JANIGAN:  But, Mr. Carmichael, I think we've established that if the transaction is on the open market and an arm's-length transaction with a willing buyer and a willing seller, presumably both parties are acting in their best interests and don't want to pay much more or obtain much less than the market would obtain for those assets, regardless of what the motivation is for the buyer or the seller.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, I think that's fair.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  But what I'm saying is that ROE is not the only determinant in terms of price.


To the extent that a transaction can be beneficial to the buyer, in the sense of, for example, greater diversification, for example, incremental growth; for example, a larger management pool, all of these things factor into the buyer's discount rate, the discount rate the buyer is willing to use to discount the future cash flows of the asset that he's buying.


And you can go to the Board of the buyer and sit through a, you know, substantial discussion as to whether this acquisition is going to accomplish specific objectives, and people are willing to reduce their discount rate to be more competitive so they can buy the assets.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'd like to turn to the method of estimation of cost of capital and your critique of that.  And, as I understand, the substance of your critique is not so much that the CAPM method is used, but it is used as the single estimation method; am I correct on that?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  And, I mean, obviously, I mean, there are two issues:  One, that only one model is used when there are at least three, and possibly more, models available; and, secondly, then there are the actual mechanics that are used in the CAPM that's proposed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in relation to the use of a single estimation method, are you aware that the FERC in the United States only uses the DCF approach to regulate interstate pipelines?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  I'm also aware that, in fact, the frequency of interstate pipeline hearings is, you know, not -- not substantial.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I don't know whether or not that casts a shadow on the use of the DCF, apart from your own critique of using it as a single estimation method is improper.  Is there something I should gain from that?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, okay, it would suggest to me two things.  If FERC is using a DCF -- it suggests that if the FERC is using a DCF, why are we ignoring a DCF?


Secondly, what I'm saying is that particularly with regard to oil pipelines in the U.S., a very kind of light-handed regulation takes place.


MR. JANIGAN:  But presumably FERC has violated your principle of you should use more than one estimation technique in order to arrive at an appropriate cost of capital, right?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, FERC can do as it sees fit.


MR. JANIGAN:  But in this case, this conflicts with what you think should be appropriately done?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  They do it differently.


MR. JANIGAN:  And are you aware that U.S. boards do not accept comparable earnings estimates as a general rule?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I've never really researched.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  But I am aware that Canadian boards do.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is there any decision from the Canadian board in the last 15 years that has placed explicit weight on comparable earnings evidence that you're aware of?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Not that ‑‑ when you say "explicit weight", what do you mean by that?


MR. JANIGAN:  They've actually used it as part of the calculation.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, let me tell you how I think boards come to their decision.


They look at information.  They look at information provided by the comparable earnings method.  They look at it from the DCF method, and they look at it from the capital asset pricing model as revised and amended.


And it's a lot of data, and they have to sort it out and they have to reconcile various discrepancies in it.  They have to take into account the strengths and weaknesses of the three methods.


You know, I'm with everybody else in that I recognize that each one of these methods has their strengths, has their weaknesses; is appropriate, but has to be -- has to be considered along with additional information.


My issue here is:  Is adequate and relevant information being fully considered prior to setting an ROE?  That's the issue.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, you've indicated boards considered this information.  Is there any decision that you're aware of in the last 15 years that has commented favourably upon comparable earns evidence?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I mean, boards comment on the essence of comparable earnings evidence and they come to a conclusion.


MR. JANIGAN:  I know, but is there any decision that you're aware of where a board commented favourably on comparable earnings evidence in the last 15 years?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  What do you mean, commented favourably?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, they've accepted it or used it as part of their decision.  Do you know of any decision?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It is something ‑‑ it is information that they consider.


MR. JANIGAN:  And, in fact, that they've commented that it is information that they have considered and used as part of their decision?  Do you know of any decision?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I can't think of any.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Janigan, if I may, Mr. Fogwill, do you know if this Board considered the comparable earnings following Dr. Cannon's paper?


MR. FOGWILL:  (Inaudible).  It's Allan Fogwill.  


MR. RITCHIE:  It's Keith Ritchie from the Board Staff.  I'm not aware that the Board has used the comparable earnings since ‑‑ particularly in the electricity distribution sector or transmission sector, since the first handbook in '99.


MR. SARDANA:  But it was considered in the first handbook in '99?


MR. RITCHIE:  I guess only if ‑‑ the only to the extent that there was discussion of the methods in Dr. Cannon's paper.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  And I think that discussion, and I thank Mr. Sardana, because I was reading this last night --there was a discussion of how the comparable earnings method, the DCF and the capital asset pricing model were used to formulate a base ROE.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And one method was chosen, as I recall?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Pardon me?

     MR. JANIGAN:  And one method was chosen.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  No.  No.  No, you're missing the point.  In formulating a base ROE, the 9.88, that rate of return on equity was based on a review of comparable earnings evidence, DCF evidence, and capital asset pricing model evidence.  Based on that evidence, it recommended an ROE of 9.88.  That 9.88 was then disassembled into the risk-free rate, which was the 30-year -- the estimate of the 30-year bond yield, and the risk premium.  When added together, those equal 9.88.

     It was from that that annual adjustments were to be made. So, in formulating the 9.88, all three methods were reviewed and considered prior to determining 9.88 as an appropriate return.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the Board did the same thing, presumably, in their last generic review of gas rate of return?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I believe so, yes.  I'm not putting myself forward as a regulatory expert, and I don't spend my time reading all of the decisions that come out.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  But I do recognize what investors expect in light of generic hearings that have reviewed these matters in Alberta, B.C., and before the NEB.

     MR. JANIGAN:  But presumably, if investors are concerned with the kind of estimation techniques that are being used, they must have some basis of comparison to other boards across the United States and Canada.

     Obviously you're at the top of the class in terms of financial analysts.  If you don't consult the regulatory boards and read the regulatory decisions associated with, you know, what estimation techniques are used in this different decision, how can we accept the idea that if we adopt CAPM as our only estimation technique, that suddenly there will be this revolution occurring across the financial community against the use of CAPM?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I guess it's kind of -- well, I think initially you've already drawn a reaction from the number 2 rated utility analyst in the country.  You will draw a reaction immediately from the bond rating agencies, and people will then know that there is an issue.  They will research the issue.  And they will make investment decisions to go elsewhere.

     I mean, the capital markets move on information, and as information becomes dispersed in the marketplace, people react to it.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions for Mr. Carmichael.  I'm sorry I took so long.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  

Who's next?  Mr. Warrington?

QUESTIONED BY MR. WARRINGTON:

     MR. WARRINGTON:  Ron Warrington with Energy and Environmental Economics for Newmarket.  I just have one question.  You made a statement when you were commenting, Mr. Carmichael, that I believe it was Fortis went from 800 million to 2.4 billion in market cap.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, that's right.

     MR. WARRINGTON:  And the comment was something along the lines that small-cap types of returns were no longer required as they grew.

     Would you expand on that a little bit and explain to us why you do or do not agree with the concept of maybe allowing a higher return for small-cap utilities?  

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I guess my point was that when

Fortis had a 6 to $800 million market cap, it was treated as a small-cap stock.  So institutional investors in particular have got a basket for small-cap investments.  To get into that basket, you have to show a substantial return.  You know, on the -- a return kind of reflecting high-tech stocks or high-growth, high-growth returns.

     Fortis as a well-managed utility, even though it has had a very good earnings record, a very good earnings growth record, didn't have market returns that approximated those that would be available in the small-cap market.  So it had less institutional following than a larger-cap utility stock would have.

     And so, instead of having a base of 30 or 35 major institutional shareholders, Fortis basically had five or six.  And getting new institutions to buy the stock, given the fact that it was a well-run utility as opposed to

a high-tech growth stock, was very difficult for them.

     So, in fact, the notion of growing the company quite substantially, increasing its market cap to get out of the small-cap basket was quite important for them from a strategic point of view.  It actually provided them with greater market access.

     The subscription receipt deal that I referred to earlier, I think we brought in about 40 new institutional investors into that deal.  And these were institutions, major institutions, major investors in Canada who had not previously held Fortis stock.  So it built a base of shareholders for the company that, provided they performed well and so on, would be there for future financing, giving them better market access as time went on.

So that was what...

     MR. WARRINGTON:  Something of a liquidity premium for being large, is that what you're saying, essentially?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I'm not sure how you're using "premium," but I'm saying it is an objective to get your stock in as many institutional hands as you possibly can because it allows you greater access to the market.

     MR. WARRINGTON:  And if you were just to make the leap of faith here, for a moment, that would say that all of the existing LDCs were traded on an exchange, and some were smaller and some were larger, would you then expect the smaller LDCs to require a larger return in order to get into a portfolio of these large investors?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I'm not... well, there's a return --

     MR. WARRINGTON:  Hypothetical question.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yeah, that's a very hypothetical question.

     MR. WARRINGTON:  Yes, certainly.  Yeah.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Because it's a case of reasonableness.

     MR. WARRINGTON:  Right.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Small-cap investors are not -- they just don't focus on the utilities sector as a source of investments.

     MR. WARRINGTON:  I understand, but --

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  They are looking for the home run rather than the single.  And --

     MR. WARRINGTON:  So is it not a transferable concept? 

Is that what you're saying?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I would say it's not really within the realm of possibility.  It's difficult to contemplate even a small utility earning -- well, a small utility being awarded a return that would make it attractive to a small-cap investor; that is, the return would have to be so high that is just not reasonable to me.


MR. WARRINGTON:  I'm just trying to understand.  By implication that would, to me, appear that that might indicate that smaller utilities should have a larger or a higher return on equity than larger utilities.  Am I off base?  I mean, I know we can't ‑‑ you never know, because there's no market, no existing market, but I'm trying conceptually to make that leap of judgment.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I guess what I would say is that the return should be appropriate to the risk profile of the utility, whether it's small or large.  And the issue -- the specific issues for smaller utilities are, you know, what are their sources of capital?  Can they access capital of any long‑term nature, or are they limited strictly to the bank market?


If that's the case, and if they're exposed to additional financial risks, if there are specific risks arising because they are small, then they should be looked upon as, you know, an exemption ‑‑


MR. WARRINGTON:  Food for the bigger ones; is that it?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, no, I wouldn't suggest that, but a rate of return that's awarded to a bigger, potentially, or less risky utility might not be enough for them.


So there could be a premium available --


MR. WARRINGTON:  When I'm hearing you, the comments seem to indicate that it is riskier.  There is more at stake in a smaller utility, more potential for upset.  It might require a higher return in order to want to invest in a small utility.  Is that accurate or am I off base?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I mean, it depends on the fact circumstances.


MR. WARRINGTON:  It always depends, of course, but just in general, you just had a series of risks related to smaller utilities and why they might be riskier than a larger, more diversified utility.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It might be.


MR. WARRINGTON:  Thanks.


MR. KAISER:  Board Staff have a question.


QUESTIONED BY BOARD STAFF:


MR. FOGWILL:  Russ, Mr. Houldin and I both have some questions, but I have to leave shortly, so if I can go first.


Mr. Carmichael, I just have four questions here.  The first one is, in your presentation, you mentioned that the utilities would not be able to attract capital on reasonable terms and conditions.  Can you define what those reasonable terms and conditions could be?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think, and Board Staff made this point themselves.


MR. FOGWILL:  Right.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Utilities should be able to finance on a long‑term basis.


MR. FOGWILL:  Okay.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And so, I mean, if they are not able to access the 30‑year bond market, I think that's a major issue and a major problem.


MR. FOGWILL:  And just in a follow‑on to that, do you have any examples of a utility that has not been able to obtain capital on terms that have not been accepted by the regulator?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  On terms that have not been ...


MR. FOGWILL:  Accepted by the regulator.  The point here is:  Is there a risk -- even if someone were to view those terms and conditions as being unreasonable, is there a risk they face when bringing those terms and conditions to the regulator that it would be denied?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, the regulator is denying what?


MR. FOGWILL:  Pass‑through of those terms and conditions into rates, the recovery of costs in rates.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, I'm not aware of something like that.


MR. FOGWILL:  Okay, thanks.  My next question deals with -- you had mentioned that CAPM is a black box.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. FOGWILL:  And I just wanted to get a better understanding of why you think that method is less transparent than the current method used by the Board.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I go back to my description of the current method used by the Board, and that is a hearing process or a review process that considers comparable earnings, DCF, capital asset pricing, all of those factors.


MR. FOGWILL:  So is your point here about the methodology or the process?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  It's really a combination of both, and it is -- it is a matter of process, but it's also a matter of methodology.  Like, I truly believe that the Board plays a crucial role in reconciling the differences in terms of evidence that's presented, and they have to wade through a tremendous amount of evidence to come to a conclusion.


But I think that going through that process is very important, particularly when it's going to impact on 90 different utilities.


MR. FOGWILL:  But -- and I'm not an expert on any of this, but if you look at the assumptions and parameters that go into the different methods, CAPM, DCF, and comparable earnings --


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Mm‑hm.


MR. FOGWILL:  -- is there not a greater degree of assumptions and analysts' input into the outcome of DCF and comparable earnings, and, therefore, those methods would be less transparent?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, I don't feel that.  I mean, my view is that all of these processes are very -- well, they are dependent upon a number of different judgments that have to be made as to, you know, comparable companies, whether a 15‑year bond is appropriate or maybe it should be a 30. 


You know, there are a series of issues here ‑‑ and that's just with regard to CAPM.  There are similar issues with comparable earnings.  There are similar issues with DCF.  But people -- people at least in the investment business -- and maybe that's the best I can fall back on here.  People in the investment business are always going through all of the information that they possibly can before they form a decision.


MR. FOGWILL:  Thank you.  My next question goes to those comparative companies that you'd talked about.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Mm‑hm.


MR. FOGWILL:  And you mentioned, or you stated in your presentation, that the comparative companies that we've included in the Board Staff proposal results in a significant under estimation of beta.


Could you give me your estimate of what the range of the beta could likely be?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, my statement there really is based on the inclusion of Coast Mountain Power --


MR. FOGWILL:  Oh, okay.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  -- in your sample.  And Coast Mountain power was included in both sets of sample lists, and I just -- Coast Mountain Power is a development company.  It doesn't have any operating assets, at this point.  It is, to be kind, a speculative play on a power development in British Columbia.


It has not reported any revenue, at least until March of 2006.


MR. FOGWILL:  Well, I'm confused, then, because if you took that out of the proxy group, one assume they're a higher risk and, therefore, if you took them out, the beta would be lower?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, it should be the other way around.  If you're a higher risk, you're supposed to have a very high beta.  In fact ‑‑


MR. FOGWILL:  Right, if you have a higher risk, you have a higher beta.  So if you took them out of the proxy group, the proxy group beta would go down.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes, but in this particular instance, Coast Mountain Power has a negative beta.


MR. FOGWILL:  Okay.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Which, as I say, results in an underestimation of the average beta.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Just in terms of the comparative companies, aside from the Coast Mountain Power, is there any suggestions about how else we would want to change the proxy group?  Adding or subtracting?  

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I'm just going to the list of the list -- the other point that I'd make about Coast Mountain Power is that it's traded on the TSE venture exchange, which I just –- I don't think I've ever seen a comparable company from the TSE venture exchange.

     In the rate-regulated group, I think there's a certain amount of repetition, because you've included both ATCO and Canadian Utilities.  I know that ATCO is in the utilities index, but that's because it owns and controls Canadian Utilities, so to a degree you're double-counting the same utility assets.

      Both Manitoba Telecom and Telus, under the category of being rate-regulated, I mean, they're telephone companies, obviously, but to say that the telephone companies are actually regulated at this point is something of a stretch.

     MR. FOGWILL:  We get those debates, too.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Pardon me?

     MR. FOGWILL:  We get those debates, too.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  Exactly.  Then, you know,

Canadian Hydro developers, that's a hydro play.  That's a generating play.  And I think there is there is some -- in going for comparable companies, I think the companies should have wires in them.

Fortis, I obviously know very well.  The point I would make about Fortis is that Fortis is essentially a holding company, has operations in seven, and they just bought another one, eight different jurisdictions.

     So they have been able to effect a great deal of regulatory diversity which, again, you kind of question the comparableness of that set of circumstances to an LDC based strictly in Ontario.

     And I also made a similar point with regard to

Enbridge, which has obviously got the gas company, the oil pipeline, oil pipelines in the U.S., oil pipelines in Peru and Bolivia or whatever.  So they've been able to effect a tremendous amount of diversity.

I wish I could kind of step forward and say now here's my list, but I wasn't retained to do that.  And I do sympathize with the issue here in terms of finding comparable companies.  And I think, looking at the comments of just about all of the experts, they've all, in one way or another focussed on the kind of controversy that can surround these companies.

     So I wish I could offer you a solution but, you know, that might, and hopefully would, come out in a more fulsome type of generic hearing.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Well, what about the idea that the Lazar and Prisman paper put forward, which is a panel of experts?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, and then that really becomes -- that kind of moves us back to the black box, I think.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

     I just have one last question.  You mentioned Ms. Taylor's analysis in your presentation.  And in there you state that -- I think you're quoting her:

"Likely to violate the fair return standard."

I don't know what the fair return standard is.  Do you know what the fair return standard is?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think in her interpretation of it, it is a fair return for the company as well as a fair return for the consumer.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Okay, so this is not some sort of principle that has been outlined anywhere?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  No, I think that this is -- you know, an obligation of the regulatory process is to provide a return that's fair to both the consumer and the company.

     MR. FOGWILL:  And in that sort of situation would you think that she's in a better position to determine what that fair return standard, or is the Board?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think the Board is.  However,

I mean, she obviously came to that conclusion by – her conclusion about the rate of return that was being -- as the rate of return in her view not being fair to the company.

     MR. FOGWILL:  Thank you.  I think Mr. Houldin has some questions.

     MR. HOULDIN:  Yes, I have a follow-up to one of Allan's questions, which was on the comparable companies.  And, like Allan, I thank you for helping us out with that.

     One issue that came up as we looked at that, and again, I think someone with your experience might be able to help us with this, is -- oh, you hit the issue of, then, well, do we go to look at, say, the American exchanges, for information?  And one of the issues that we've hit over a look at that is there appears to be a fairly systematic difference in risk premium between American stock exchanges and the TSX.  So I'm really taking advantage of having an expert here.  

Do you have, A, any larger comments on the question of looking at U.S. companies, and B, are we right, is this something that the investment community acknowledges or we just looked at the data wrongly, that this appears to be a slightly higher general market risk premium?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I think a major issue that the Board is going to have to address over the next few years is the fact that many investment restrictions for Canadians, both in your RRSP and in your pension fund, have recently been removed.  And now your RRSP can be a hundred percent invested in U.S. utilities if you like.  And major institutional investors in Canada can now invest substantial amounts in U.S. equities, U.S. utilities, for example.

     And I think Mr. Sardana mentioned this.  And it applies both to debt and equity.  Markets are becoming global, and competition for funds is becoming global.  And

U.S. investment opportunities have to be considered.  They have to be understood for an appropriate ROE to be established, or else what we'll find, given the mobility of capital, is capital will be flowing to U.S. utilities, be they transmission or distribution. And that will raise the cost for utilities in Canada.

     MR. HOULDIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  So I guess what I'm saying is that you really have to consider what is available in foreign markets, what is available in the U.S., in terms of rates of return.

     And this has been -- I mean, this has been a fairly -- this has been a point of focus from the bond rating agencies as well.  It was probably five years ago that Walter Schroeder at DBRS decided that he wanted to go down to the U.S. and start raiding U.S. debt obligations.  To do that he started in the utility area and he had to get up the curve in terms of where rates of return were in the U.S.

And about two years after he started doing that, he started talking about U.S. rates of return and ROEs versus

Canadian.  And similarly, S&P and Moody’s come from that market, and they're aware of what coverage levels, what equity levels, are in the U.S. compared to Canada.  


And, you know, the utilities -- the LDCs and other utilities in Canada have to sell these credit rating agencies that they've got, you know, even though they are ten -- maybe ten percentage points below the equity level in the U.S., that the regulatory compact is strong enough in Canada to support that.


It's a tough sell, sometimes.  


MR. HOULDIN:  Okay, thank you.  The second question goes back to a statement that's in your written submission.  It's actually on page 10, but I'll say: 

"Board Staff has failed to make a credible argument as to why this time‑tested system ..." 


And to provide proper context, you've referred prior to that sentence to what you just described, the use of the three tests.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. HOULDIN:  

"... which has been consistently used by the

OEB and virtually all other boards in Canada should be abandoned for only the LDCs." 


And my question is:  Could you help us out?  Could you make a credible argument, or do you think there isn't a credible argument?  I mean, have we just failed or we didn't make the right argument, or you just don't think there's one out there to be had?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, I guess where we start is the basic strengths and weaknesses of the capital asset pricing model and, you know, kind of, are those weaknesses in particular insurmountable?


MR. HOULDIN:  Right.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And I guess, you know, I've been in the finance business for 30 years, and when I went to business school, I was taught the capital asset pricing model.  And do I think right now, after 30 years, that the capital asset pricing model has penetrated the financial market to the point where it is really the only way to go?  No, I don't believe that at all.


It is an issue that -- you know, these are mathematical models that are supposed to portray reality.  To do that, there are a whole series of assumptions that have to be made to get there.  And we may have gained knowledge in some areas, but we may have, you know, lost specifics or the mechanics in others.


As an example, the point about the Toronto Stock Exchange and the Stock Exchange Index becoming a non‑diversified portfolio is one that has been growing over time and is now kind of -- you lose Inco and Falconbridge, and all of a sudden it becomes more of an issue.


So the factors continue to change, and the best way of dealing with the changing circumstances is a broad review of factors that could lead to an appropriate ROE decision, and then having done that, I mean, I want it to be understood that once that base rate is established, then I don't have any kind of problem with an annual adjustment mechanism and so on.  


It's just building the base at the outset and making sure that we're starting off with an appropriate ROE that's taken into account all of the relevant information.


MR. HOULDIN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Thank you.


MR. HOULDIN:  That's most helpful.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. HARE:  I have just one quick question.  It's Marika Hare.  You've concluded that the ROE that was in Staff's paper is too low.  What do you think the appropriate range should be?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I really haven't kind of put a pin in.  I would say if -- I would look at something, you know, 9-1/4 to, say, 10 would be, I would think, a reasonable -- a reasonable range.  And, as I say, I haven't really done a whole lot of work on that, but I guess what I'm doing is I'm looking at kind of the changes in the capital markets since the original 9.88 and the change in the utilities' risk profile, as well.  


And obviously the change in capital markets has been a positive for it, and, as I've tried to express in some of my written material, the risk profile I think is more significant at this point than it was ‑‑ than the risks that were contemplated in 1999.


FURTHER QUESTIONING BY THE BOARD:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Carmichael, when you say that, Mr. Rodger outlined some events over the last five or six years which had major implications for this sector  


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Mm‑hm.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Including the 9.88 percent being slashed into thirds.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, what effect did that event have on the specific terms and conditions related to the placing of long‑term debt in the utilities?  What happened?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, there was a long hiatus when no debt, at least from the LDCs, was issued.  The shareholder loans were essentially left in place, and the LDCs were not a major factor in the marketplace.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You weren't placing any money in that period?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  That's right.  I believe Enersource was the first deal that was done, and it was done in the wake of the Hydro One $1 billion initial public offering.  And there was a tremendous demand for that issue, but it was done under the -- it was done under the view that the 9.88 was achievable and the regulatory environment was stable, and it was well received in the market.


Toronto Hydro, I think, was the next issuer at about 2003.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  And the Toronto Hydro issue was complicated by the SARS outbreak in Toronto and Ontario, and the spread, I think, on that deal was generous, given the circumstances of both the ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Generous to whom?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Generous to the lenders.  So it was 111 over Government of Canadas at the time of the offering.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When the rate freeze happened, do you have any insights as to what happened to the placement of money at that point?  I'm trying to put into context your idea of increased risk.  When I look at those events, I say those are pretty risky events.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's sort of shaking the foundation of the building.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And when you suggest that we're in a high‑risk environment now, or a higher‑risk environment now, it makes me nervous.  I'm starting to -- wait, who's coming through the door.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Let me try to clarify that.


In 1999, when the original 9.88 return on equity was put in place, I don't believe that the Board or people involved in the process thought that within two years' time the government was going to step in and restrict utilities' ability to earn.


So that was a risk and ‑‑ my belief is that was a risk that wasn't fully contemplated when that 9.88 was established.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What you're saying is we didn't -- we didn't ‑‑ we weren't aware enough that the risk existed.


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Nobody thought that was a realistic possibility.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And now we do?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  And now, in particular, lenders and investors know it is a possibility.  And that's how they've adjusted their view.

      Now, just trying to go back and answer your -- I think the bottom line of your question.

     Following the freezing of rates, the bond-rating agencies all reacted to that, and I believe that Hydro One, which had at that point, you know, a sizeable amount of bonds outstanding, because the first deal that was done was a billion dollars, and I would say probably by that time they were close to 1.6 or 1.7 billion of public market bonds.  So this was a major issue.

     S&P moved the rating for Hydro One from DD low down to A.  Or, sorry ...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, the other way.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  AA low -- yes, I'm sorry -- AA low to A mid, which goes back to the potential loss of two credit notches.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It can affect various terms and conditions?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Yes.  That's right.  And it can affect, basically, the demand for the bonds.  That is, you know, people look at an AA bond and then they say, Well, I don't have the same book for an A bond.

     So, now, all that can be adjusted, or the market demand can be adjusted to a degree with pricing, and by widening out the spread and so on.  But that move had a significant impact on Hydro One directly, and S&P, I think, from that point, essentially put the entire utility industry across the country on credit watch.  Again, Mr. Shepherd had asked me about credit watch, which is, we've got to go out and talk with the various regulators, talk with the companies, and find out or review our assessment of the regulatory risk that's inherent in each of the different Canadian jurisdictions.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Carmichael, outside of the three financings you've just mentioned, are there any others that the Board should be looking at --

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  Well, Hydro Ottawa has recently completed a financing.  The interesting thing about that, it was a debt financing for, I believe it was $145 million, 

$150 million, but part of that transaction was, the City of Ottawa exchanged a portion of the note that it held for additional equity to increase the equity ratio of Ottawa Hydro.  Horizon, or Hamilton, Hamilton has completed a transaction ...

     MR. SARDANA:  I should add that both of those issues were private placements, so they're not out in the public domain, so there could be issues in terms of disclosure, et cetera.

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  The only other kind of public marketing of utility bonds took place in a company called Ed Fin, which was a company that was formed, and it basically held the bonds of four or five different utilities and then issued an Ed Fin debenture backed by these utility bonds.

     And that deal got done, but it was kind of very much a push to get it done, I think.  And there were issues in terms of the actual security that was being provided.  

     But, so at this point, given the size of the distribution industry in Ontario, there has not been what I would characterize as the amount of financing that the markets actually expected there would be.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's probably one of the effects of municipal ownership.

     MR. KAISER:  When you say that there was not the amount of financing that you would have expected or the industry would have expected, would you attribute that to the difficulty of raising capital on acceptable terms, or something else?

     MR. CARMICHAEL:  I would attribute it to something else.  I think that once the various municipalities started receiving an interest rate on the notes that they had passed to the utility, that they found that kind of predictable cash flow to be quite attractive. 

And I must say, I mean, I've talked with a number of different municipalities as to -- this was in my other life when I was an investment banker -- why, you know, why do you want to hold on to these wretched bonds?  Don't you want to sell them into the marketplace?  And we're just the guys to help you.

     But the reality is that the municipalities obviously valued the cash flow, and I guess the other interesting discovery I made was that the administration of a number of the municipalities, or the Chief Financial Officer or what have you, wasn't all that enthusiastic to receive 150 million from monetizing his loan because it could go into new arenas or -- I mean, it was just money that was there, and people were likely to find reasons to spend it.

     And so there was certainly a reticence by some of the financial people who are generally the people that I talk to in terms of monetizing this asset that they had on their balance sheet.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Sardana could probably tell you something about that.

     Thank you, gentlemen.  

Is Dr. Booth available?

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, how late did you wish to sit today?

     MR. KAISER:  I see 4:45 on the schedule, if that's convenient.

     MR. MILLAR:  We'll certainly get through Dr. Booth's presentation.  I guess we'll see if we get to questions and answers or not.


PRESENTATION BY DR. BOOTH:

     DR. BOOTH:  Questions certainly, but I'll try.  My name is Laurence Booth.  I'm at the University of Toronto. 

I was not asked to put together slides for presentation, but what I'm going to do is talk to the Board Staff's guideline for presentation, and then I'll go through parts of my written testimony.

      So, first of all, in terms of the bullet points that

Board Staff put together, in terms of my overall recommendation, I would recommend not having a panel of experts.  Instead, I would recommend that they use the OEB's adjustment mechanism, exactly the same for the gas LDCs.  I see no point whatsoever in having two different methods for determining the return on equity within the same jurisdiction.  And I think fairness would indicate some comparability across all jurisdictions in Canada.

     So I would recommend the continuation of the -- or the use of the OEB adjustment mechanism for the electricity DISCOs as well as the gas LDCs.  I've recommended consistently for about the last five years that gas LDCs and electricity DISCOs should have 35 percent common equity.  I'm happy with the 36 percent that the Board Staff seemed to recommend.  I see no point whatsoever in a

4 percent preferred share component.  Preferred shares are used to bridge the gap between debt and equity for privately owned corporations in order to increase access to the debt markets.  As was indicated by Mr. Carmichael, subordinated debt is currently cheaper, or usually cheaper, so I see no point whatsoever in a 4 percent preferred share component.

     In terms of the debt issues, for reasons I will come to, I see no point in using a generic bond rating to calculate a yield.  My personal recommendation would be to charge intra-affiliate debt using the Enbridge yield to maturity, plus the 20 basis points premium, given the liquidity of the Enbridge bond bonds.


So that's my overall recommendations.


Now, in terms of whether or not that's financible and how the capital markets have reacted to that, I would point people to page 29, the last section of my testimony, where I discuss the bond ratings of the major utilities in Canada, and also point out the transactions we've seen in utility assets in Canada over the last five years.


Despite Mr. Carmichael's comments, when you buy shares in public utilities, all you do is you buy a stream of cash flows or a stream of earnings.  Those stream of earnings come from the book value of the equity and the allowed rate of return on that equity.


There are no strategic benefits for investing in public utilities.  All that you're going to get is a future stream of allowed rates of return on future investments of book value of equity.


The only reason you see market-to-book ratio significantly in excess of one is because the financial parameters are too generous, either because the allowed rates of return are too high or because purchases can double average the assets, because the assets themselves are under leveraged. 


This is basic finance, and when we look at the acquisitions of regulated assets in Canada, TCPL purchased 50 percent of Foothills at a 50 percent premium, and that was based on the ‑‑ sorry, market-to-book of 1.6, and that was because there were no other possible bidders for it because they already earned 50 percent.


Aquila purchased the whole assets, the whole rate base, at about a 50 percent premium.  Given the fact that the debt is assumed at par, that means that the premium based upon the equity was closer to 2, rather than 1.5.


Fortis subsequently purchased those same assets at similar premiums.  Altalink purchased the TransAlta transmission assets at similar premiums.  Hydro Quebec sold off the gas distribution assets at similar premiums, and the knockout blow was just last year, where Kinder Morgan paid 2.7 times the book value of the equity for Terasen Gas.


There is absolutely no question whatsoever that the financial parameters allowed public utilities in Canada are generous.  You just simply do not see people paying twice the book value of the assets unless those financial parameters are more than fair and reasonable.


So in terms of the overall parameters, if I've been asked to put in testimony on what is fair for the electric DISCOs in the Province of Ontario, I undoubtedly would have recommended both a lower rate of return and a lower common equity than Board Staff. 


In terms of broader fairness and what's consistent with other regulated utilities in Canada, I think a 36 percent common equity ratio and the OEB adjustment mechanism is fair.


The second issue addressed by Board Staff in the guide for presentations, in terms of different capital structures across different electric DISCOs, I think this is very bad public policy.


The whole point of regulation is to basically get the scale economies of financial monopoly while get the competitive advantages of private sector pricing.


Unfortunately, this means that we'd end up almost certainly with fewer electric DISCOs in the province than we currently have.  Regulation protects these firms from otherwise being acquired and from otherwise going into scale economies and efficiency that we would get in the private sector from a competitive industry.


I think it's very bad public policy, then, to give them higher rates of return or more equity simply because they're small and they're not otherwise efficient.  So I think that's bad public policy.  


Whether or not they're risky is extremely difficult to work out.  We do see that small firms in the capital market attract higher rates of return, but those are not, by and large, public utilities.  They're small firms where there's huge information asymmetries, where the investors simply don't know what's going on, because they're not followed by security analysts, and we simply don't know enough about these firms.


Even then, over the last 20 years, the so‑called "small firm effect" has largely disappeared, because we've got mutual funds investing in those sorts of firms.  It's also questionable whether, in fact, it's got anything to do with risk.  Most people would also a significant component of that:  Is liquidity a track to investing, in relatively small positions where it's very difficult to trade out of them if you want to trade out of them?


So I think in terms of small electric DISCOs, I have yet to see any justification in terms of risk.  These firms are riskier.  What I do say is it is bad public policy, in my opinion, to give them more generous financial parameters than assets to already trading at twice book value.


In terms of methodology and giving a high rate of return for new infrastructure, I think this is extremely bad public policy, as well.  Sometimes I hear things in hearing rooms, which make me want to pull my hair out, which I don't want to do because I don't have enough hair as it is.  


In this case, saying that there is any problems whatsoever in financing electric DISCOs in Canada is absolutely “Silly”, and I'd ask the court reporter to capitalize "Silly".


What we've seen in Canada over the last 10 to 15 years is a tremendous change in the structure of the capital markets.  We've seen the Government of Canada basically come out of the bond market.  There's very little new government financing in the bond market.  We've seen a reduction in pressures in the bond market that this has generated.  


It's caused so many problems for the Bank of Canada in managing the public issue that they're basically buying up off-the-run bond issues and issuing them on the run in order to keep liquidity in the government bond market.  


The retreat of the Government of Canada in all sectors of Canada from the bond market has meant that the major demander of funds has disappeared, and for the last five years the financial system has been flush with cash.  


Basically, anything could be financed in Canada now, and has been for the last five years.


In terms of what's going on, you can see that also in the private sector.  The Investment Dealers' Association tracks the debt/equity ratios of Canadian corporations.  They peaked about seven or eight years ago, and they're now at the lowest they've been for at least 20 years.


We'd see that in the real return bond where the yield on the real return bond is now 1.6 percent.  As recently as three, four years ago, it was 4-1/2 percent.  So when I say it's silly to talk about problems in financing infrastructure, it's because there's a huge surplus of cash in the financial system.  


So I have no problem whatsoever that anything, the Ontario DISCO sector throughout the capital markets, can be financed.


So, as a result, I don't think there's any reason whatsoever to offer a premium on an ROE that currently means they're so attractive that they're selling for twice book value.


Also, Kathi McShane and I are both witnesses in the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline hearing, so when I hear Toronto Hydro saying that they've got $1 billion coming up over ten years, the McKenzie Valley Pipeline is currently around $6- or $7 billion, if not more, and that's a major new greenfield pipeline, and nobody's talking about any problems whatsoever in financing that.


What are the implications for replying upon long‑term debt finance?  No implications whatsoever.  The Alberta Board looked at the question of ENMAX's ownership, the municipal ownership of utilities, and decided this was not something that should affect their financial parameters.  


You basically determine what is fair and reasonable for a utility.  The ownership of that utility should not matter.  Again, it is simply bad public policy to say that because a utility is owned by a weak parent, it gets more equity or a higher common equity ratio, exactly the same way it would be bad public policy to say that if a utility's owned by a very good parent, then it gets a lower ROE or even less equity.  


Assets should be financed on the basis of what's fair and reasonable, independent of their ownership, and that includes municipal ownership.


Should the Board rely upon different ways of measuring the ROE?  As far as I'm concerned, what we've seen with the adjustment mechanisms is that it generates returns that make those assets attractive.  While I do not agree with the mechanical adjustment, the fact is the adjustment mechanisms have worked in Canada over the last 12 years.  


We have real serious problems coming up with any methods for estimating the cost of equity capital, whether it's DCF, whether it's risk premium, but what we do know is the adjustment mechanism has basically worked in the right direction and have generated results that have been looked at at several hearings.


So I would just go with the Ontario Energy Board's adjustment mechanism.


Are there any problems in the financial system in terms of liquidity?  None whatsoever.  As I said, the financial system is flush with cash and can finance almost anything.


For the same reason, I see no problems with the remaining three issues raised by Board Staff.


Now, in terms of my testimony, what people seem to forget is why utilities are regulated.  Utilities are regulated because they're predominantly producing with fixed costs, and as a result they are huge-scale economies. 

They're natural monopolies, which means that left unregulated they charge prices which are socially inefficient, which is why they should be regulated.

      As I mentioned before, if these were not municipally owned, if they're open in the capital market, I have no doubt whatsoever we would see a lot of M&A activity, and they’d be bought up in order to get bigger scale economies in order to get lower rates, which is why I think it's bad public policy, then, to reward them for being small, when, in fact, they wouldn't be small if it was a competitive market in the first place.  


It's basically just protecting inefficient producers.

     In terms of the legal standard, we've heard discussion of different methods of estimating the required rate of return.  I would remind everybody of the legal standard in

Canada.  Mr. Justice Lamont: 

“By fair return is meant the company will be meant as large a return as the capital

invested in its enterprise as it would receive if it were investing the same amount in other securities possessing an attractive stability and certainty to that of the company's enterprise."

Other securities.  The very basis of economics at opportunity costs.  The resources should be taken one place and invested somewhere else if, in fact, it's more efficient to do that.

     This rules out comparable earnings testimony.  Comparable earnings testimony, I've never seen it in any finance textbook.  I've never seen it given any legitimacy whatsoever, for the simple reason it is not an opportunity cost.  You cannot take resources out of one company at book value and turn around and invest it in another company at book value.  All you can do is sell the book value of one company for market value and turn around and invest that value in another company.

     And the fact that we're seeing regulated book equity selling for twice book value by itself indicates that the accounting rates of return are not an opportunity cost.

     So I, as well as all of my colleagues, and I've yet to see any academic present comparable earnings testimony without an adjustment to try and make it equal to market values.  And I believe in the past this Board has heard testimony from Bill Cannon, and from what I remember about Bill's testimony is, he always made a market book adjustment to try to convert it to a market-based opportunity cost, because that's the only thing that's valid in terms of regulation.

     What is legitimate in terms of rates of return is discounted cash flow, where you're attempting to mimic the behaviour of an investor to try and work out what discount rate the investor is using to discount those cash flows to make a market price, or a risk-based model, where you're looking at a risk premium, and the capital asset price of the model is by far and away the premium model for us to make the rates of return.


So DCF and CAPM are the only legitimate ways of estimating investor rates of return and estimating the opportunity cost, which is the legal standard in Canada.

     In terms of risk, how do we assess risk?  We look at business risk from the point of view of the underlying operations of the firm.  How the firm is then financed, because financial leverage magnifies this underlying business risk.  In my opinion, there is almost no business in financial risk of any utility in Canada.  What's left and what is a significant risk is investment risk, which is how those securities are traded in the capital market.

     The long Canada bond has no business risk, it has no financial risk, but it has significant investment risk, and in fact, as recently as ten years ago utility shares were as risky as the long Canada bond because of all the problems we had in the public sector with deficit financing and the fear of inflation devaluing the value of those long Canada bonds.  


So I look upon utility shares very similar to long Canada bonds.  A major change over the last ten years has been the reduction in the risk in the long Canada bond because the government has got its finances in order and reduced the problems in the deficit and retreated from the bond market.

     The other risks are regulatory risks.  By and large, regulation reduces risk.  Whenever, if something crops up in a regulated utility, what happens is the regulated utility comes to the regulator and says, I've got a problem.  Somebody else pays for it.  And you have a hearing and you sort out what's going on.  You have flexible regulation.

     So, when I look at regulation in Canada, I look at the practice of the National Energy Board, of looking at business risk and offsetting that with financial risk and allocating the same ROE.  This Board has basically given slight premiums to the ROE for Union Gas over Consumers Gas.

     The B.C. Utilities Commission does a mixture of both capital structure and risk premiums.  But in all cases, there is an attempt to try and reduce the business risk of the utility by allowing deferral accounts.  And I'm a big believer in deferral accounts because basically the ratepayers can share the burden of any unforeseen impact better than the shareholders.

     And if you remove the risk through deferral accounts, it then allows the utility to use more efficient tax-deductible interest and finance with debt.  Debt is undoubtedly cheaper than equity because of the way in which we structure the financial system, where interest is tax-deductible, as dividends are not.

     And the most obviously sign of that is the extensive techniques corporations use to try and create equity that's tax-deductible.  And, in fact, the vast bulk of corporation financing innovations are designed around trying to get tax deductions.

     In terms of the actual risk -- oh, I should mention there is there that the situation in Canada is significantly different than the situation in the United States.  I've repeatedly seen over the last ten years expert witnesses bringing U.S. evidence into Canada.  The U.S. is not Canada.  The financial system is different.  The monetary conditions are different.  The regulation of utilities are different.

     Frequently, in formal hearings I will ask Ms. McShane to tell me when was the last time her U.S. companies had a rate hearing.  And frequently they're five, ten years ago. 

The U.S. operates many of their utilities on a complaint basis and they just do not have many hearings.

     Flexible regulation and rate hearings reduce the risk of public utilities.  U.S. utilities are undoubtedly riskier than their Canadian equivalents.

     In terms of Canada, if we look at my two appendices, the most basic element of risk, if you look in a dictionary, is you suffer harm.  As far as I can see, it's incredibly difficult to find any Canadian utility that's suffered harm.  And by that I mean has earned a rate of return less than that allowed by the regulator.

     And the first schedule, I've got the utilities or the pipelines, basically, that are not part of the TransCanada system.  I draw your attention to Foothills.  The allowed return is absolutely identical to the actual return.  There is actually no risk whatsoever in terms of Foothills' operations.  It's a full cost-of-service pipeline.  All of these costs are passed on to the ratepayers.  If there's any risk attached to Foothills' operations, they're borne by the ratepayers or the shippers; they're not borne by the share purchasers.

     Similarly, Alberta Natural Gas, which is now the B.C. system attached to TransCanada, is also regulated on a full cost-of-service basis.  The only time it's suffered deviations in its return is as a result of a change of ownership by TransCanada Canada, and these M&A costs were basically agreed to be absorbed by the parent rather than passed on to the shippers as a condition for their purchase.

     TransCanada Canada itself, the main line, in TQ&M or forward rate-based pipelines where basically you forecast the future costs and then determine the tolls and pass them on to shippers, does this increase the risk?  No.  Because what seems to happen is TransCanada consistently seems to underestimate its O&M expense and picks up 15 to 20 basis rates over the allowed rate of return.  So there is some variation in its actual rate of return, but it's beneficial to TransCanada, it's not negative.

     Does this apply to other utilities in Canada?  If we look at the two gas LDCs operated by this Board, and we look at Terasen Gas, we have some data on weather-normalized actual versus allowed rates of return.  Both Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union consistently earn well over their allowed rate of return on a weather-normalized basis.  Terasen, in contrast to the Ontario LDCs, has a full weather cost reconciliation deferral account.  Surprise, surprise, it doesn't over-earn to the extent of Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution, but it still over-earns because it can underestimate its O&M expenses.


So the record of those utilities, Terasen, Union, EGDI, and these are the ones where we've been able to get the actual rates of return versus those allowed in the system, indicates that there's no risk whatsoever in their operations.  If they wanted to, they could finance with a lot more than the regulatory capital structures.

     What proxies do we have for the Ontario DISCOs? 

Ms. McShane and I were involved in Fortis B.C.'s hearing, I guess, 18 months ago.  Page 12 of my testimony has the actual versus allowed ROE for Fortis B.C.

     Up until 1996, it's allowed and actual ROE were very, very similar.  Then it went on a performance-based regulation.

     Now, sometimes it is said that increases risk.  Absolutely not true.  What happens is that they get the ability to earn high rates of return by sharing those benefits with stockholders, and we can see since Fortis B.C. went on performance-based regulation, it consistently over earned its allowed rate of return.  


The only year when that was not the case was when ownership was transferred and they voluntarily agreed to absorb costs as part of the condition to transferring ownership.  Nothing to do with their actual operations.


So we have evidence from actual electricity, gas, pipeline operations that indicate that there's almost no risk attached to operating these utilities in Canada.  Almost all of the risk is attached to investment risk.


The last time there was a major hearing in Canada was the Alberta generic hearing in 2003.  Why it was a watershed is because they looked at a whole series of different utilities, and what tends to happen is people get myopic.  They focus on the particular risks attached to, say, DISCOs or gas LDCs or pipelines.


The Alberta hearing looked at all of these and looked at them on a consistent basis to put them on consistent equity ratios and an allowed rate of return.


In that hearing, I indicated that the short‑term risks and long‑term risks -- the short‑term risks were primarily attached to O&M expenses on the expense side, because almost all of the other costs are fixed and, as a result, there's no prediction there.


On the revenue side, it depends upon credit risk attached to the people that are paying the bills, and that's relatively minimal, but transmission operations have the lowest credit risk, because they basically just bill to one person.


And then it's a question of rate design, how you recover the revenues to a fixed versus a variable or semi-variable charge to consumers and whether or not there's any commodity charge for the commodity that's being used.


In the longer run, there's bypass risk attached to connecting to a system and losing assets, and in the very long run there's capital recovery risks.  These are the basic risks we look at when we look at public utilities.


At that time, I felt the transmission or electricity transmission was overwhelmingly the lowest risk regulated utility operations in Canada, because almost all the costs are recovered through a single charge to the administrator that they then pass on to the distribution utilities.


There's limited -- almost no possibility of pipe; very limited capital recovery problems, because those assets will be used until physically they have to be replaced.  There's no possibility of obsolescence of the underlying commodity.  And what risks they have in terms of attaching transmission assets were covered in a deferral account in Alberta.  


So I recommended a 30 percent common equity ratio, which I felt was generous.  Previous transmission operations have been financed with as little as 20 percent equity without any trouble.


I then place the transmission operations of the gas pipelines as the second lowest in risk, primarily A&G or the former A&G, and Foothills, and I felt NGTL was slightly riskier, because there were some problems in the rate design at NGTL that allowed ATCO Pipelines to compete in certain areas and take load away from them, but that was primarily regulator issues in terms of rate design.


I then placed the DISCOs as the next lowest in risk, and I can see very little difference between the electricity DISCOs and the gas LDCs.


Basically it's a question of the width of the pipe or the sign of the lines ‑‑ or the size of the lines and a rate design issue, how you recover those costs through charges to customers.


If those distribution companies could cover all of their costs through a flat rate fee to consumers, they would be equivalent in risk to the transmission companies, and, as a result, I recommended 35 percent common equity.


At the high end, I recommended 42 percent for ATCO Pipelines, which I thought was in serious danger of being knocked out totally by NGTL if it didn't have regulator protection.  


What did the Alberta AEUB allow?  The actual allowed equity ratios are on page 23 of my testimony.  Transmission they said was worth a 33 percent common equity ratio, but they recognized that if the utility did not pay taxes, so there was no income tax charged, a slight increase, the possibility of variation in the earnings.  I didn't agree with that, but ‑‑ not completely agree with that, but they allowed 2 percent extra common equity ratio for, basically, institutions that did not have an income tax component.


So Altalink was allowed 35 percent; ATCO Transmission 35 percent.  NGTL Transmission was allowed 35 percent common equity.


On the distribution side, the Alberta Board felt that electric distribution was lower risk than gas distribution.  


I've seen nothing in this hearing, or no evidentiary basis whatsoever, for the popular belief that gas distribution is lower risk than electricity distribution.  I just don't see it.  I don't see any evidence whatsoever for that, and the Alberta Board decided exactly the opposite, zero to 2 percent lower common equity ratio for electricity distribution.


The fact is there's less competition for electricity than there is for natural gas, and the volatility of natural gas is way greater than the volatility of electricity prices.


So what the Alberta EUB decided was ATCO Electric, the DISCO side, got 37 percent, Fortis Alberta got 37 percent, and they gave 1 percent more for ATCO Gas.  And, again, the municipally-owned ENMAX DISCO and ATCO Distribution got an extra 2 percent.  They got 39 percent common equity.


AltaGas is a very, very small Alberta distribution company spread over a large range, and they allowed 41 percent for them, and then ATCO Pipelines they allowed 43 percent.


But, basically, the significance of this is that the Alberta Board heard a wide range of evidence from a large number of witnesses, including Ms. McShane and myself, for a large range of companies.  They had the full spectrum of utilities to analyze.  They placed the risk of electric distribution at 37 percent common equity.  I recommended 35 percent.  


As far as I'm concerned, the Board Staff's 36 percent is perfectly reasonable.  And, as I said, I would not allow a 4 percent preferred share component.


In terms of rate-of-return methodology, I've indicated that comparable earnings is not acceptable.  In terms of what is acceptable, this Board heard Union Gas testimony a couple of months ago.


Michael Gilbert, the witness for Union Gas, provided the evidence on rates of return on page 16.  The rates of return basically range from 7.15 to 8.24 percent for the cost of equity capital.  It's incredibly difficult to get estimates for the equity-required rate of return much above 9 percent.  


You have to torture the data to get the sort of estimates that is in some of the evidence before this Board when we're looking at 10 or 11 percent rates of return.


So this was a company witness.  To be fair to him, he then made leverage adjustments to increase those, but those same leverage adjustments were disallowed by the Alberta Board, and they said they would be derelict in their duty to accept those leverage adjustments.


At that time, and the last time I presented testimony, I recommended a 7.75 percent return on equity.  That's consistent with what goes on in the capital markets.  It's consistent with the sort of discount rates that investment bankers use when they price securities in acquisitions.


In terms of the two models, the two workhorses in finance are the discounted cash flow and the capital asset pricing model.  The discounted cash flow model has a dividend yield plus growth.  The big problem is not the dividend yield.  It's the growth.  And we've seen evidence here that the growth rate is determined by analysts' expectations.  


This keeps coming up, but all the evidence indicates that analysts' expectations are biased.  They're over optimistic.  Analysts are there to sell securities.  They're there to make recommendations to try and generate trades, and, as a result, they tend to be unduly optimistic.  It's not quite as bad as the settlement Elliott Spitzer extracted from the major U.S. investment.  Not only were they overly optimistic, but they were fraudulent.


But there was significant evidence that these estimates, that they are still optimistic.  In fact, Ms. McShane, before the Alberta Board, stated they were optimistic and was criticized by the Alberta Board for not subsequently making adjustments for these over-optimistic expectations.


There's also actually no evidence whatsoever that the long-run growth in earnings for any type of utility will match GDP.  If that were the case, you look at the growth rate of GDP.  That's basically the market portfolio for shares, and the dividend yield on the market portfolio is under 2 percent.  


So why on earth -- you would have a situation where the market portfolio gets a 2 percent dividend yield and a growth rate of GDP, and yet utilities get a much higher yield of 4 or 5 percent and also get the growth rate of GDP just is difficult to understand.  It just doesn't make any sense.


In terms of the capital asset pricing model, we've heard evidence or heard discussion today about problems in estimating the capital asset pricing model.  The capital asset pricing model can be derived in two ways, one by using utility theory and deriving it as a first order condition for a portfolio's optimization problem.  


The second one is much more general.  You just look at the rates of return that are generated in the capital market and assume a market factor, and then work out what happens, and that's what we call a single factor model.  It is overwhelmingly the most poplar model that we have in finance.  When I ask a student in my class a question, and they've been sleeping, which sometimes happens, I tell him the first answer in finance is always time value of money.

     If we look at the capital asset pricing model, the first part of it is the time value of money, the risk-free rate.  If they look totally puzzled, then I tell him the second answer in finance is always risk, the risk value of money.  And the capital asset pricing model gives us the risk value of money.  It tells us that we look at the market risk premium, and if we go back over long periods of time, which we have to do, because short periods of time, the equity return is just all over the place, if you go back over long periods of time, it is incredibly difficult to get a market risk premium outside of a range of 4 to 6 percent.  So if you look at 4 to 6 percent, and you add that to the long Canada bonds, you have a 4.3 percent, you've got a market return of 8 and a half to 10 percent.

     The only question then is how much lower risk utilities are than the market as a whole.  There's absolutely no question they're lower risk.  In my judgment, and I've been using betas of .4, .5, for a long period of time, you cannot rely upon recent estimates of betas.  They're just a statistical estimate of a relationship over a short period of time.  You have to go back over a long period of time, and you have to understand what's going on in the economy that generates those beta coefficients.

     If you take .5, multiply it by 4 to 6, you're adding 2 to 3 percent to the long Canada bond yield.  And you're at 6 and a half to 7 and a half percent. You add a flotation allowance.  It's incredibly difficult to get over 8 percent.  As I said, you have to torture the data to get above 8 percent for a public utility.

     So time value of money, risk value of money.  If my students are still totally confused, or rather if I'm still totally confused, then the third answer in finance is tax value of money.  And tax value of money is as valuable as the risk value of money and the time value of money.  Tax value of money in Canada means that we have a huge tax incentive to hold dividend yields in stock.  In fact, it's just been increased because the Government wanted to reduce the incentive to go to income trusts.

     The result is we have a huge market in inter-corporate preferred shares because inter-corporate dividends flow through tax-free.  Ordinary investors are encouraged to hold high–dividend stock because of the dividend tax credit, and we routinely see preferred shares in Canada selling on lower yields than Government of Canada bonds.

     Some of the evidence we've heard in -- or we will hear says this is illogical.  It is not illogical.  It is totally commonsensical.  If you've a tax incentive to hold preferred shares, you bid up the price and the yield goes down.  And the observed fact in Canada is that taxes have a huge impact on the valuation of utilities, is why utilities are predominantly held by Canadian investors, they're not held by international investors.  And it's why most of the flow of capital into utilities comes from within Canada.

     So, time value of money, risk value of money, tax value of money all indicate that the fair rate of return for public utilities is somewhere of the order of 7 or 8 percent.  As I said, it's incredibly difficult to get a rate of return outside that rate.

     I recommend that the Board use the adjustment mechanism, even though I think it's giving higher rates of return than are reason, because I think that's fair in the broader sense of being consistent with what’s going on across Canada.

And I just remind people of the January 16th, 2004, decision of this Board:

"Therefore, with respect to the first and primary issue of whether a new benchmark ROE should be established for EGDI and Union, we find that the current ROE guidelines methodology continues to produce appropriate prospective results.  We have not found any demonstrated need to set a new benchmark ROE."

I can see nothing that has happened over the last two and a half years that would cause this Board or anybody else to change that judgment.

     Now, finally, in terms of a couple of loose ends, get costs.  I can understand the concern with intra-affiliate transfers and what rates should be applied.  I don't believe that using a generic A or BBB bond rating makes any sense.

     Utilities are not like non-utilities.  Utilities have the power to go back to the regulator.  They have a semblance of security not evidenced in non-utilities. 
The last time we saw this was in the deep recession of the early ‘90s.  At that time, CBRS, that was taken over by SMP but it had a separate set of yields for utility A-rated bonds, and non-utility A-rated bonds.  Non-utility A-rated bonds, non-utility BBB bonds, non-utility A+ bonds all sold on significantly lower yields than -– sorry, the utility bonds all sold on significantly lower yields than the non-utility bonds.

     During serious times of financial crisis, investors will buy utility debt on lower yields than they will on non-utility debt.  So I would not recommend using a generic index.  I'd recommend basing everything on the benchmark index, which is Enbridge Gas Distribution, and I would recommend using a long-term bond yield for Enbridge Gas and adding 20 basis points to take into account the liquidity of the Enbridge Gas bond.

     In terms of what's happened recently, I noticed that the Toronto Hydro bonds were very similar to Enbridge bonds of the same maturity, and very similar to Epcor distribution bonds of the same maturity.  So I think that makes a lot more sense than using an index that could possibly give highly misleading yields.

     In terms of the debt, I honestly don't understand why there's all this problem on short-term debt.  If you're looking at Toronto Hydro, it's a big company.  It can aggregate small amounts of money and access the public bond markets.  Smaller utilities cannot.  Smaller utilities cannot keep to fixed percentages.

     Smaller utilities are going to have to access bank debt.  They're going to have to accumulate debt in short-term debt until they can issue longer-term debt.

     So I think it's a straitjacket to impose some sort of restriction of short-term debt for the large number of electric DISCOs in this province that are relatively small. 

Unfortunately for them, their only access to capital is short-term debt and bank debt.  So I don't think the recommendations of Board Staff in terms of short-term debt are practical in terms of a large number of the electric DISCOs in this province.

     Those are my comments.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  We'll come back at

9 o'clock in the morning.

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Kaiser, before we break for the day, I was going to follow up on one matter.  That was earlier in the day.  That was a request for some information that

Mr. Shepherd asked for.  My recollection was that there were three categories, a credit rating type analysis, dealer spreads on Toronto Hydro bonds, and I'll call it business cases for mergers and acquisitions and so on.

I had a chance to speak with the individual members of the CLD on the break, and they're not prepared to volunteer any of this information in this forum.

     They believe that it is an inappropriate request. 

These deal with proprietary or confidential information, and they're not publicly or readily available, and the companies believe it would be highly prejudicial to release it in this form, so we're going to refuse the request made by Mr. Shepherd.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

--- Whereupon the Technical Conference adjourned at 4:53 p.m.
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